

Response to CDC Draft Systematic Evidence Review for Management of ME/CFS

Prepared by:

Therese Russo, MPA
Art Mirin, PhD
Jaime Seltzer, MS, #MEAction Director of Scientific and Medical Outreach
Ben HsuBorger, #MEAction US Advocacy Director

With special assistance by:

Jenna Peeler Diana Orem, PhD

#MEAction public recommendation

We find the conclusions of the CDC's 2020 draft systematic evidence review on the treatment of ME/CFS to be fundamentally flawed, and we strongly urge that it not be published. The GET and CBT studies that undergird the systematic review do not apply to people with ME/CFS as defined by CDC. The review confuses the CDC's public communication about ME/CFS, and most importantly puts people with ME/CFS at risk of harm from inappropriate treatments.

Recommendation Co-signers

7,209 members of the myalgic encephalomyelitis (ME) community support #MEAction's criticism of this systematic review as fundamentally flawed; we collectively urge the CDC not to publish or proceed with finalizing it in any form. Our names are listed at the end of this response on page 44.

Table of Contents

#MEAction public recommendation Recommendation Co-signers	2 2
Table of Contents	3
Executive Summary	5
Introduction Background The systematic review's misleading conclusion How this review will harm patients GET and CBT are inappropriate ME/CFS treatments Scope of this public comment Note on terminology About #MEAction	6 6 6 7 8 8
Part I: Applicability of Findings Older case definitions are overly inclusive High clinical heterogeneity is not adequately addressed The review isn't appropriately restricted to reporting results directly applicable to the specific question	10 11 12 ecific 14
Part II: Risk of Bias Lack of blinding and delivery of intervention further biases self-reported improvement Primary outcomes are participant-reported outcomes, which calls for a 'high' risk of bias judgment Overall risk of bias judgment was inaccurately assessed as 'medium' when it should be 'high' Direction and magnitude of bias needs to be assessed and factored into meta-analysis conclusions Outcomes reporting bias should be incorporated into the risk of bias assessment, and factored into the strength of evidence assessment	16 16 19 19 20 20
Part III: Exclusion of Harms Evidence The systematic review covers only the inadequate reporting by included RCTs The coverage of harms is not aligned with best practice for systematic reviews of health interventions Other sources to consider for harms: exercise used as a provocation Exclusion of patient surveys Prioritizing identification of harms from patient and clinical expert stakeholders Harms not specified in the original protocol must still be included Other systematic reviews of ME/CFS interventions are more robust on harms	22 22 23 23 25 25 26 26

Part IV: Interpretations of Results	28
Reporting average effects is misleading, given high risk of bias, high heterogeneity, and strength of evidence	low 28
Trials with high risk of bias translate to meta-analyses with high risk of bias	28
Objective findings do not support small, temporary subjective improvements	29
Low-quality, non-standardized outcome measures should preclude meta-analyses	29
High clinical heterogeneity makes pooling unacceptable	30
The allegiance effect significantly increases effect sizes	31
High statistical heterogeneity suggests that average effects are meaningless	32
Subgroup analyses cannot solve the problem	34
Conclusions drawn from meta-analyses of both GET vs. inactive controls and CBT vs. inactive controls are misleading	35
References	37
Recommendation Co-signers	44

Executive Summary

We find the conclusions of the CDC 2020 draft systematic review on the treatment of myalgic encephalomyelitis / chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) to be fundamentally flawed, and we strongly urge that this review not be published. We focus on the review of Graded Exercise Therapy (GET) and Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) treatments, which have the potential to do the most harm to people with ME/CFS. Our critique covers four key topic areas:

Applicability of Findings. The GET and CBT studies that undergird the review do not apply to people with ME/CFS as defined by CDC, as they do not require post-exertional malaise (PEM), identified as one of the three core symptoms of ME/CFS by CDC. These studies' patient inclusion criteria employed older case definitions—primarily Oxford and Fukuda—that are overly inclusive and create significant patient population heterogeneity. These studies' findings are from populations that do not have a direct relationship to people with ME/CFS as defined by the CDC.

Risk of Bias. The significant risk of bias in this review calls the validity and reliability of its conclusions into question. Based on best available guidance in the field of systematic reviews, the included CBT and GET studies should be assigned a "high" risk of bias, primarily because neither patients nor clinicians were blinded to their intervention group, and the trials relied on subjective primary outcomes. These low quality study designs create risk of patient response bias and provider preference bias that overestimate purported treatment benefits. The reported subjective improvements in these studies are often not supported by objective findings.

Exclusion of Harms Evidence. This review failed to adequately address potential harms from GET and CBT "treatments" for people with ME/CFS. It covered only the inadequate reporting available in the included randomized controlled trials. The review excluded numerous observational studies that present physiological evidence of exercise intolerance in people with ME/CFS, as well as surveys involving thousands of patients that reported harms from GET and CBT. Rigid inclusion/exclusion criteria in this area is not aligned with AHRQ and AMSTAR II best practice. Other ME/CFS reviews were more robust in their investigations of adverse events.

Interpretations of Results. This review's meta-analyses were misleading due to high risk of bias, high heterogeneity, and low strength of evidence. Conclusions drawn from the average of small, subjective improvements—which often disappear by post-intervention follow-up and which are not supported by objective improvements—are not meaningful for ME/CFS patients' ultimate health and well-being. Subgroup analyses do not inform the authors' interpretations of results as they should, nor do they adequately address underlying concerns regarding the utility of reported "average effects."

Publication of this review will lead to confusion about the appropriate treatment for people diagnosed with ME/CFS as CDC defines it. Clinicians will prescribe GET and CBT, believing they are executing the best, evidence-based practice, unaware that they may be putting their already vulnerable patients at risk of harm. It is imperative that this fundamentally flawed review not be published.

Introduction

Background

This review, conducted by the Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center of Oregon Health & Science University, follows a 2014 review conducted by the same organization for the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Following criticism, AHRQ issued an addendum¹ in 2016 that reanalyzed the evidence and downgraded the original conclusions (NCBI, 2016). The current review suffers from a number of the same flaws as the original 2014 review.

The systematic review's misleading conclusion

The CDC systematic review (Chou, et al., 2020) of graded exercise therapy (GET) and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) for myalgic encephalomyelitis / chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) included no studies that require post-exertional malaise (PEM),² one of three "core symptoms" of ME/CFS, according to CDC (CDC-a). Yet the CDC systematic review concludes that these therapies will likely benefit a population they have not, in fact, examined.

Studies within this review also contain methodological flaws of serious concern, including high risks of bias, and a low strength of evidence. The review authors collapse these concerns into the cursory caveat that "methodological and other limitations (imprecision, inconsistency, uncertain generalizability) precluded strong conclusions" (Chou, et al., 2020, piii). This is insufficient, as the aforementioned flaws should preclude *any* conclusions about GET and CBT for people with ME/CFS.

Publishing this review will lead to further confusion about the appropriate treatment for people diagnosed with ME/CFS as CDC defines it. The review, if published, will put an already vulnerable group of patients at risk of harm.

How this review will harm patients

Healthcare providers, who view CDC as a trusted source for medical information, will assume that this systematic review provides useful conclusions on effective treatments that are applicable to their patients with ME/CFS. They will conclude that treatment options for ME/CFS

¹ The 2016 addendum contains the original 2014 report in its entirety.

² The GETSET trial used the NICE 2007 criteria, which requires either PEM or post-exertional fatigue (PEF), the main difference between the two being that PEF refers to the exacerbation of *fatigue* following exertion, whereas PEM refers to the exacerbation of *symptoms in general* following exertion. The guidelines also state that the exacerbation of symptoms following exertion is optional. NICE has just revised its draft guidelines to require PEM (which they refer to as post-exertional symptom exacerbation, or PESE), saying that the Fukuda criteria "may not accurately represent the ME/CFS population and that people experiencing PEM/PESE are likely to respond differently to treatment than those who do not experience PEM/PESE" (NICE, 2020, sect 3.2.1).

remain limited, that the only thing they can offer patients is CBT and GET, and that those treatments more effectively reduce symptoms than resting or pacing. They will prescribe these treatments, believing they are safe and that they are executing the best, evidence-based practice. While they may not be able to offer "strong conclusions" to their patients that CBT and GET treatments will help, they can at least assure themselves and their patients that trying such treatments won't harm them.

It would be perfectly reasonable for healthcare providers to make such assumptions, but unfortunately they would be incorrect, both about the efficacy of the recommended treatments and about their lack of harm. If published, this review will contribute to the misconception that GET and CBT are appropriate treatments for people with ME/CFS.

GET and CBT are inappropriate ME/CFS treatments

GET and CBT interventions are not appropriate treatments as they have been applied to people with ME/CFS. If a "core symptom" of ME/CFS is post-exertional malaise (PEM)³ --the worsening of symptoms following physical or cognitive exertion -- then it is an extraordinary claim that graded exercise and talk therapy would be effective treatments for patients. Therefore, the claim requires extraordinary evidence.

The rationale for CBT and GET as treatments for ME/CFS arises from a behavioral/ deconditioning or psychosocial "fear avoidance" model that claims the disease is perpetuated by patients' maladaptive beliefs about being ill. In this model, the patient's avoidance of activity results in deconditioning and a worsening of symptoms. But this runs directly counter to the Institute of Medicine 2015 report on ME/CFS, which stressed that the condition is "a medical—not a psychiatric or psychological—illness" (NCBI, 2015), something the CDC repeats on their website, stating, "ME/CFS is a biological illness not a psychologic disorder" (CDC-b).

The CDC removed recommendations for GET and CBT as treatments for ME/CFS from its website in 2017. In 2020, the UK's National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) also removed GET from the new draft guidelines on ME/CFS and issued a sweeping warning against "any therapy based on physical activity or exercise as a treatment or cure for ME/CFS" and "any programme based on fixed incremental increases in physical activity or exercise, for example graded exercise therapy" (NICE, 2020, p28). The NICE guidelines allow CBT only as adjunctive psychological support for managing the distress of a chronic illness. Moreover, they explicitly warn that ME/CFS is not perpetuated by "abnormal" illness beliefs or behaviors, and that CBT must not be offered as a treatment or cure for ME/CFS (NICE, 2020, p34). Additional sources of expert opinion that CDC has cited in the past, such as the U.S. ME/CFS Clinician Coalition treatment recommendations, do not include CBT or GET and point to the 2015 IOM report as

³ The CDC requires PEM as a core symptom of ME/CFS (CDC-a), as do all contemporary expert consensus definitions of the disease, which include CCC, ICC, IOM, and NICE 2020 draft guidelines. The final NICE guidelines will not be published until August 18, 2021—two days after the public comment deadline for this systematic review.

directly countering the incorrect understanding that GET and CBT are appropriate treatments for ME/CFS (Clinician Coalition, Treatment Recommendations).

Expert opinion and this systematic review provide contradictory conclusions regarding the best approach to treat ME/CFS as the CDC defines it. This systematic review fails both to provide the 'extraordinary evidence' necessary to support its own conclusions and to accurately or fully review the evidence base in the appropriate context and with appropriate methodology.

Scope of this public comment

This review is fundamentally flawed, such that there is no clear way that it can be adequately revised within the scope of the CDC's current contract with the systematic review authors, the Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC).

Because of the extent of the problems with this systematic review, a line-by-line approach would not be feasible. There are aspects of this review that are deeply troubling, but which are impossible to explore in sufficient depth at this time. Instead, these public comments are focused on the findings from the review on CBT and GET treatments, which have the potential to do the most harm to people with ME/CFS.

The public comment response below highlights four key arguments for why the findings from this review are fundamentally flawed and should not be published:

- 1. Applicability of Findings
- 2. Risk of Bias
- 3. Exclusion of Harms Evidence
- 4. Interpretations of Results

Note on terminology

The systematic review includes ten definitions that use the labels "chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS)," "myalgic encephalomyelitis (ME)," "myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS)," or "systemic exertion intolerance disease (SEID)." The review uses the term ME/CFS to refer to all the definitions.

The disease characterized by post-exertional malaise (PEM) and associated with neurological, immunological, autonomic, and energy production impairment is preferentially referred to as ME by #MEAction and by many people living with this disease.

For the purposes of responding to this systematic review, we will mostly use the term ME/CFS to refer to the disease, not because this is our preferred term, or the most accurate description of the disease, but in order to clearly articulate the ways in which this review has come to inappropriate conclusions. As will be discussed in more detail in the "Applicability" section, the

CDC uses the IOM report to define and communicate what ME/CFS is to the public. Specifically, the CDC states that the hallmark symptom of PEM is required for an ME/CFS diagnosis and names PEM one of three "core" symptoms. ME/CFS must therefore not be used in CDC publications to refer to a condition that does not require the presence of PEM.

This systematic review should have used a clearer analytical framework to differentiate studies that examine heterogeneous patient populations. Another recent systematic review of physiotherapy (i.e., GET) for ME/CFS (Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021) utilized just such a framework to clearly communicate their findings across a range of studies that use different case definitions. Wormgoor and Rodenburg used the term "ME" to specify when PEM is a cardinal feature alongside other core symptoms; they used "CFS" when PEM or other core symptoms are optional features; and they used "Chronic Fatigue" (CF) when PEM was not accounted for at all (Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021). This CDC systematic review should have used terminology according to a consistent and clear analytical framework such as this. This and related issues are explored further in Part I: Applicability.

About #MEAction

The Myalgic Encephalomyelitis Action Network (#MEAction) is a patient advocacy organization working for better recognition, education, and research so that, one day, all people with ME will have access to compassionate and effective care. Find more information about #MEAction at https://www.meaction.net.

Part I: Applicability of Findings

The systematic review concludes that cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) and graded exercise therapy (GET) are effective treatments for ME/CFS patients. But the body of studies undergirding these conclusions do not actually apply to people with ME/CFS as defined by CDC, as they do not require post-exertional malaise (PEM), identified as one of the three core symptoms of ME/CFS by CDC.⁴ Despite this considerable misalignment, this review fails to adequately analyze and judge the lack of applicability of this research evidence base. The significance of this failure is explored in this section.

The CDC commissioned this systematic review of research on ME/CFS treatments to inform development of federal guidelines for the treatment of ME/CFS. The review states that "Many case definitions for ME and CFS have been proposed," and that the "use of multiple case definitions for ME/CFS is an ongoing challenge in the field, as it has resulted in heterogeneous populations in the research literature" (Chou, et al., 2020, p1). Yet it does not acknowledge that the CDC's communication to the public and to healthcare providers about ME/CFS is explicitly based on the Institute of Medicine (IOM)⁵ report, which makes clear that PEM is a required symptom for diagnosis (CDC-a). The IOM report concludes "There is sufficient evidence that PEM is a primary feature that helps distinguish ME/CFS from other conditions" (NAM, 2015, p86). The UK's National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) committee for ME/CFS also aligns with the IOM report and the CDC on this issue in their 2020 draft guidelines: they identified PEM⁶ "as an essential symptom that is central to the diagnosis of ME/CFS" (NICE, 2020, p317).⁷

Given the challenge of heterogeneous patient populations arising from differing case definitions in the research literature, it is the responsibility of the review authors to "make clear for which patients and which circumstances the review's conclusions can be used to make clinical... decisions," according to the AHRQ Methods Guide utilized by this review (Atkins, et al., 2011, p2). This review's imprecision about whether CBT and GET are effective treatments for patients with PEM—which is how the CDC has defined ME/CFS—is a fundamental flaw that undermines the validity and applicability of this report. The CDC and the systematic review apply the term ME/CFS in conflicting ways. The lack of clarity regarding which patient populations are referenced in the review is at the heart of the matter.

Of the ME, CFS and ME/CFS case definitions referenced in this review, all but one of the six most recent definitions designate PEM as a required symptom. The sole exception, the UK's

⁴ The CDC characterizes post-exertional malaise as "the worsening of symptoms following even minor physical or mental exertion, with symptoms typically worsening 12 to 48 hours after activity and lasting for days or even weeks." (CDC-c)

⁵ The Institute of Medicine has since been renamed the National Academy of Medicine.

⁶ The committee's preferred term for PEM is post exertional symptom exacerbation (PESE).

⁷ The NICE committee has also stated that they believed the IOM criteria: "... the committee agreed that the Institute of Medicine's 2015 criteria had the best balance of inclusion and exclusion of all the reviewed criteria" (NICE, 2020, p49).

2007 NICE ME/CFS treatment guidelines, are now defunct; as of 2020, NICE too requires PEM.8

Older case definitions are overly inclusive

The older chronic fatigue syndrome definitions used to study GET and CBT treatments have significant issues. Notably, the Oxford criteria requires one symptom only: that of long-term, disabling fatigue of definite onset. The review authors state in the "Limitations" section that using the broadest CFS criteria, the Oxford case definition "classifies more patients with ME/CFS compared with more current case definitions, potentially resulting in misclassification and misleading results" (Chou, et al., 2020, p159). Indeed, as the review notes, Brurberg, et al. (2014) found that using the Oxford definition would identify 15 times as many patients as the Canadian Consensus Criteria, which requires PEM (Chou, et al., 2020, p1).

The Oxford definition is not the only problematic older case definition; these issues of applicability are also relevant for the 1994 Fukuda (CDC) definition of chronic fatigue syndrome. The IOM Report (NAM, 2015, p48) points out that "The Fukuda definition does not require what some consider core symptoms of ME/CFS, such as post-exertional malaise (PEM) and neurocognitive symptoms. The definition has been criticized for being overly inclusive." It concludes that the "diagnosis of CFS is not equivalent to a diagnosis of ME" (NAM, 2015, p60).

The UK's NICE guidelines committee has also articulated concerns about the generalizability (i.e., "applicability," or "directness") of studies using the 1994 Fukuda (CDC) definition for the ME/CFS population because it did not include PEM as a required symptom for diagnosis. They concluded that the Fukuda criteria did not accurately represent the ME/CFS population and that people experiencing PEM are likely to respond differently to treatment than those who do not experience PEM. They found that the Fukuda studies were therefore not generalizable to the ME/CFS population. Using the GRADE framework, both Oxford and Fukuda studies were rated with "serious" or "very serious" indirectness, using the following rationale: "The majority of the evidence included an indirect population (downgraded by one increment) or a very indirect population (downgraded by two increments): [Oxford criteria or] 1994 CDC criteria used; PEM is not a compulsory feature." This assessment contributed to an overall rating of "very low quality" for the majority of the studies reviewed (NICE, 2020, Section H, Appendix F, p346).

At a minimum, the review should have prioritized providing clear analysis and conclusions regarding whether CBT and GET are appropriate and effective treatments for patients who have the symptom of PEM, which is now considered central, even definitional to ME/CFS. Instead, in grading the strength of evidence, it assigned all Fukuda and Oxford studies as "direct," when they are clearly "indirect," as the NICE committee has established. A systematic review that doesn't explicitly address this lack of applicability is not only without value, but may subject ME/CFS patients to inappropriate treatments that could harm them. The review's conclusion that

⁸ A draft of the NICE guidelines update was released in 2020. The final version of the NICE guidelines are to be released two days after this systematic review public comment period has ended (August 20, 2021). So we have referenced the publicly available draft version (NICE, 2020).

CBT and GET are effective treatments for ME/CFS patients but that "uncertain generalizability...precluded strong conclusions" is an abdication of the reviewers' duty to accurately summarize the applicability (i.e., generalizability) of the body of evidence for the patient population in question, which is ME/CFS patients with PEM.

High clinical heterogeneity is not adequately addressed

Taking clinical heterogeneity into account is not an unreasonable expectation for a systematic review of ME/CFS treatments. Another recent systematic review of physiotherapy (i.e., GET) treatments for ME/CFS by Wormgoor and Rodenburg (2021) did just that. The authors created a specific framework of analysis to differentiate between ME/CFS patient populations in the evidence base according to whether the symptom of PEM was required (ME), optional (CFS) or not required (CF). Wormgoor and Rodenburg analyzed the evidence according to these categories and concluded that "Currently, there is no scientific evidence when it comes to effective physiotherapy for ME patients. Applying treatment that seems effective for CF or CFS patients may have adverse consequences for ME patients and should be avoided" (Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021).

Whether the authors of the CDC systematic review agree with the conclusions of the Wormgoor and Rodenburg systematic review, it should be apparent that the Wormgoor and Rodenburg analytical framework regarding the referenced patient populations was clear, whereas the CDC systematic review's conclusion inappropriately conflates multiple patient populations. This also demonstrates that the CDC's choice to ignore diagnostic specificity altered the purported finding of "effectiveness" and safety for CBT and GET in ME. By relying on outdated, overly broad definitions of CFS that don't require PEM, the CDC systematic review misleads the reader with conclusions that may be immaterial to this patient population.

The systematic review's insistence on using ME/CFS to encompass any and all medically unexplained chronic fatigue ultimately makes its analysis unworkable. Instead of the clarity and precision of the language of Wormgoor and Rodenburg, the CDC systematic review unhelpfully offers only repeated statements of uncertainty about the applicability of their findings:

- "the applicability of findings to patients with severe ME/CFS diagnosed using more current, specific case definitions was uncertain." (ii)
- "the applicability of findings to more disabled populations with ME/CFS and those diagnosed using more current ME/CFS criteria was uncertain." (149)
- "The applicability of results to patients with more severe ME/CFS symptoms also remains unclear." (149)

⁹ Wormgoor and Rodenburg (2021) used the term "ME" to specify when PEM is a cardinal feature and the other core symptoms are present as well. They used "CFS" when PEM or other core symptoms are optional features. And they used "Chronic Fatigue" (CF) whenever PEM is not accounted for at all.

- "The applicability of findings to patients with severe post-exertional fatigue is also uncertain... the applicability of findings to patients diagnosed using more recent, specific ME/CFS case definitions is uncertain." (149-150)
- "Our findings... noted uncertain applicability to patients diagnosed with case definitions other than the Oxford and Fukuda criteria." (151-152)

In place of acknowledging PEM's presence or absence, the reviewers devise a euphemistic category of "more severe" or "more disabled" ME/CFS. The reviewers imply that ME/CFS exists on a spectrum of severity where Oxford's 'medically unexplained chronic fatigue' is "less severe" ME/CFS and all the recent definitions of ME/CFS developed by expert consensus that require PEM as a hallmark symptom is "more severe" ME/CFS (Chou, et al., 2020, p2). There is no evidence to support that this is the case. It is inappropriate to refer to one condition as a "more severe" version of another, simply to avoid identifying the parameters of both conditions.

The review justifies its agnostic position about whether PEM is a required symptom of ME/CFS by pointing out that "studies have not been able to determine the accuracy of different ME/CFS case definitions, due to the lack of a reliable and universally accepted reference ('gold') standard" (Chou, et al., 2020, p1). But the lack of a discovery of a biomarker that could be used as a universal reference standard to test the accuracy of the various definitions does not therefore mean it is appropriate to assume that all definitions are the same, or that they are equally valid descriptions of ME/CFS. The review authors acknowledge at multiple points in the review that this is not a credible assumption and that the older CFS definitions utilized by most of the GET and CBT studies likely misclassify patients with ME/CFS, leading to misleading results.

The ME community has been pointing out these flaws since the prior AHRQ systematic review was published in 2014; yet the current systematic review continues to ignore these concerns, and has reproduced the same problems. The concerns raised by ME advocates in 2014 still apply today:

"Most fundamentally, this Evidence Review is grounded in the flawed assumption that eight CFS and ME definitions all represent the same group of patients that are appropriately studied and treated as a single entity or group of closely related entities. Guided by that assumption, this Evidence Review draws conclusions on subgroups, diagnostics, treatments and harms for all CFS and ME patients based on studies done in any of these eight definitions. In doing so, the Evidence Review disregards its own concerns as well as the substantial body of evidence that these definitions do not all represent the same disease and that the ME definitions are associated with distinguishing biological pathologies. It is unscientific, illogical and creates undue risk of harm to lump disparate patients together without regard to substantive differences in their underlying conditions.

...The failure to differentiate between patients with the symptom of subjective unexplained fatigue on the one hand, and objective immunological, neurological and metabolic dysfunction on the other, calls into question the entire Evidence Review..." (Dimmock et al, 2014, pp 1-2).

The review isn't appropriately restricted to reporting results directly applicable to the specific question

In their response to criticisms of the prior AHRQ systematic review, the authors state that they "appreciate that the case definitions are very different" but that "there are very few trials and excluding some of these definitions would limit the evidence even further." They also state that they believed this inclusive approach could "provide a foundation to determine what interventions may be effective" (Smith, 2014).

A research methodology cannot be justified by its ease or convenience of use alone. If Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) believed CDC had charged them with a project they could not complete as outlined, they might have discussed this challenge with CDC and abandoned the project or changed its goals; they might have analyzed findings and determined applicability based on the presence of PEM and, if there was then not enough data to draw conclusions, reported as much. Instead, the review explicitly states that their methodology was chosen in order to reach a desired conclusion: having enough data to generalize findings about highly heterogeneous patient populations.

It should be noted that the Oxford criteria used requires one symptom and one symptom only: that of long-term, severe fatigue. The Canadian Consensus Criteria (CCC), preferred by many researchers and clinicians to describe the disease, requires four core symptoms: pain, post-exertional malaise, fatigue, and sleep dysfunction, along with cognitive/neurological, neuroendocrine, autonomic, and/or immune symptoms. It is no wonder that the symptoms of general fatigue, as per Oxford, capture fifteen times as many patients as the CCC (Chou, et al., 2020, p1). It is unreasonable to presume that studies on Oxford-diagnosed patients will be generalizable to those patients diagnosed under CCC.

An effective systematic review would have appropriately restricted itself to reporting results from studies directly applicable to the specific question at hand. And that question must be: what are effective treatments for ME/CFS patients as the CDC has described them? It is inappropriate to proceed as though there were any valuable insights to derive from Oxford studies. Treatments for medically unexplained chronic fatigue cannot be extrapolated to ME/CFS patients with PEM.

Half of all the GET and CBT treatment trials reviewed use the Oxford criteria for patient selection. Some of the largest trials are included in this half. The decision to include Oxford studies therefore significantly skews the evidence base. It also threatens the validity, reliability and integrity of this systematic review's meta-analyses, which will be addressed in the Part IV: Interpretations of Results section of our response.

Given the dubious applicability of Oxford studies to ME/CFS patients with PEM, it would have been more appropriate to have excluded them entirely from this review. This was in fact done with the 2014 AHRQ review, which then issued a subsequent reanalysis in a 2016 Addendum that examined the effectiveness of GET and CBT when the Oxford studies were removed. AHRQ then downgraded their previous conclusions on the effectiveness of GET and CBT. When Oxford studies were excluded from the analysis, "the Addendum reported that there was insufficient evidence of effectiveness of GET on any outcome," and "the Addendum found insufficient evidence of effectiveness of CBT on function, employment and global improvement and a low strength of evidence of improved fatigue" (Dimmock and Spotila, 2016; NCBI, 2016).

Not only did the 2016 Addendum to the AHRQ systematic review downgrade the findings of effectiveness for CBT and GET, but the authors called for the Oxford case definition to no longer be used in research:

"The Oxford case definition is the least specific of the definitions and less generalizable to the broader population of patients with ME/CFS. It could identify individuals who have had 6 months of unexplained fatigue with physical and mental impairment, but no other specific features of ME/CFS such as post-exertional malaise which is considered by many to be a hallmark symptom of the disease. As a result, using the Oxford case definition results in a high risk of including patients who may have an alternate fatiguing illness or whose illness resolves spontaneously with time. In light of this, we recommended in our report that future intervention studies use a single agreed upon case definition, other than the Oxford case definition. If a single definition could not be agreed upon, future research should retire the use of the Oxford case definition. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) panel assembled to review evidence presented at the NIH Pathways to Prevention Workshop agreed with our recommendation, stating that the continued use of the Oxford case definition 'may impair progress and cause harm'" (NCBI, 2016; Green, et al., 2015).

The 2020 draft review authors fail to mention the 2016 reanalysis, or their previous 2014 conclusion that the Oxford definition should no longer be used. The continued use of Oxford studies in systematic reviews for ME/CFS continues to impair progress and cause harm. Stratifying outcome findings by diagnostic criteria does not effectively solve this problem, especially when results from subgroup analyses are not used to inform the overall conclusions drawn regarding treatment efficacy. This is further explored in Part IV: Interpretations of Results.

Part II: Risk of Bias

In Part I of these public comments, the applicability of the evidence to people with ME/CFS is called into question. But even if this evidence base were applicable to people with ME/CFS as CDC defines it, significant risk of bias calls into question the validity and reliability of this review. Sources of bias covered in this section include: various participant response biases arising from non-blinded trials that use participant-reported outcomes; provider preference and enthusiasm bias; and reporting bias. Other sources of bias that fall outside the "risk of bias" assessment tool used by this review are covered in Part IV: Interpretations of Results.

In trials included in this systematic review, neither patients nor clinicians were blinded to their intervention group. In addition, these trials relied on subjective primary outcomes. According to Schulz and Grimes (2002), blinding "ensure(s) participants don't change their behaviour as a result of knowing what their group assignment is and do not report their subjective outcome measures differently as a result." Blinding is essential when outcomes are also subjective. According to Fiedorowicz, et al. (2021), non-blinded assessors of subjective binary outcomes may "exaggerate odds ratios by an average of 36%." Lack of blinding in conjunction with subjective measures could invalidate a study's purported conclusions.

Review authors acknowledge the lack of participant and clinician blinding endemic in these trials in the *Discussion*: "It was not possible to blind patients and care providers to the exercise and CBT interventions, potentially resulting in bias...". They also state that the "inability to blind is of particular concern for subjective outcomes such as fatigue and function" (Chou, et al., 2020, p150).

Despite these acknowledgments, most exercise and CBT studies were assigned an overall "medium" risk of bias (RoB). According to the *AHRQ Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews* (Viswanathan, et al., 2017), the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins, et al., 2021, ch8), and review authors' own "high risk of bias" definition (Chou, et al., 2020, p8), the RoB assignments understate studies' likely "high" risk of bias. Reconsidering these assignments is critical, as they will lead to revised conclusions about the validity and reliability of the studies' results, and the conclusions of the systematic review.

Lack of blinding and delivery of intervention further biases self-reported improvement

Lack of blinding creates participant expectations about an outcome that influence their own perceptions of their illness or behavior (Schultz, et al.,1995; Williams, et al., 2012). Meta-analyses of methodological quality issues in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) show that inadequate blinding creates statistically significant levels of bias, specifically yielding larger estimates of effects, with exaggerated odds ratios (Schultz, et al., 1995; Fiedorowicz, et al., 2021).

But these open-label trials go even further in creating performance bias, expectation bias, and enthusiasm bias in a way that inflates effect estimates, because the interventions themselves are *explicitly designed* to support positive patient expectations, and to elicit positive responses using subjective instruments such as questionnaires. Therefore, risk of bias cannot be discussed without underscoring that the design and delivery of CBT for ME/CFS tips the scales in favor of illusory and subjective success.

CBT as delivered to ME patients is distinct from traditional CBT and must be examined and assessed on its own merits (Geraghty, et al., 2019). According to *The CBT for CFS Therapist Manual* by Loades, et al. (2021) from an NHS clinic in Bath, the focus of traditional CBT is on "living the best life you can alongside physical symptoms, rather than necessarily seeking to change the physical symptoms themselves." However, the manual goes on to explain and describe how *CBT for ME* differs: physical symptoms are framed as explicitly arising from patients' thoughts and feelings. The goal of CBT for ME, then, is to change a patient's thoughts and feelings, which should then eliminate physical symptoms.

Thoughts and feelings that are hypothesized to cause disease include thinking about physical symptoms, belief in chronicity, "thoughts and beliefs about fatigue," and the belief that activity may cause relapse. Therefore, the CBT framework for ME encourages patients to deny the presence of symptoms, affirm disbelief in chronicity, and believe that activity cannot cause relapse. Changing these beliefs is framed as essential to success, and therefore, to recovery.

Therefore, the purpose of the intervention is to convince the patient of the effectiveness of the intervention -- and that belief in the intervention is necessary to support success, and disbelief in the intervention will lead to failure.

It should be clear that subjective patient responses will be biased towards affirming the success of the intervention, because the intervention is designed to convey that negative thoughts about illness cause illness. This is a source of significant detection bias, since only subjective measures show positive results; importantly, many objective measures in these studies, such as step counts and back-to-work/school, do not support these subjective reports of gains in function. For a comprehensive list of objective measures included in the reviewed studies, see Michiel Tack's public comments on this evidence review (Tack, 2021).

Finally, handbooks for CBT in people with ME explicitly link negative attributes such as perfectionism to symptom presentation, introducing social desirability bias, wherein "self-reporting data can be affected by an external bias caused by social desirability or approval, especially in cases where anonymity and confidentiality cannot be guaranteed at the time of data collection" (Althubaiti, 2016).

Specific trials of CBT and GET included in the review introduce similar sources of bias. In the initial "pragmatic rehabilitation treatment" session of the 2010 FINE trial, nurses were trained to

give their patients a detailed explanation of symptoms, and provide them with a manual that does the same. According to the study publication:

Our experience is that this initial session, which provides patients with convincing explanations for their symptoms and also indicates how they can be targeted in treatment, is crucial to the success of the intervention (Wearden, et al., 2006).

In other words, according to study authors, the success of the treatment intervention relies on the influence that nurses can have in shaping patients' perception of their symptoms and illness. In fact, nurses were trained for six months in this CBT protocol, and an interest in psychosomatic medicine was a prerequisite to the training. This same influence is not exerted in either of the trial's two comparator groups.

In another included study, the 2011 PACE trial's Cognitive Behavioural Therapy Manual for Participants taught trial participants that the symptom of fatigue is maintained through resting and reducing activity, focusing on symptoms, and worrying that activity will make symptoms worse. The manual reads:

CBT is designed to help you to discover the most useful ways of managing and overcoming your illness. The aim of treatment is to help you to change certain patterns of thinking and behaviour that may be partially responsible for maintaining your CFS/ME (Burgess and Chalder, 2004).

This CBT intervention, then, was intentionally designed to influence participant knowledge of and expectation about treatment.

The draft systematic review argues that provider preference and enthusiasm might be controlled using a design in which expert clinicians are assigned to different interventions. However, "inactive control therapies" such as usual care, waiting list, or even attention control are unlikely to control for provider preference. The oft-used "control therapy" of the waiting list involves no clinician contact at all, which makes controlling provider preference truly impossible. Additionally, in many of the "usual care" and "usual specialist care" control groups, patients are told that they may visit their regular doctor as needed, so whether or not patients make contact with 'enthusiastic' providers is highly variable.

It is notable that in the FINE trial (Wearden, et al., 2010), improvements in fatigue were observed immediately after treatment, but not one year after treatment. This is the case for other GET and CBT studies included in this review as well; small to moderate effects are reported at the end of the intervention, but they disappear by post-intervention follow-up. It would be interesting to test the extent to which diminished improvements were a reflection of diminished response bias and provider preference bias.

Primary outcomes are participant-reported outcomes, which calls for a 'high' risk of bias judgment

Reducing bias in open-label trials is possible through a study design that relies on objective, clinically observed outcomes (Viswanathan, et al., 2017, p8). However, fatigue and function as well as other outcomes used throughout exercise and CBT trials were subjective and participant-reported. The *Cochrane* risk of bias tool instructs that when a trial outcome is participant-reported, the assessment of the outcome is likely to be influenced by knowledge of the intervention received (Higgins, et al., 2019, p50). Therefore, risk of bias within the "patient masked?" as well as "outcome assessors masked?" domain should be considered 'high.'

There is empirical evidence showing that bias due to lack of patient blinding, particularly when reliant on participant reported outcomes, tends to lead to exaggerated standardized mean differences (Hrobjartsson, et al., 2014; Nuesch, et al., 2009). In one systematic review, nonblinded patients exaggerated the effect size by an average of 0.56 of a standard deviation (Hrobjartsson, et al., 2014). Effect sizes in many of these CBT and GET trials are small to begin with. Therefore, adjusting for these response biases would likely mean a notable decrease in the statistical and clinical significance of findings.

Overall risk of bias judgment was inaccurately assessed as 'medium' when it should be 'high'

Based on the *revised Cochrane risk* of bias tool for randomized trials (Higgins, et al., 2019, p4), this systematic review should rate exercise and CBT trials as having a 'high' risk of bias. The domains of "Care provider masked?", "Patient masked?" and "Outcome assessors masked?" all have a 'high' risk of bias for each primary outcome. *Cochrane* instructs that making a judgment of 'high' risk of bias in even just one domain should lead to an overall judgment of 'high' risk of bias for that outcome or group of outcomes. The tool reads:

"Judging a result to be at a particular level of risk of bias for an individual domain implies that the result has an overall risk of bias <u>at least this severe</u>." It also reads: "Some concerns' in multiple domains may lead the review authors to decide on an overall judgement of 'high' risk of bias for that outcome or group of outcomes (Higgins, et al., 2019, p4)."

Even if reviewers disagree with #MEAction's judgment of 'high' risk of bias for the three discussed domains, the fact that there are 'Some concerns' in multiple domains should still lead to an overall judgment of 'high' risk of bias for the group of outcomes explored in all exercise and CBT trials.

Direction and magnitude of bias needs to be assessed and factored into meta-analysis conclusions

The AHRQ Methods Guide directs reviewers to assess the direction and magnitude of bias when bias is detected. There is no indication that this review does so adequately. This is especially important because estimating direction and magnitude of bias can have significant impacts on the review's conclusions. In meta-analyses, review authors show and report that effect estimates consistently favor treatment groups for several outcomes. Authors use this as support for the conclusion that graded exercise and CBT are effective compared to inactive control therapies. However, it is possible that the consistency noted is in the direction of bias, which has led to a consistent overestimation of true effect sizes in these trials. The treatment effect may no longer be statistically significant once direction and magnitude of bias are taken into account.

Outcomes reporting bias should be incorporated into the risk of bias assessment, and factored into the strength of evidence assessment

The review authors' current risk of bias assessment looks at "outcomes pre-specified," but not "outcomes pre-specified and reported." This is a significant error, as the *AHRQ Methods Guide* underscores how outcomes reporting has major implications "for both the risk of bias of individual studies and the strength of the body of evidence" (Viswanathan, et al., 2017, p7).

A study looking at the impact of outcome reporting bias in RCTs concluded that:

Individuals conducting systematic reviews need to address explicitly the issue of missing outcome data for their review to be considered a reliable source of evidence. Extra care is required during data extraction, reviewers should identify when a trial reports that an outcome was measured but no results were reported or events observed, and contact with trialists should be encouraged (Kirkham, et al., 2010).

Multiple studies included in this review are prone to reporting bias. For example, the PACE trial did not report primary outcome measures in accordance with the trial protocol (Wilshire, et al., 2017). We urge a review of Michiel Tack's Public Comments (Tack, 2021), which identify the FITNET trial and the SMILE trial as two others that concealed or switched outcome measures (respectively) from protocol to publication.

Analyses of PACE's flaws have been publicly available for years. These flaws include (but are not limited to): 1) Mid-trial, authors published a newsletter extolling the benefits of the PACE

therapies. At the time, about 200 (or ½) of participants were still actively undergoing the trial; 2) At baseline, 13% of trial participants were already "within the normal range" on one or both primary outcome measures. This was not disclosed in the original *Lancet* publication; and 3) The authors changed definitions of "recovery" markedly from trial protocol to reporting, which over-inflated the significance of the recovery rates for treatment groups in the original *Lancet* publication (Racaniello, 2015; Wilshire, et al., 2017).

This review's authors conducted a sensitivity analysis to determine whether data from the PACE trial publication yielded "recovery" and other findings that are significantly different from data based on the original PACE protocol definitions. This analysis (included in the Detailed Synthesis portion of this report) clearly demonstrated that neither GET nor CBT was associated with an increased likelihood of recovery compared to inactive controls when the original PACE protocol definition was used. However, this review's Discussion incorrectly concluded the opposite. It reads, "findings were similar in sensitivity analyses that utilized data based on the original PACE protocol definitions for these outcomes" (Chou, et al., 2020, p150). This conclusion is clearly an error on the part of review authors that needs to be rectified to align with the sensitivity analysis findings reported in the heart of this review (see Chou, et al., 2020, pp37,79).

PACE and the other trials in this review have other serious methodological limitations that are not assessed within this review's Risk of Bias tool. Nonetheless, they must be used to inform conclusions about the efficacy of these interventions. Some of these other sources of bias are explored in Part Four: Interpretations of Results.

(or 'inactive control therapy group') was 3%, these sensitivity analyses show that neither GET nor CBT was associated with an increased likelihood of recovery compared to inactive controls.

¹⁰ In Methods, review authors report conducting sensitivity analyses using data based on original PACE protocol definitions (Chou, et al., 2020, p9). They do this because data reported in the main PACE trial publication (White, et al., 2011) included outcome measure definitions that differed markedly from that specified in the original trial protocol. Specifically, when "recovery" was defined using the original protocol, recovery rates dropped from 22% to 4% for the GET group (Chou, et al., 2020, p37) and from 22% to 7% for CBT group (Chou, et al., 2020, p79). Given that the recovery rate in the specialist medical care group

Part III: Exclusion of Harms Evidence

The systematic review's investigation of harms of GET and CBT is insufficient. The review authors used rigid inclusion criteria for finding and selecting data on harms, which does not reflect current best practice for evidence reviews.

The systematic review covers only the inadequate reporting by included RCTs

GET and CBT are widely criticized as treatments for people with ME/CFS. Numerous sources discuss potential harms associated with these therapies in this patient population. Therefore, it is surprising how little focus and attention was placed on addressing the concerns of potential harms in the review.

The Wormgoor and Rodenburg (2021) review, on the other hand, states: "Applying [physiotherapy (e.g., GET)] treatment that seems effective for [chronic fatigue] or CFS patients may have adverse consequences for ME patients and should be avoided"; and the UK's NICE evidence review of non-pharmacological interventions for people with ME/CFS warns that "People with ME/CFS have reported worsening of symptoms with GET and no benefit from CBT" (NICE, 2020).

According to the AHRQ Methods Guide, reviewers should "not assume studies adequately assess harms because methods used to assess and report benefits are appropriate; rather, evaluate how well studies identify and analyze harms" (AHRQ, 2014, p249). However, this review did not assess any evidence for potential harms except those reported by the researchers who conducted the GET and CBT studies. Since "harms were reported poorly in most trials" (Chou, et al., 2020, p159), the only evidence on harms considered for GET was limited to the PACE and GETSET trials, and for CBT, was limited only to PACE. This so skewed the evidence base on harms that the review authors report that there is "limited evidence that exercise and CBT were not [emphasis added] associated with increased risk of serious adverse events or worsening of symptoms" (Chou, et al., 2020, pii).

This coverage of harms is not aligned with the patient community's deep, decades-long, well-communicated concerns regarding negative effects of exertion, supported by clinical experts and the array of studies conducted to identify and define PEM. The 2014 IACFS/ME Clinician Primer warns that "exercise worsens symptoms in patients with ME/CFS" (Friedberg, et al., 2014, p17), and the 2017 ME/CFS Pediatric Primer also cautions that "inflexible, graded exercise (GET) is harmful and can lead to worsening of symptoms" (Rowe, et al., 2017, p36). Vink and Vink-Niese's (2018) re-analysis of the Cochrane review concludes, "Because of the failure to report harms adequately in the trials covered by the review, it cannot be said that graded exercise therapy is safe" -- and the same can be said of this review.

On the use of CBT as a treatment for ME/CFS, Vink and Vink-Niese (2019) point out, "Patient evidence suggests adverse outcomes in 20 percent of cases. If a trial of a drug or surgical procedure uncovered a similar high rate, it would be unlikely to be accepted as safe."

The coverage of harms is not aligned with best practice for systematic reviews of healthcare interventions

This extremely narrow coverage of evidence of potential harms of GET and CBT treatments is not only inappropriate in the specific context of ME/CFS, but is also not aligned with the best practice recommendations for systematic reviews. According to the AHRQ Methods Guide, review authors should "gather evidence on harms from a broad range of sources, including observational studies, particularly when clinical trials are lacking; when generalizability is uncertain; or when investigating rare, long-term, or unexpected harms" (Chou, et al., 2008).

An important focus of AMSTAR 2, the most updated AMSTAR instrument for the critical appraisal of systematic reviews of healthcare interventions, is on the inclusion of non-randomized trials that provide real-world observational evidence that informs healthcare interventions (Shea, et al., 2017). This is especially important when it comes to reviewing the harms of such interventions. The AHRQ Methods Guide states that "Observational studies¹¹ are almost always necessary to assess harms adequately. The exception is when there are sufficient data from RCTs to reliably estimate harm" (AHRQ, 2014, p240). This systematic review acknowledges that this was not the case with the GET and CBT randomized controlled trials, referring to their reporting on harms as "suboptimal," "limited" or "poor" (Chou, et al., 2020, ppii,150,159).

As the 2015 IOM report makes clear, the best evidence on ME/CFS to date has identified PEM as a hallmark symptom of this disease, and CDC concurs (CDC-a). It is critical that the review extensively consider the potential for harms arising from exertion in people with ME/CFS. There is a solid body of relevant research exploring these effects, and it is inappropriate for these studies to have not been addressed in this systematic review.

Other sources to consider for harms: exercise used as a provocation

The evidence review excluded numerous observational studies that presented physiological evidence of exercise intolerance in people with ME/CFS in its consideration of sources that may

¹¹ When referring to observational studies, the Methods Guide clarifies that the term "is commonly used to refer to cohort, case-control, and cross-sectional studies, but can refer to a broad range of study designs, including case reports, uncontrolled series of patients receiving surgery or other interventions, and others. All can yield useful information as long as their specific limitations are understood" (AHRQ, 2014, p240).

contextualize harms. For example, two day cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) is used to assess ME/CFS patients for disability and to provoke symptoms for study. Two CPET provocations conducted one day apart show significant differences in people with ME/CFS that do not appear in healthy sedentary controls -- or in people with idiopathic chronic fatigue.

In a study by Keller, et al. (2014), patients with ME/CFS incurred a drop in work at ventilatory threshold (Workload_{VT}) of 21.3% on the second of two exercise tests 24 hours apart. The respiratory exchange ratio (RER) was similar on both days, showing patients expended maximum effort for both tests. Reduced VO₂ in people with ME/CFS on two-day CPET has been found in several studies, including those by Jones, et al. (2012) and Keller, et. al. (2014); Vermeulen & Vermeulen van Eck (2014) also showed differences in VO₂max when people with ME/CFS were compared to sedentary controls. Notable differences in VO₂ on two-day CPET were found between people with multiple sclerosis, people with ME/CFS, and healthy controls (Hodges, Nielsen and Baken, 2017). And a recent meta-analysis shows that volume of oxygen consumption and level of workload at peak (VO₂@peak, Workload@peak) and at ventilatory threshold (VO₂@VT, Workload@VT) all drop on day two in two-day CPET in people with ME/CFS, whereas all increase in healthy controls (Lim, et al., 2020). An invasive CPET study by Joseph, et al. (2021) also demonstrated cardiac pre-load failure and poor oxygen extraction in ME/CFS patients.

But perhaps most tellingly, in a study conducted by van Campen and Visser (2021), agegender- disease-duration- and severity-matched patients with idiopathic chronic fatigue (Fukuda) and patients with one of the sets of criteria that require PEM (ICC) were compared on two-day CPET. While patients with PEM required showed decreased VO₂peak, Workload@peak, VO₂@VT and Workload@VT on day two of their two-day CPET as previously described, the Fukuda patients showed gains on each measure, similar to healthy controls. This should certainly speak to the generalizability of one set of diagnostic criteria to the other regarding harms of exercise therapies.

In addition, there have been studies conducted on post-exercise immune, neurological, and endocrine changes in people with ME/CFS. There is such an abundance of studies on post-exercise pathology in people with ME/CFS that its omission in consideration of potential harms is conspicuous.

Importantly, in some trials, the number of patient withdrawals were significantly higher within GET groups compared to control groups. For example, the Wearden, et al. (1998) study had a withdrawal rate of 29% of those receiving GET, compared to 17% for the attention control group. In the Windthorst, et al. (2017) study, 4 of the 15 original members in the exercise group dropped out, citing lack of benefit. While included in appendices, these and other examples like it were not discussed in the text of the review.

Potential harms are not isolated to exercise trials, and may be present for those patients who undergo CBT as well. In Jason, et al. (2007), 22% of participants in the CBT group reported that treatments made them feel from "worse" to "unchanged." It is a mistake to presume that CBT will *de facto* be a safe therapy, given its record of harms in other diseases and disorders

(Schermuly-Haupt, et al., 2018), and its focus in ME/CFS: to encourage the patient to deny the presence of symptoms and the potential for chronicity in order to become more active.

Exclusion of patient surveys

The evidence review did not consider any patient surveys, the results of which show the harms of graded exercise therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) for patients with ME/CFS. A survey of nearly 2300 people with ME/CFS carried out by Forward ME, an advocacy group in the United Kingdom, found that over two-thirds who underwent GET alone and three-quarters who underwent GET combined with CBT experienced a deterioration in their physical health (MEAction, 2019). 98.5% of responders reported the hallmark symptom of post-exertional malaise. CBT also had a net negative physical effect on people with ME/CFS, with 26% reporting deterioration and only 16% reporting improvement.

A survey of over 4000 people carried out by the advocacy group Action for M.E. found that GET worsened symptoms over half the time, while improving symptoms less than 10% of the time (Action for M.E., 2019). Geraghty, et al. (2017) present results of their ME/CFS patient survey, as well as ten others over the 2000-2015 period. They found that patients reported GET provoked negative responses in 54-74% of patients.

Prioritizing identification of harms from patient and clinical expert stakeholders

Systematic review best practice recommends prioritizing using multiple sources of information, including patients, clinical experts and stakeholders, to identify harms that they judge to be of greatest importance (Chou, et al., 2018). The systematic review authors state that they consulted key informants representing clinical, research, or patient perspectives in ME/CFS in the scoping and development of key questions for this review. However, nothing in this review would indicate that there has been any consultation with the patient community or clinical or research experts about the proper identification or prioritization of harms. Engagement on such an important issue should not be given such cursory treatment or considered only at the public comment stage after the review has already been designed and drafted.

The absence of robust engagement of the community and investigation of multiple sources on potential harms of CBT and GET is deeply concerning, given this is not the first time these issues have been raised. The prior AHRQ review in 2014 received criticism for its lack of sufficient evidence on harms from exercise, from studies that discuss post-exertional pathology, and from patient surveys. To continue to exclude this evidence, and to scope the review in such a way as to exclude it, is a methodological departure from AHRQ, Cochrane and AMSTAR II guidance and an abdication of ethical responsibility to patients who may be at risk.

An evidence review of CBT and GET treatments for ME/CFS must include a broader examination of the harms from exertion and specifically how people with PEM could be affected by these treatments. The review authors have not obtained adequate "input from patients, to ensure that outcomes reflect their priorities." Exacerbation of PEM should be considered a serious harm, as it results "in persistent or significant incapacity or ability to perform normal life functions" (Chou, et al., 2018, p9).

Harms not specified in the original protocol must still be included

It should be underscored that even if harms were not specified in the original protocol, this is not a sufficient excuse for the systematic review not to incorporate them. The AHRQ Methods Guide instructs reviewers that they need to be prepared to add harms to the review that were not specified in the original protocol or identified in the prioritization process (AHRQ, 2014, p11).

Other systematic reviews of ME/CFS interventions are more robust on harms

There is solid precedent for more robust and balanced reporting on potential harms in other systematic reviews of ME/CFS interventions. Wormgoor and Rodenburg (2021) address multiple sources of information beyond just examining the reports of randomized controlled trials. These include case-control studies that confirm concerns regarding exercise programs evaluating response on sub-maximal activity in ME/CFS patients, and clear indications of potential negative patient-reported experiences from a review of eleven patient surveys.

Wormgoor and Rodenburg acknowledge that few randomized controlled trials of GET interventions "reported on the occurrence of adverse events or non-adherence due to intolerance to the intervention. However, in intervention research involving ME/CFS patients with PEM, reporting of adverse effects seems of particular significance; interventions are not necessarily harmless when adverse effects and compliance have not been systematically reported" (Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021, p19). In contrast to this CDC systematic review, Wormgoor and Rodenburg conclude that "Even though the results of this review did not reveal substantial negative responses, the marginal and doubtful effects, patient-reported experiences and evidence coming from biomedical research strongly suggest an overall reduction in tolerance of physical exertion in ME patients" (Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021, p20).

Other authors of systematic reviews on exercise therapies in ME/CFS concur. Ahmed, et al. (2020) conclude in their systematic review that "The findings of this systematic review do not support the claim that CBT and GET are effective treatments for ME/CFS patients" because of the low methodological quality and biases of the studies, which include the poor reporting of harms. They supplement their discussion of harms by acknowledging the important

contributions of Kindlon (2011) on the reporting of harms associated with GET and CBT in ME/CFS and Vink and Vink-Niese's (2018) re-analysis of the Cochrane review showing that GET is ineffective and unsafe for ME/CFS. They state that "over the past 20 years patients have consistently reported either no or adverse effects from these interventions" (Ahmed, et al., 2020, p13).

The UK's NICE evidence review of non-pharmacological interventions for people with ME/CFS (NICE, 2020) utilized a stakeholder committee model which resulted in a more extensive examination of the evidence for each intervention and considered discussion of areas of potential harms by including the perspective of individuals with lived experience of ME/CFS. "The committee considered this evidence along with the clinical effectiveness and qualitative evidence. Given the uncertainty around the health benefits of GET combined with the possibility of harm due to over-exertion, especially when GET is poorly implemented, the committee agreed to not recommend GET." They came to their conclusion by considering both data from randomized trials and more qualitative evidence. "The committee noted that no harms were identified in the clinical evidence but also noted these were rarely included as an outcome and reported. The committee reflected that in contrast harms such as worsening of symptoms were reported in the qualitative evidence and took this into consideration when making recommendations on physical activity and exercise." The NICE committee also considered the potential for harm when CBT was inappropriately delivered by a therapist who did not understand ME/CFS, and recommended that CBT was not to be used as a treatment or cure for ME/CFS (NICE, 2020, p326).

Part IV: Interpretations of Results

Reporting average effects is misleading, given high risk of bias, high heterogeneity, and low strength of evidence

Meta-analyses should be performed when their results can be meaningful; a pooled estimate of effect should achieve more power and precision than that provided at the individual study level (Morton, et al., 2018, p3). The systematic review's meta-analyses for exercise and CBT interventions, however, do not provide such insight. Rather, the average effects reported are unlikely to reflect the true impact of these interventions on people with ME/CFS. They do not provide a sensible or meaningful summary because of the high risk of bias in the reviewed trials, the considerable clinical and statistical heterogeneity within and between studies, the focus on subjective primary outcomes, and the low strength of the body of evidence as a whole. Given these serious concerns, the interpretation of results and conclusions derived from meta-analyses are misleading. They are unlikely to convey the true effect that either CBT or GET have on ME/CFS patients, even as defined under the outdated Oxford or Fukuda diagnostic criteria. Furthermore, these pooled estimates certainly do not reflect the true effect that these interventions have on ME/CFS patients as now described by CDC: those with PEM (CDC-a).

Trials with high risk of bias translate to meta-analyses with high risk of bias

Primary outcomes in this review are patient-reported fatigue and patient-reported physical function. This review's meta-analyses focus largely on results flowing from these outcomes. As discussed in Part II: Risk of Bias, subjective outcomes, particularly when in open-label trials, are subject to significant bias (Page, et al., 2016). A body of studies explores how subjective improvements, particularly in psychotherapeutic treatments, may simply reflect response biases or placebo effects (Kindlon, 2015). These lead to overinflated point estimates of effects that cannot be attributed to the exercise and CBT treatments themselves.

Creating a pooled estimate from these trials thus perpetuates a cycle of "garbage in, garbage out." If the studies they examine likely have a high risk of bias, the pooled estimates themselves also likely have a high risk of bias. They would lack the validity and reliability required as a basis for responsible, informed decision making.

Objective findings do not support small, temporary subjective improvements

Objective measures are necessary as evidence of true effect (Kewley, 2013), but in almost all of the studies included in this review, objective measures, when considered at all, were often not statistically significant. Perhaps for this reason, objective measures were not often reported in the text of study publications. This systematic review reinforces the selective non-reporting of objective measures by de-emphasizing them in their own summaries of results.

Obfuscating the results from objective measures obscures the chance for a more accurate conclusion regarding GET and CBT interventions: that the marginal, temporary improvements in self-reported fatigue and physical functioning following GET and CBT therapies do not translate to objective improvement (Vink and Vink-Niese, 2018, 2019; Wormgoor and Rodenburg, 2021). Based on objective tests, CBT and GET are ineffective for ME/CFS, even under Oxford and Fukuda criteria.

Low-quality, non-standardized outcome measures should preclude meta-analyses

The patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) relied on in the meta-analyses are limited in their quality, relevance, and acceptability (simplicity and convenience of use): the variables that determine overall value of PROMs (Pearson, et al, 2018). A meta-analysis of multi-item PROMs used in the assessment of adults with CFS/ME by Haywood, et al. (2012) found significant methodological and quality issues in their development and evaluation, including low reliability, validity, and responsiveness. Compared to diseases with similar disease burdens, little has been done to standardize ME/CFS-specific outcome measures. Using a framework that parallels COSMIN (Consensus-based Standards for the Selection of health Measurement INstruments), Haywood, et al. (2012) conclude, "The poor quality of reviewed PROMs combined with the failure to measure genuinely important patient outcomes suggests that high quality and relevant information about treatment effect is lacking." NICE's 2020 draft guidelines include as a research recommendation: "The development of a core set of relevant health outcome measures for trials of treatments for ME/CFS and the symptom management of ME/CFS." They assert that without this set of measures, meta-analyses should not be performed:

At present there is no agreed core outcome set for ME/CFS for use in trials in the clinical effectiveness of treatments for ME/CFS or management of symptoms. Without a standardised set of validated outcome measures trials cannot be combined in meta-analysis and treatments can not be directly compared to allow clinicians to evaluate their effectiveness (NICE, 2020, section H).

In this systematic review, there is little discussion about the quality and acceptability of the patient-reported outcome measures used to assess fatigue and physical function, and yet they

are the subject of average effects, used to undergird conclusions that CBT and GET are effective 'treatments' for ME/CFS.

The Chalder Fatigue Questionnaire, one of the most frequently used instruments in the reviewed studies for measuring fatigue, suffers from limitations that are particularly noteworthy, namely low ceiling effects. Ceiling effects manifest in these trials in both bimodal and Likert scoring when participants are close to the maximum score on one or more items at baseline. As a consequence, this instrument does not capture if patients get worse through the course of the trial. Therefore the instrument does not accurately represent the severe fatigue that is required in all ME/CFS case definitions, and would especially bias data from the 25% of patients whose symptoms are most severe. A publication by Morriss, et al. (1998) examining the distribution of the 14-item Chalder Fatigue Scale in 136 CFS patients found that scores on six items ('tiredness,' 'resting more,' 'lacking energy,' 'feeling weak,' 'feeling sleepy or drowsy,' and 'starts things without difficulty but gets weaker as goes on') were highly skewed, with the majority of patients reaching the maximum score at baseline. Reviewing data from the FINE trial, Stouten (2010) calculated that between 65% and 82% of patients in the Pragmatic Rehabilitation group must have recorded the maximum score of 11 at baseline. This indicates that the Chalder Fatigue Questionnaire could not have recorded an exacerbation of fatigue in the majority of participants through the course of the trial.

High clinical heterogeneity makes pooling unacceptable

Patient participants were not similar within or between GET and CBT studies. As discussed in Part I: Applicability, using overly-broad ME/CFS diagnostic criteria dramatically impacts the validity and reliability of study findings. Systematic review authors note that the Oxford criteria in particular "classifies more patients with ME/CFS compared with more current case definitions, potentially resulting in misclassification and misleading results" (Chou, et al., 2020, p159). Prevalence varies not only across case definitions, but also across studies that use the same case definition (Brurberg et al., 2014). The 1994 Fukuda (CDC) criteria, for instance, comprises a mixed group of fatigued patients, some of whom have post-exertional malaise (PEM), and some of whom do not. For instance, in a review of 53 Fukuda studies, Jason (2014) found that the occurrence of PEM in any given patient cohort ranged from 25% to 100%—a considerable variation that would contribute to high clinical heterogeneity at the level of meta-analysis.

It is likely that exercise and CBT interventions had a variable impact on different populations within these trials, in which almost all used Oxford or Fukuda.

Patients with and without PEM likely respond differently to an exercise intervention. A significant body of evidence, including thousands of patient testimonials, indicates that GET and CBT may be harmful to this former cohort. An evidence review by Ahmed, et al. (2020) states: "Information on the occurrence of adverse/unwanted events is essential, as research conducted by Kindlon (2011) and Vink and Vink-Niese (2018) showed that over the past 20 years patients have consistently reported either no or adverse effects from these interventions."

High patient heterogeneity at the study level translates to high clinical heterogeneity in meta-analysis. The AHRQ Methods Guide states that when patient characteristics are not similar enough for an average effect to be meaningful, reviewers should consider not pooling studies (Morton, et al., 2018). If underlying effects are likely similar across subpopulations, some have suggested that pooling is acceptable, but in this evidence review, this is clearly not the case. In the Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine, Sun and Guyatt (2009) write,

Meta-analysis does not inherently secure an optimal estimation of effects of health care interventions. The results can be misleading when a meta-analysis fails to maximize the methodological rigor. For instance, pooling of the results of a set of trials that arise from an excessively broad definition of the question in terms of patients, interventions, or the way outcomes are measured may be misleading.

Within this systematic review's meta-analyses, the high clinical heterogeneity is likely to negatively affect the validity and reliability of pooled results, and render "average effects" useless and misleading. They are potentially harmful to the cohort of patients most obscured by this body of studies: the patients with PEM.

The allegiance effect significantly increases effect sizes

All studies included in this review's meta-analyses but one were conducted by researchers with an allegiance to the biopsychosocial model of ME/CFS, and to CBT and GET as effective interventions for people with ME/CFS. According to the allegiance effect, treatments favored by the investigator "tend to produce the superior outcome" (Westen, et al., 2004). This phenomenon has been studied in psychotherapeutic research for several decades.

According to Westen, et al. (2004), "Perhaps the best predictors of whether a treatment finds its way to the empirically supported list are whether anyone has been motivated (and funded) to test it and whether it is readily testable in a relatively brief format." This assertion, though humorously stated, has been supported by research. Luborsky, et al. (1999) found that allegiance alone could account for over 69% of the variance in outcome across a large set of studies, consistently yielding higher effect sizes for investigators' preferred treatments. Mediators of this effect, to which most of the reviewed CBT and GET studies are vulnerable, include differences in the way treatment and comparison conditions are designed and implemented, with the comparison conditions being implemented in a weaker form (Vink and Vink-Niese, 2019).

In validating a tool to measure researcher allegiance (RA) in psychotherapeutic studies, Yoder, et al. (2019) state that allegiance may be a factor in a study's conclusions "if the author developed the intervention, if the author provides an extensive amount of information about one intervention compared with the other(s), if the author refers to previous research showing superiority of one intervention and if the author advocates the intervention through their writing." They divide potential sources of RA into five categories:

- Effectiveness if the author(s) state the interventions are effective for the diagnosis of interest
- Superiority if the author(s) state the intervention is effective beyond other interventions for the diagnosis of interest
- Advocacy if the author advocates use of the intervention (i.e., instructs other therapists to apply the therapy for people with the diagnosis of interest)
- Development/contribution if the author(s) developed or contributed to the development or enhancement of the intervention for the diagnosis of interest
- Methodology if the author(s) was/were involved in the trial in a way that may have influenced the implementation of the intervention

When all treatments are not presented as equally viable, this can lead to significant response bias. A researcher's enthusiasm can also bias them, unconsciously or not, to overinterpret findings and overlook limitations (Wilshire, 2017). In their re-analysis of Cochrane reviews on GET and CBT, Vink and Vink-Niese (2018, 2019) found that Chalder and Wessely, Sharpe, O'Dowd, Surawy, Fulcher, Powell, Wearden, Wallman, Moss-Morris and White are all known "to have favoured the approach to the illness being tested."

There is abundant textual evidence of these researchers' allegiance to these therapies for ME/CFS, including study materials lauding their success. Materials researchers have created and shared support that they believe CBT and GET for ME/CFS to be effective and superior to other available interventions, and that they train other therapists to perform CBT for people with a ME/CFS diagnosis, fulfilling the Effectiveness, Superiority, and Advocacy criteria for researcher allegiance (Yoder et al., 2019). In addition, a significant percentage of lead authors in included studies have helped develop or modify CBT, GET, or both for people with ME/CFS, fulfilling the Development/contribution category. Finally, study authors and their trainees have been directly involved with implementation in such a way that could further bias results of the study: for example, by way of researchers coming into contact with the experimental group only, as they did in any study in which the control group was represented by patients on a waiting list, fulfilling the Methodology criteria for RA.

It is important to acknowledge, as per Yoder, et al. (2019), "RA may not be representative of a purposeful attempt to skew results as it is simply human nature to hold beliefs in ways that can compromise objectivity. However, overlooking RA could be considered a methodological issue in psychotherapy research." Researcher allegiance may affect reported results in a variety of ways; however, these effects may be abrogated through the use of clearly-defined, objective measures.

High statistical heterogeneity suggests that average effects are meaningless

Statistical heterogeneity is the variability observed in intervention effects that is due to something other than chance alone (Higgins et al., 2021, ch10). Best practice suggests that even if studies appear clinically and methodologically similar enough to be combined, "the

statistical heterogeneity can be so considerable that it does not make sense to combine the results" (Verbeek, et al., 2011). In this review's exercise and CBT meta-analyses, statistical heterogeneity is often so high that reporting the average effects of these combined trials is meaningless.

The AHRQ Methods Guide reads, "If statistical heterogeneity is very high, the investigators may question whether an 'average' effect is really meaningful or useful" (Morton, et al., 2018). In this review's meta-analysis examining the association between graded exercise and self-reported fatigue severity, at I² = 85% (Chou, et al., 2020, p30), statistical heterogeneity fell into the highest possible category according to the Cochrane handbook (Higgins, et al., 2021, ch10). Reporting on the average effect for that outcome is valueless in and of itself, even disregarding sources of bias and other limitations previously described. But this systematic review uses this average effect to underpin its core conclusions: For instance, one Key Point reads, "In adults diagnosed with ME/CFS,...graded exercise therapy (GET) was associated with decreased fatigue severity...versus inactive controls" (Chou, et al., 2020, p18).

The systematic review addresses high statistical heterogeneity through performing subgroup analyses and sensitivity analyses; yet those analyses do not inform the high-level interpretation of results reflected in Key Points, and carried to the report's conclusions. One of the most glaring examples of where information derived from sensitivity analyses should (but does not) inform the overall interpretation of results is in the GET trials analysis that excludes the outlier trial, Powell, et al. (2001).

Excluding the Powell, et al. (2001) trial reduced statistical heterogeneity considerably. Vitally, it reduced the pooled point estimate so much that one cannot say with confidence that the minimum clinically important threshold of a standardized mean difference (SMD) of 0.2 is met. The 95% confidence interval of the estimates for fatigue both at the end of the intervention and at post-intervention follow-up include values that are both below and just above this established minimum, suggesting that there is some likelihood that the improvement in fatigue for the treatment group is not clinically meaningful.

The association between GET and outcomes on function is even more dubious. The pooled estimate suggesting that graded exercise was associated with less severe functional impairment versus 'inactive control therapies' had high statistical heterogeneity and very wide confidence intervals, suggesting significant imprecision. When the Powell, et al. (2001) study is excluded, statistical heterogeneity as measured by I² decreases significantly. Importantly, the mean difference in function also drops significantly, from 11.73 to 5.89. 5.89 is well below the minimum clinically important difference, established at 10. Given the information collected through this sensitivity analysis, it is dubious to conclude that GET is associated with improved function. Only one study (of five) tips the scales to that conclusion. Excluding that study, any clinically important difference disappears.

When factoring in the high level of systematic bias pervading these trials in the direction of the treatment intervention, the high statistical heterogeneity, and the low strength of evidence review

authors assigned to this body of studies, one can only conclude that GET may or may not reduce fatigue and/or improve function: the evidence is insufficient.

The review author's interpretation of results of CBT vs. inactive controls is also vulnerable to clinical and statistical heterogeneity, high bias, and low strength of evidence. And yet these factors do not appear to inform the report's interpretations of results. This is not aligned with the Cochrane Handbook's guidance: "An overall interpretation of meta-analysis results must consider heterogeneity, sources of bias, and impactful subgroup analyses....The interpretation of the true effect needs to be seen in the context of further uncertainty resulting from those concerns" (Schunemann, et al., 2021).

An overall interpretation of meta-analysis results must consider heterogeneity, sources of bias, and utilize impactful subgroup analyses as applicable (Schunemann, et al., 2021). Methods of addressing heterogeneity might include performing a subgroup analysis or meta-regression, and its use in the formation of a meta-analysis's ultimate conclusions. However, meta-analysis ought not be performed if heterogeneity is too high and subgroup analysis is unlikely to be useful due to a limited number of studies per group, as is the case here. The statistical heterogeneity present in these studies should preclude confident statements about GET's success altogether; and authors of the review explicitly acknowledge that this is the case.

Subgroup analyses cannot solve the problem

This evidence review addressed heterogeneity by performing subgroup analyses. In its "Methods" section, review authors write, "We conducted subgroup analyses based on the inactive control type..., ME/CFS case definition, and CBT type..., and evaluated for the subgroup differences with a statistical test" (Chou, et al., 2020, p9).

Unfortunately, these subgroup analyses are neither reliable nor meaningful. First, most included a small number of studies, meaning analyses were likely underpowered. Second, the analyses likely reflect a high risk of bias, since the individual studies are at high risk of bias. An AHRQ Methods Guide reads, "Studies rated as having a high risk of bias for the main analysis of benefits or harms will also likely have a high risk of bias for subgroup analysis (Chou, et al., 2008). While some subgroup analyses find significant difference in effects, because the studies are rife with limitations and the analyses are underpowered, it is challenging to know whether those effects are truly the result of the subgroup characteristic, or something else.

Finally, these subgroup analyses are not used to inform the evidence review's interpretation of results or conclusions. As discussed in our comments regarding the outlier trial of Powell, et al. (2001), although review authors carry out subgroup analyses, they do not undertake the more difficult and necessary task of deciding how findings derived from them should inform overall interpretations and conclusions.

Conclusions drawn from meta-analyses of both GET vs. inactive controls and CBT vs. inactive controls are misleading

The systematic review concludes that GET and CBT are both beneficial treatments for adults with ME/CFS and are more effective than inactive control therapies. The review comes to these conclusions based upon the meta-analyses it conducts of both GET and CBT randomized controlled treatment trials. While the authors acknowledge certain limits on the strength of these conclusions, they present them as viable nevertheless.

In this Part IV: Interpretations of Results, it should be clear that the utility and reliability of the review's meta-analyses and subgroup analyses should be called into question. Conclusions drawn from the average of small, subjective study results—which often disappear by post-intervention follow-up and which are not supported by objective improvements—are not meaningful for ME/CFS patients' ultimate health and wellbeing. The subgroup analyses performed do not adequately address these underlying concerns. Therefore the conclusions of the review are misleading and likely put people with ME/CFS at risk of harm.

The review's inclusion of cursory statements of uncertainty about the results do not sufficiently address concerns about the validity of or confidence in the review's findings. The problems with the data in the primary studies do not justify meta-analyses of average effects as a strategy for deriving conclusions about clinical interventions for ME/CFS patients.

The results of other systematic reviews, each using a range of approaches, all support that a meta-analysis of average treatment effects of these primary studies cannot alone justify this review's conclusion that GET and CBT are beneficial treatments for people with ME/CFS.

Ahmed, et al. (2020) assessed "the methodological quality of studies on the effectiveness of GET and CBT for ME/CFS patients," as well as "studied the effectiveness of CBT and GET for ME/CFS patients, analysed the cut-off scores used for outcome measures, identified whether and which harmful events are reported in the literature and evaluated the inclusion criteria of RCTs with regard to including patients with PEM." Their systematic analysis found that "the methodological quality of the included studies was evaluated to be relatively low, as all studies were found to score an unclear or high risk in three to six of the bias categories. Thus, robust evidence to support the effectiveness of CBT and GET is lacking. The included trials showed that GET and CBT mainly were not found to be effective treatments for [ME/CFS]" (Ahmed, et al., 2020, p11).

Wormgoor and Rodenburg's (2021) systematic review of physiotherapy (i.e., GET) treatments for ME/CFS analyzed the studies and reported their results according to three distinct subgroups: RCTs with diagnostic inclusion criteria without PEM as a criterion (i.e., CF), RCTs with diagnostic inclusion criteria with PEM as an optional criterion (i.e., CFS), and RCTs with

diagnostic inclusion criteria with PEM as a required criterion (i.e., ME). Because of the limitations in the heterogeneity of comparison groups, group sizes and follow-up duration in the studies, they did not attempt to compare results and calculate effect sizes across the different treatments and diagnostic groups and instead used a narrative synthesis. They conclude that "Currently, there is no scientific evidence when it comes to effective physiotherapy treatment for ME patients diagnosed with narrow diagnostic criteria sets that include PEM. Findings indicating effectiveness of physiotherapeutic interventions for ME/CFS are mainly based on RCTs involving patients diagnosed with diagnostic criteria that do not require PEM. Possible evidence vanished when diagnostic specificity, outcome objectivity or follow-up time increased."

The CDC systematic review's conclusions—that GET and CBT offer modest improvements for the treatment of ME/CFS—are not justified by the data of the primary studies. Meta-analyses of average treatment effects across these studies—despite at times having the highest possible category of statistical heterogeneity according to the Cochrane handbook, which should abrogate the possibility of a meta-analysis—lead to the reviewers' claim that these widely disputed interventions are appropriate, safe and beneficial to people with ME/CFS.

But the differing conclusions of other systematic reviews, the balance of expert opinion, the repeated concerns from patients, the body of evidence suggesting significant biological dysfunction resulting from exertion, and the reversal of previous CDC and NICE recommendations, should lead readers and reviewers to the conclusion that these interventions are not appropriate in ME/CFS. Even within the restricted scope of this systematic review, its meta-analyses do not provide robust evidence that would justify the claim that GET and CBT are more effective than inactive controls in improving fatigue, function, and other outcomes in patients with ME/CFS.

References

Action for M.E. (2019). Research and Campaigns: Five Year Big Survey. Available from: https://www.actionforme.org.uk/research-and-campaigns/five-year-big-survey/.

Ahmed SA, Mewes JC, Vrijhoef HJM (2020). Assessment of the scientific rigour of randomized controlled trials on the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy and graded exercise therapy for patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome: A systematic review. Jour Health Psychology 25(2). Doi: 10.1177/1359105319847261.

AHRQ (2014). Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. AHRQ Publication No. 10(14)-EHC063-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Available from:

https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/cer-methods-guide overview.pdf.

Althubaiti A (2016). Information bias in health research: definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. Journal of multidisciplinary healthcare 9:211-217. Doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S104807.

Atkins D, Chang S, Gartlehner G, et al. (2011). Assessing the Applicability of Studies When Comparing Medical Interventions. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Methods Guide for Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. AHRQ Publication No. 11-EHC019-EF. Available from: https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/methods-guide-atkins.pdf.

Brurberg KG, Fonus MS, Larun L, et al. (2014). Case definitions for chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (CFS/ME): a systematic review. BMJ Open 4(2):e003973. Doi: 10.1136/bmiopen-2013-003973.

Burgess M, Chalder T (2004). Cognitive Behaviour Therapy for CFS/ME. PACE Manual for Participants. ISRCTN54285094. Available from: https://me-pedia.org/images/7/7a/PACE-cbt-participant-manual.pdf.

CDC-a: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: Symptoms of ME/CFS. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/me-cfs/symptoms-diagnosis/symptoms.html.

CDC-b: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: Etiology and Pathophysiology. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/me-cfs/healthcare-providers/presentation-clinical-course/etiology-pathophysiology.html.

CDC-c: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: Treating the Most Disruptive Symptoms First and Preventing Worsening of Symptoms. Available from:

https://www.cdc.gov/me-cfs/healthcare-providers/clinical-care-patients-mecfs/treating-most-disruptive-symptoms.html.

Chou R, Aranson N, Atkins D, et al. (2008). Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews: Assessing Harms When Comparing Medical Interventions: Assessing Risk of Bias (Quality) of Harms Reporting. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK47098/#cerguideharms.s8.

Chou R, Baker WL, Banez LL, et al. (2018). Prioritization and Selection of Harms for Inclusion in Systematic Reviews. Methods Guide for Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. Available from: https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/prioritization-selection-of-harms.pdf.

Chou R, McDonagh M, Griffin J, Grusing S (2020). Management of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS): An Updated Systematic Evidence Review (Draft). Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center, Oregon Health and Science University. Available from: https://www.regulations.gov/document/CDC-2021-0053-0001.

Clinician Coalition: U.S. ME/CFS Clinician Coalition, Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Treatment Recommendations. Available from:

https://mecfscliniciancoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/MECFS-Clinician-Coalition-Treat ment-Recs-V1.pdf.

Dimmock ME, Goodell C, Lopez-Majano D, et al. (2014). Comments on AHRQ Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review; Diagnosis and Treatment of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Available from:

https://www.meaction.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Dimmock-Spotila-Comments-on-AHRQ-Evidence-Review.pdf.

Dimmock M, Spotila J (2016). AHRQ Agrees: GET Useless, CBT Ineffective. MEAction. Available from: https://www.meaction.net/2016/08/18/ahrq-agrees-get-useless-cbt-ineffective/.

Fiedorowicz JG, Levenson JL, Leentjens AFG (2021). When is lack of scientific integrity a reason for retracting a paper? A case study. Jour Psychosomatic Research 144(110412). Doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2021.110412.

Friedberg F, Bateman L, Bested AC, et al. (2014). Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Myalgic Encephalomyelitis. Primer for Clinical Practitioners. IACFS/ME. Available from: https://growthzonesitesprod.azureedge.net/wp-content/uploads/sites/1869/2020/10/Primer_Post_2014 conference.pdf.

Geraghty K, Hann M, Kurtev S (2017). Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome patients' reports of symptom changes following cognitive behavioural therapy, graded exercise therapy and pacing treatments: Analysis of a primary survey compared with secondary surveys. Jour. Health Psychology 24(10):1318-1333. Doi: 10.1177/1359105317726152.

Geraghty K, Jason L, Sunnquist M, et al. (2019). The 'cognitive behavioural model' of chronic fatigue syndrome: Critique of a flawed model. Health Psychol Open 6(1):2055102919838907. Doi: 10.1177/2055102919838907.

Green CR, Cowan P, Elk R, et al. (2015). National Institutes of Health Pathways to Prevention Workshop: Advancing the Research on Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Annals of Internal Medicine. Doi: 10.7326/M15-0338.

Haywood KL, Staniszewska S, Chapman S (2012). Quality and acceptability of patient-reported outcome measures used in chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (CFS/ME): a systematic review. Quality of life research 21(1):35-52. Doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9921-8.

Higgins JPT, Savovic J, Page MJ, et al. (2019). Revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2). Available from:

https://drive.google.com/file/d/19R9savfPdCHC8XLz2iiMvL 71IPJERWK/view.

Higgins JPT, Savovic J, Page MJ, et al. (2021). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. Cochrane Training. Available from: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current/chapter-08.

Higgins JPT, Savovic J, Page MJ, et al. (2021). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. Cochrane Training. Available from: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current/chapter-10#section-10-10-1.

Hodges LD, Nielsen T, Baken D (2017). Physiological measures in participants with chronic fatigue syndrome, multiple sclerosis and healthy controls following repeated exercise: A pilot study. Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging 38(4):639-644. Doi: 10.1111/cpf.12460.

Hrobjartsson A, Emanuelsson F, Thomsen ASS, et al. (2014). Bias due to lack of patient blinding in clinical trials. A systematic review of trials randomizing patients to blind and nonblind sub-studies. Int J Epidemiol. 43(4):1272-1283. Doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu115.

Jason L (2014). Presentation on case definitions in ME/CFS. NIH Pathways to Prevention: Advancing the Research on Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (Day 1). Available from: https://videocast.nih.gov/summary.asp?Live=14723&bhcp=1 (1:06:53).

Jason LA, Torres-Harding S, Friedberg F, et al. (2007). Non-pharmacologic Interventions for CFS: A Randomized Trial. J Clin Psychol Med Settings 14:275-296. Doi: 10.1007/s10880-007-9090-7.

Jones DEJ, Hollingsworth KG, Jakovljevic DG, et al. (2012). Loss of capacity to recover from acidosis on repeat exercise in chronic fatigue syndrome: a case–control study. European Journal of Clinical Investigation 42(2). Doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2011.02567.x.

Joseph P, Arevalo C, Oliveira RKF, et al. (2021). Insights From Invasive Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing of Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Chest. S0012-3692(21)00256-7. Doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.01.082.

Keller BA, Pryor JL, Giloteaux L (2014). Inability of myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome patients to reproduce VO₂peak indicates functional impairment. J Transl Med 12:104. Doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-104.

Kewley AJ (2013). Does Cognitive Behavioral Therapy or Graded Exercise Therapy Reduce Disability in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Patients? Objective Measures Are Necessary. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice 20(3):321-322. Doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12042.

Kindlon T (2011). Reporting of Harms Associated with Graded Exercise Therapy and Cognitive Behavioural Therapy in Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Bull IACFS/ME 19(2):59-11. Available from: https://www.ncf-net.org/library/Reporting%20of%20Harms.htm.

Kindlon TP (2015). Rapid Response to: Tackling fears about exercise is important for ME treatment, analysis indicates. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/350/bmj.h227/rr-10.

Kirkham JJ, Dwan KM, Altman DG, et al. (2010). The impact of outcome reporting bias in randomised controlled trials on a cohort of systematic reviews. BMJ 340:c365. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.c36.

Lim E-J, Kang E-B, Jang E-S, Son C-G (2020). The Prospects of the Two-Day Cardiopulmonary Exercise Test (CPET) in ME/CFS Patients: A Meta-Analysis. Journal of Clinical Medicine 9(12):4040. Doi: 10.3390/jcm9124040.

Loades ME, Starbuck J, Chapple K (2021). CBT for CFS Therapist Manual. Royal United Hospital, Bath, UK. Available from:

https://www.ruh.nhs.uk/patients/services/clinical_depts/paediatric_cfs_me/documents/Resources for Clinicians and Healthcare Professionals/CBT for CFS Therapist Manual.pdf.

Luborsky L, Diguer L, Seligman DA, et al. (1999). The Researcher's Own Therapy Allegiances: A "Wild Card" in Comparisons of Treatment Efficacy. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice 6:95-106. Doi: 10.1093/clipsy.6.1.95.

MEAction (2019). GET And CBT Are Not Safe For ME – Summary Of Survey Results. Available from:

https://www.meaction.net/2019/04/03/get-and-cbt-are-not-safe-for-me-summary-of-survey-result s/.

Morriss RK, Wearden AJ, Mullis R (1998). Exploring the Validity of the Chalder Fatigue Scale in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. J Psychosomatic Research 45(5):411-417. Doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(98)00022-1.

Morton SC, Muran MH, O'Connor E, et al. (2018). Quantitative Synthesis—An Update. Methods Guide for Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. (Prepared by the Scientific Resource Center under Contract No. 290-2012-0004-C). AHRQ Publication No. 18-EHC007- EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Doi: 10.23970/AHRQEPCMETHGUIDE3.

NAM: National Academy of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences (2015). Beyond Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: Redefining an Illness. Available from: http://www.nationalacademies.org/hmd/Reports/2015/ME-CFS.aspx.

NCBI: National Center for Biotechnology Information (2015). Review: Beyond Myalgic Encephalomyelitis / Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: Redefining an Illness. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25695122/.

NCBI: National Center for Biotechnology Information (2016). Diagnosis and Treatment of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: July 2016 Addendum - Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK379582/.

NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2020). Myalgic encephalomyelitis (or encephalopathy) / chronic fatigue syndrome: diagnosis and management. [G] Evidence Reviews for the non-pharmacological management of ME/CFS. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-ng10091/documents/evidence-review-7. Appendices may be found in Section H, available from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-ng10091/documents/evidence-review-8.

Nuesch E, Reichenbach S, Trelle S, et al. (2009). The importance of allocation concealment and patient blinding in osteoarthritis trials: A meta-epidemiologic study. Arthritis Care and Research 61(12):1633-1641. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24894.

Page MJ, Higgins JPT, Clayton G, et al. (2016). Empirical Evidence of Study Design Biases in Randomized Trials: Systematic Review of Meta-Epidemiological Studies. PLOS ONE. Doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159267.

Pearson NA, Packham JC, Parsons H, Haywood KL (2018). Quality and acceptability of patient-reported outcome measures used to assess fatigue in axial spondyloarthritis (axSpA): a systematic review (protocol). Syst Rev 7:116. Doi: 10.1186/s13643-018-0777-7.

Powell P, Bentali RP, Nye FJ, Edwards BHT (2001). Randomised controlled trial of patient education to encourage graded exercise in chronic fatigue syndrome. BMJ 322(7283):387-390. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7283.387.

Racaniello V (2015, November 13). An Open Letter to Dr. Richard Horton and the Lancet. Virology Blog. Available from:

https://www.virology.ws/2015/11/13/an-open-letter-to-dr-richard-horton-and-the-lancet/.

Rowe PC, Underhill RA, Friedman KJ, et al. (2017). Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Diagnosis and Management in Young People: A Primer. Front Pediatr 5(121):1-44. Doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00121.

Schermuly-Haupt ML, Linden M, Rush AJ (2018). Unwanted Events and Side Effects in Cognitive Behavior Therapy. Cognitive Therapy and Research 42(3):219-229. Doi: 10.1007/s10608-018-9904-y.

Schultz KF, Chalmers I, Hayes RJ, Altman DG (1995). Empirical evidence of bias. Dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. JAMA 273(5):408-412. Doi: 10.1001/jama.273.5.408.

Schulz KF, Grimes DA (2002). Blinding in randomised trials; hiding who got what. The Lancet 359(9307):696-700. Doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07816-9.

Schunemann HJ, Vist GE, Higgins JPT, et al. (2021). Chapter 15: Interpreting results and drawing conclusions. Cochrane Training. Available from: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current/chapter-15#section-15-3.

Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, et al. (2017). AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ 358:j4008. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.j4008.

Smith, MEB (2014). Evidence Report/Technology Assessment Disposition of Comments Report: Diagnosis and Treatment of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center. Available from:

https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/related_files/chronic-fatigue_disposition-comments-2015.pdf.

Stouten B (2010). Rapid response to: Nurse led, home based self help treatment for patients in primary care with chronic fatigue syndrome: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 340:c177. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/rapid-response/2011/11/02/fatigue-scale.

Sun X, Guyatt G (2009). Meta-analysis of randomized trials for health care interventions: one for all? J Evid Based Med 2(1):53-56. Doi: 10.1111/j.1756-5391.2009.01006.x.

Tack M (2021). Comments on the CDC evidence review on ME/CFS. Available from: https://mecfsskeptic.com/comments-on-the-cdc-evidence-review-on-me-cfs/.

van Campen CLMC, Visser FC (2021). Comparing Idiopathic Chronic Fatigue and Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS) in Males: Response to Two-Day Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing Protocol. Healthcare 9(6):683. Doi: 10.3390/healthcare9060683.

Verbeek JH, Ruotsalainen J, Hoving JL (2011). Synthesizing study results in a systematic review. Scand J Work Environ Health 38(3):282-290. Doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3201.

Vermeulen RC, Vermeulen van Eck IWG (2014). Decreased oxygen extraction during cardiopulmonary exercise test in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. Journal of Translational Medicine 12:20. Doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-20.

Vink M, Vink-Niese A (2018). Graded exercise therapy for myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome is not effective and unsafe. Re-analysis of a Cochrane review. Health Psychology Open Jul-Dec 2018:1-12. Doi: 10.1177/2055102918805187.

Vink M, Vink-Niese A (2019). Cognitive behavioural therapy for myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome is not effective. Re-analysis of a Cochrane review. Health Psychology Open Jan-Jun 2019:1-23. Doi: 10.1177/2055102919840614.

Viswanathan M, Patnode C, Berkman ND, et al. (2017). Assessing the Risk of Bias in Systematic Reviews of Health Care Interventions. Methods Guide for Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. (Prepared by the Scientific Resource Center under Contract No. 290-2012-0004-C). AHRQ Publication No. 17(18)-EHC036-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Doi: 10.23970/AHRQ EPC MATHGUIDE.

Wearden AJ, Morriss RK, Mullis R, et al. (1998). Randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled treatment trial of fluoxetine and graded exercise for chronic fatigue syndrome. Br J Psychiatry 172:485–90. Doi: 10.1192/bjp.172.6.485.

Wearden AJ, Riste L, Dowrick C, et al. (2006). Fatigue Intervention by Nurses Evaluation – The FINE Trial. A randomised controlled trial of nurse led self-help treatment for patients in primary care with chronic fatigue syndrome: study protocol. BMC Med 4:9. Doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-4-9.

Wearden AJ, Dowrick C, Chew-Graham C, et al. (2010). Nurse led, home based self help treatment for patients in primary care with chronic fatigue syndrome: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 340:c1777. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.c1777.

Westen D, Novotny CM, Thompson-Brenner H, et al. (2004). The empirical status of empirically supported psychotherapies: assumptions, findings, and reporting in controlled clinical trials. Psych Bull 130(4):631-663. Doi: 10.1037%2F0033-2909.130.4.631.

White PD, Goldsmith KA, Johnson AL, et al. (2011). Comparison of adaptive pacing therapy, cognitive behaviour therapy, graded exercise therapy, and specialist medical care for chronic fatigue syndrome (PACE): a randomised trial. The Lancet 377(9768):823-836. Doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60096-2.

Williams JB, Popp D, Kobak KA, Detke MJ (2012). The power of expectation bias. European Psychiatry 27(1):1. Doi: 10.1016/S0924-9338(12)74807-1.

Wilshire C (2017). The problem of bias in behavioural intervention studies: Lessons from the PACE trial. J Health Psychology 22(9):1128-1133. Doi: 10.1177/1359105317700885.

Wilshire C, Kindlon T, Matthees A, McGrath S (2017). Can patients with chronic fatigue syndrome really recover after graded exercise or cognitive behavioural therapy? A critical commentary and preliminary re-analysis of the PACE trial. Fatigue: Biomedicine, Health & Behavior 5(1):43-56. Doi: 10.1080/21641846.2017.1259724.

Windthorst P, Mazurak N, Kuske M, et al. (2017). Heart rate variability biofeedback therapy and graded exercise training in management of chronic fatigue syndrome: An exploratory pilot study. Jour Psychosomatic Research 93:6-13. Doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.11.014.

Wormgoor MEA, Rodenburg SC (2021). The evidence base for physiotherapy in myalgic encephalomyelitis / chronic fatigue syndrome when considering post-exertional malaise: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. J. Transl. Medicine 19(1):1. Doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02683-4.

Yoder WR, Karyotaki E, Cristea IA, et al. (2019). Researcher allegiance in research on psychosocial interventions: meta-research study protocol and pilot study. BMJ Open 9(2):e024622. Doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024622.

Recommendation Co-signers

The following **7,209** members of the myalgic encephalomyelitis (ME) community support #MEAction's criticism of this systematic review as fundamentally flawed and urge the CDC not to publish or proceed with finalizing it in any form.

E A
Anitha Aadireddy
Mari Aalto
Kristine Aanrud
Hilde Aareskjold
Stine Aasheim
Ashe Abbott DiBlasi
Colin Abboud
Yaser Abdallah
Diane Abdo
James Abdo

Jessica Abdo Whetstine

Christel Abeille Mary Helen Abel María Luisa Abellán Kerstin Aberle

Mike Abdo

Wil ABert

Michele Abplanalp Sarah Abraham Cristian Abreus

MOUHAMMAD ABU RASHEED Jelena Ačanski Jonathan Ackley Tammy Ackley andy acosta Aiden Adams Anne Adams

David Adams Emily Adams Judith Adams Kayla Adams Lora Adams Pippa Adams

Chloe Adams

Rachel Adams
Ryan Adams
Sarah Adams
Elo adams

Ferin Adams-Waneka Melissa Addison Jeffrey Adesanya Kevin Adler Michelle Adler

Petra Adler
LIEVE ADRIAENSEN
Christopher Afford
Margaret Afford
Susanna Agardy
Sara Agarwal
Charlotte AGBATE

Marie-Christine AGBATE Rebecca Agee David Ager Rory Agey tancred agius

David Agosto-Ginsburg Heather Ahasic Nicola Ahel

Michael Ahl Karima Ahmed Peter Ahmed Ruth Ainley Lucy Ainsley jose maria aires Khelidja Ait Ouali Jeffrey Aitken

Jim Akers

Sabrina Akins
Sandrine Al
Marnie Alban
Susanna Alban
Audrey Albert
Barbara Albin
Amy Albracht
Kimberly Albring
JP Albritton

JP Albritton
Sandrt Aldrich

JAMES ALEXANDER
Caitlin Alexander
Chantal Alexander
Fallon Alexander
S Alexander
Ellie Alexandra

Hélène Alexandre

Morales Gramajo Alfinda

Rabiya Ali
Andre Alidadi
Alastair Allan
Alexandra Allen
Angelina Allen
Ashlee Allen
Beth Allen
Jessie Allen
Kalani Allen
Leanne Allen
Neva Allen
Rachael Allen
Tamzin Allen

Michael Allen, Ph.D.
Bret Allenbach
Caroline Allison
Rachel Allison
Marisa Allred
marie alma
Kajsa Almgren
Maria almgren
Sofia Almquist
Gillian Alonso
Juan José Alonso
Tomás Alonso Márquez

Charlie Alpert
Eva Alsmann
Louisa Althans
Samantha Alvarado
Teresa Álvarez
Kine Alveskog
Karin Alvtegen

Rebecca Alway-Cooper

Page 44

Lucina Alwyb Gabriel Amadej Kathleen Aman Pablo Amann Nicolette Amato Maj Ambrozic Helene Amendt Frankie Amero

Jo Amidon Shira Amir

Marion Ammerlaan

John Amodio Katie Amodio iohn amodio Morel Anabel Patricia Anacker Leili Anassori Michal Anassori Carlotta Anava Kenneth Anbender Amanda Andersen

Frøya Andersen Kamilla Andersen Mette Marie Andersen Rasmus Andersen SUZANNE ANDERSON Alex Anderson

Anne Anderson Bianca Anderson Blair Anderson Chloe Anderson **David Anderson Demeter Anderson** Ellis Anderson Henry Anderson

Isabel Anderson Judith Anderson Lara Anderson Maureen Anderson Mikila Anderson Rebecca Anderson Rose Anderson Trent Anderson Stefan Andersson

Stålhandske

Lonneke Andeweg

Barbro S E Andersson

Jorunn langås Andreassen Unn-Elin Andreassen Elizabeth Andres Sarah Andres

Marianne Andresen SERIEVE M. ANDREWS

Lc Andrews Aner Anduaga Ragnhild Andvik Hilary Anema tim anfilogoff Susan Angel

Termini Angela Michelle Angelico Irina Angerer Anne Anne Wilson Gry Antonsen Maxime Anvari

Colette Aragones

Arielle Arama Mia Arana Mia Arana

Ana María Arango Parra

Denise Arbery Jennifer Arcenia Adrienne Archambeau Charlotte Archer Javier Arco Monica Ardila Pamela Ardizzone Kiell Arendsen Jeanne Arfanis Alexandra Arlot Liene Armee Chupin Armelle Ivy Armstrong

Tiffany Armstrong tierney armstrong

Claire Louise Armstrong Brealey Clair Arnaudy Amelia Arneson Yvonne Arnold Kristen Arold-Bender

Heidi Aronsen Katherine Arrandale

Monica Arranz Anika Arrington **Brittany Arthur** Yosuke Asano Katherine Ash Jamie Ashe Katht Ashe

Catherine Ashenfelter Veronica Ashenhurst

Sarah Ashmead Ben Ashmore Holly Ashmore Rebecca Ashton Sara Ashton

Ann-Sophie Aspelmeier

Harriet Aspin Aria Assad

Cassandra Atchley Catherine Atherton Jarad Atkinson Martha Atkinson Michael Atkinson Sara Atkinson Kelly Atteberry

Masny Aude Sophie Audsley Ruthie Augustein Ivan Augustin Lee Aula Deu Aurelie Cari Austin bobbi Ausubel Ruthann Auten Elizabeth Aven **Deborah Averette** Elizabeth Avery Hannah Avery Linda Avery

Caroline AvironMm

Anne Avez

Nicole Avila

Alan Avis Angie Avis Marie Axelsson Rannveig Axfjord Helen Axford Christine Ayabe **Emilee Ayers** Virginia Ayers Sophie Aylmore Sue Avoub

Severine Azalbert Michael Ann Azoulai

Aimee B Eli B JΒ Quinn B Julia Baader Fleur Baarli

Kaylan A. Baban, MD

MPH

Grace Babcock Rachel Babe Gloria Baca Jordan Bacheldor

Ruth Bachrach Deirdre Backhouse Jennifer Bacon

Kimmie Bacon Judith Bader Diane Baek

Gabriela Rivas Baez

Arwa Bager Joy Bagley Holly Bahn **Elaine Bailey** Janelle Bailey Janine Bailey Malcolm Bailey Mavis Bailey Morgana Bailey Rebecca Bailey Savannah Bailev Meghan Bain Tatiana Bainbridge Tamara Baird Justin Bajema Don Baken

HelenMartina Baker Kimberley Baker Lauren Baker Nicola Baker Shirley Baker Rikki Baker Keusch Amy Bakewell Gail Bakken

Leah Baken

Adina Baker

Juane Bakken
Justin Bakken
Larry Bakken
Shawn Bakken
Don Balanoff
Kathryn Baldi
Laura Baldwin

Gail Bakken

Nathan Baldwin-Brown Jennifer Andrews Balfour

Jolanda Balk
Felicity Ball
Natasha Ball
Élodie Balland
Christine Ballantine
Elizabeth Ballantine
Ellen Balledux
Christina Baltais

Aleksandra Baltrusaitis

Mary Balzamo Alice Ban Mirena Bandic ReAnne Baniqued Kara Banister Alyssa Barbary Tino Barbati

Tino Barbati
Nicola Barber
Terry Barber
Etel Barborka
Nancy Barclay
Robyn Barcomb
Erika Bardot
Jennifer Bardsley
Jessica Bardzil
Morris Barer
Janet Barker
Jeanette Barker
Kate Barker
Mary Barker

Mary Barker
Matt Barker
Siobhan Barker
Ashley Barkocy
Julie Barlow
Jen Barnard
Hannah Barnes
Kirsty Barnes
Martin Barnes

Martin Barnes
Matthew Barnes
Philippa Barnes
Valerie Barnes
Doyle Barnett
Jackson Barnett
Marie Barnfield
Miranda Barnhouse

Jade Barr Julian Barr Lindy Barr-Batdorf

Diana Barrachina Steve Barragar Bianca Barrameda Marie Barrault Charlotte Barret Raechel Barrett Amy Barron Zoey Barron Angela Barry

Angela Barry
Chelsea Barry
Mary Barson
Chapin Bartlett
Mairnan Barton
Carollynn Bartosh
Audra Bartsch

Lynn Bartz Benny Bascom Ana Bashford Elaine Baskerville Elizabeth Bassnett

Julie Basso elisa batale Lars Batchelder Dawn Batchelor Avril Bates Melinda Bates Sean Bates Clare Bateson Ann Batey Susan Battle Blythe Battram Karl Baty

Catherine Bauer
Diane Baum
Kathleen Baum
Terry Baum
Morgan Bauman
Carina Baumann
Christina Baumann
Rebecca Baumgartner

Antony Baxter
Sheila Baxter
rithika bayipati
Nikita Baylis
Christian Bayne
Theresa Baynham
Akin Bayram
Emilio Baztarrica
Dawid Bazylewicz
Emma Beard
Lisa Beard
Lyn Beasant
Lea Beattie

Rhett Beattie
Olivia Beatty
Suzanne Beaudoin
Carly Beaumont
Siobhan Beaumont
Charlyne Beaune
Ana Becerra
Kathleen Beck
Susanne Beck
Tony Beck
Greta Becker
Kelly Becker

Linda Becker

Samantha Beckwith Ed Bedrosian Lauren Bedrosian Mary Beth Bedrosian Hannah Beels Mary Lou Beemer Adriaan Been Sarah Been Francesca Beer Alyssa Befumo Maryline Bégagnon K Saige Behart Kate Behrend Jackie Beierlein Iris Beilschmidt Johan Bekker Kathleen Belan Catherine Belanger Daniel Bélanger Robert Belew

Millions Missing Belgique

Eva Beliaeff Abbey Bell Adam Bell Alexandria Bell Barbara Bell Chris Bell Devon Bell Jeana Bell Jessica Bell Nikki Bell Rita Bell Virginia Bell Teresa Bellinger **Chantal Bellmont** Natalie Belmonte Teresa Belsten Victoria Beltz Amélie Belval

Darian Bemis

Tania Benade

Rachel Bender

Jette Bendixen

Zsuzsanna Bendli
Erin Benedict
Barbro Benedictsson
Heather Benfield
Ida Bengtsson
Annika Benker
Sage Bennet
Alphonse Bennett

Jennifer Bennett
Karin Bennett
Kristen Bennett
Corien Bennink
Anne-Marie Benson
Cheryl Benson
Gerry Benthein
Michael Benthein
Elias Bentlage
Claure Bentley
Cathy Benton
Laura Benton
Lance Bercan
Margriet Berents

Amy Beresford
Natasha Berg
Carolin Berger
Michelle Berger
Nicholas Berger
Rita Berger
alyssa berger
Daniel Bergerac
Kathryn Bergeron Games

Ann Bergmann
Kurt Bergstedt

David Bergstedt
David Bergstrom
Malin Bergström
Jennifer Bering
Myriam Berleur
Jane Berman
Pacey Berman
Claire Bernard
Nitosha Berndsen
Katrina Berne
Heather Berrier
Julia Berrios
Christine Berry
Kathy Berry
Sophie Berryman

Ann-Kristin Bertheussen L Bertrand Sandrine Besnard jacques bessias Becky Best Hilary Best Kit Best Margaret Best Buff Bethlen Fabia Maria Bettle

Elke Betz
Tanya Beverley

Karli Bewza
Lianne Beyerl
Divya Bhat
Asha Bhuyan
Niko Bialek
Christina Bible
Cassie Biblehimer
Lisa Bickelmayer
Karen Biddix

Katherine Bienvenu Amaia Biewen Mary Bifulco gill bigglestone Anna Biggs Yvette Bijsterbosch

Anna Biggs
Yvette Bijsterbosch
Anna Billing
Jenny Billings
Galadriel Billington
Whitney Bingham
Sean Bingley
Carol Binks
Rebecca Binns
Sarah Jane Bird
Suzanne Bird

Suzanne Bird tenna birdsong Marte Birkeland helen birkett Tyler Birkey Angela Birnie **Edward Bisits** Susan Bisson Sylvie Bissonnette Anna Elisa Bitsadze Aleksander Bjune Liv Anne Bjurgren Louise Blaavand Caraline Black Kate Black Kayden Black Amelle Blackley Augie Blackman Cynthia Blackmon

Thomas Blackshire Sophie Blain Alexander Blaine Andrew Blake Shass Blake Rhiannon blake Bea Blakely Emily Bland Hazel Bland Jennifer Bland Gemma Blaney Elisabeth Blank Katrina Blank

Nathalee Blankendaal John Blankenship Phyllis Blankenship Sinne Blanné Zig Blanguer Nancy Blasingame

Rose Blau

Cassandra Blazer Pedro Blazquez Valero

Alexandra Blees Julie Blemont Sarah Blenkinsopp Winston Blick Marie Josee Blier Victoria Blikshavn

Lee Block Hellen Bloemen Anita Blom

Karsten Blomstrand

Sonja Blonk Susan Bloodworth Clare Blowers Cory Blue Kvrie-Inn Blue Mara Blumenthal Caroline Blumer Carine Bobin Steph Bochenek Annette Boe

Astrid Boeckmann Wiebke Boeckmann

E. Boenders Renate Boersma Wilma Boessenkool Holly Bohannan Coral Bohne Virginia Böhringer Elizabeth Boies Meagan Bojarski Obren Bokich Francesca Bolt Jillian Bona Gemma Bonada

Gemma Bonada Jacqueline Bonass

Helen Bond Stephanie Bond Danielle Bongiovanni

Mark Bonnar Jennifer Bonnardel Suzanne Bonta Catherine Bony Alisa Boock Libby Boone Caroline Boonen Andrew Booth Annora Borden Louise Boreham

Lori Borgen Dr. Robert Borger Diego Borghetti Marie Borgnes Mette Borlaug Linda Borm Diane Boross Cheri Borsky Adrielle Boschma Virginie Bossière Anja Bostelmann

Miriam Bot Rebecca Botelho Harmonie Botella Elena Böttger Sabine Botzler Sasha Boucheron Christine BOUCHUT Anna Boughton Matthew Bourassa

Robin Bourgeois Charlie Bourin

Ab Bourner réjean bourque Anne Bowen **April Bowers**

April Bowers-Gabaldon

Brenda Bowles Kristin Bowles KAREN BOWMAN Erinna Bowman Josephine Bowman Matthew Bowman Brendan Boyd Dylan Boyd Jordan Boyd linda Boyd

Elijah Boyd-Plamondon

Brittany Boyer Jan Boyer

Aisling Boyle Laura Boyles Kacee Boysun bahtiyar bozkurt Ninon Bozzetto Jan-Erik Braaten Kelly Bradbury Rose Bradford Satara Bradford Helene Bradley Jonathan Bradley Kasey Bradley Melissa Bradley Stacy Bradley Debra Bradshaw Victoria Bradshaw Anthony Bradstock Annetta Brady

Beate Braendle Jane Brander Rasmussen

Malene Brandshaug Christine Brandt Katarina Brandt Katia Brandt Martine Brandt Bruno Brangea Camille Brangea Geoffrey Brangea Laurence Brangea Megan Branham Aiden Bratton

Turid Bratvoldengen

Karin Brauchli

Theresa Braunegger

Mara Bravo Bailey Bray Jordan Bray

Michavla Brazelton Colin Brazier Amy Breakwell Hrvoje Brecic Astrid Breda Waters Breedlove Melissa Breen Sarah Breen Harriet Breeze Ellinor Brenemark Daria Brenner Martin Brentnall Andrew Bretherton Nolwenn Breton

Page 48

Claudia Breu
Carl Breving
Angela Brewood
Leah Brey
Patti Brick

Patti Brick
Nat Bricker
Sandra Briddon
Ben Bridges
Valerie Bridges
Angela Bridgewater
Emma Bridson

Linda Bright Suzanne Bright Elisabeth Brinch

Emma Briere

Juanita Bright

Sonja Brinkhoff Sophie Brisker Chantal Britt Laura Brockway Victoria Brodie Ciera Brodowski Sarah Brodsky Carrie Broida

Eileen Brokaw
Christina Brooker
Elizabeth Brooks
Michelle Brooks
Alistair Broomhead
Emily Brossard
Cheryl Brost

Abby Brothers Tracey Brothers Les Brough

Shannon Broughton

Alice Brown Amanda Brown Andrea Brown Andrew Brown

Annette Brown Claire Brown Colwill Brown Darren Brown Darren Brown Destiny Brown Emory Brown

Hannah Brown
Jacqueline Brown
Jean Brown
Jeanine Brown
Jonathan Brown

Kimberly Brown Krystal Brown Laura Brown Leslie Brown Mali Brown

Mali Brown
Marielle Brown
MaryAnne Brown
Micah Brown
Michele Brown
Nicolle Brown
Pat Brown
Riley Brown
Sabrina Brown
Shawna Brown

Stuart Brown Tina Brown

Alejandra Browne
Alice Browne
Peter Browne
Kelly Brownell
Alex Bruce
Carole Bruce
Fiona Bruce
Joanne Bruce
Katy Bruce
Michelle Bruce
Sabrina Bruce

Michael Brückner

Désirée Bruggema Nathalie

Nathalie
Brüggemann-Ruck
Carrie Bruin
Kaela Brunner
Brigitte Bruschwitz
stephen bryan
Sue Bubnash
Julie Buchan
Laura Bucholtz
David Buck

David Buck Sophie Buck Sven Buck Christopher Buckman

Anita Bucknall Robert Buechel Manuela Bugenhagen

Simone Bühring Brandon Buie Emmarose Buis Nadia Buiter Brandy Bulock Sabrina Bulotta Inès Bulteau
India Bundock
Karin Bundy
Francisca Bunge
Sophia Bunk
Marie Burcham
Renee Burdge
Christina Burg
Andrew Burgess
Scott Burgess
Tracey Burgess
Denise Burgy
David Burian
Sue Burke

Liz Burlingame elizabeth b burlingame

elizabeth b burling Gillian Burnell Kelley Burnett Beth Burniche Arran Burnley Brittany Burns Lydia Burns Rowan Burns stephen burns Amanda Burridge Susan Burridge DeAnn Burris Adin Burroughs Justin Burrows

Justin Burrougns
Justin Burrows
Rachel Burry
louise burton
Mina Busby
Heather Busch
Lesley Bush
Susan Bush
Dennis Bushey
Tianna Bushman
Tone Busk

Fiona Bussev

Chris Butler
Deanne Butler
Elila Butler
Glenna Butler
Sandra Butler
Lorraine Butter
Meredith Butterworth
Kimberly Buxton

Kimberly Buxton
Jana Buzolic
Nina Buzolić
Sarah By
Lili Byers

Hannah Byers-Straus Audrianna Bylilly Michaela Byrd Rich Byrd Cat C Fiona C СС 0.0 Waverly C.

Javier Caballero Ascensión Cabrera Helene CADOT Joan Caelli Matthew Caffrey Sih-Ting Cai Xinyi Cai Karen Cain Margo Cairns Adriana Cajiao Anna Calame Mara Calame Richard Calame Sarah Calame Jen Calder

Louise Caldicott

Will Caldwell

Jennifer Caldwell

Dianne Caldwell-Kuffert

Thomas Caleshu Alexis Calhoun Cassandra Calhoun Danielle Calkins

Patricia Calkosz Meghan Callaghan Jennifer Callegari Hanna Callerstig

Krista Callinan

Sally Callow Corinne Calvès Jennifer Calvo Adrian Camacho Jov Camburn Rebekah Camden Inmaculada Camello **Dorothy Camenzind**

Charlie-Thistle Cameron Melissa Cameron

Sandra Cameron sharon cameron

Mark Camenzind

Anne Camier

Laia Camins

Kelsey Cammarano Kelsey Cammarsno

Rose Camp Denise Campbell Kara Campbell Laura Campbell

Lori Campbell Natasha Campbell Nicola Campbell Suzanne Campbell Cherish Campos Barbara Camwell

Elvira Cañada Elisa Canal Roger Canders

Maree Candish Giovanni Cannon Michelle Cannon Tannina Cantale Christine CANTIE

Christie Capin Kristen Capling Mark Capoferri Ana Carabias

Julia Cape

Birgit Carbone Amie Carden Anastasia Carden Rachael Carder

J Caris

Sophie Carkulis

Jennifer Carl Miriam Carl **Keith Carley** Kit Carlier Kristi Carlson Patricia Carlson Valerie Carlson

Ann-Charlotte Carlsson Lisette Carlsson wolff

Sarah Carlus Stephen Carlus Theresa Carlus Ted carlus

Labayen Carmen Natalie Carmen iordan carnegie **David Carneiro**

Sarah Carney-Anderson

Raul Carnota

Rosalind Carol Jordan Carpenter Karla Carpenter **Kerry Carpenter**

Jenny Carr S Carr

Sara Carrabs Isabel Carrasco iessica carreño Claudia Carrera **Daniel Carrier** Dean Carrier

Maria Victoria Carrillo

Garcia

Alfred Carroll Elizabeth Carroll Laura Carroll Richard Carroll harriet carroll Jackie Carruthers James Carson Jodi Carson Lucky Carson Stephen Carson Britta Carstensen Christiane Carstensen

George Carter Judith Carter Leslie Anne Carter Linda Carter

Stephanie Cartmill

Catherine Marie Cartwright

Monica Carugatti Clare Carvalho Emma Carvell Pauline Carvell Allison Casanova Kim Casault

Ethel Casev Lisa Casey Sylvie CASINO Laurens Caspers MAURA CASSIDY Ruth Castellanos Alison Castillo Francisco Castillo Marisela Castillo Chloe Castro

r Catana Canan Catchpole

Jason Cataldi

Lina Cavallin Lotta Cavallin

Ann Cavanagh Kramer

Alex Cavazos
Andrew Cawdell
Carissa Ceasor
Grace Cebrero
Fabio Cecchinato
Katarina Cederlund
Anita Cederqvist
Belinda Cella
Quinton Celuzza
Jodi Center

Monika Lys Cerda y

colomina
Natalie Chabot
Marie Chadburn
Melody Chai
Benjamin Chaim
Alexander Chalcraft

Jill Chalcraft

Belinda Chambers
Jennifer Chambers
Jordan Chambers
Paul Chambers
Ryan Chambers
Tim Chambers
Barry Chambers
Devin Champion

Randi Chance Fen Chande

Brianna Champlin

HEATHER CHANDLER

Louise Chandler **Beatrice Chaney Emily Chaney** Sherene chaney Ginger Chanfrau Izzy Chang Nic Chang Marco Chao Mary Chapin Joe Chapman Martin Chapman **Bayleigh Chappel** Eva Charalambides Ropers Charlene **Belle Charles** Terri Charles

Jennifer Charlesworth

C. Charlotte

Edward Charlton Fiona Charlton Lisa Charman Lisa Chase Alicia Chatterton

Joanne Chatterton Rebecca Chaudhuri Lynn Chealander Katia Chel

Murali Chemuturi Song Chen

Judith Cheney Sarah Cheney Phil Chernin Eli Chi

Masayo Chiba
Salome Chikviladze
Angie Chilmaza
Masami Chin
Marissa Ching
Anacleto Chiquero
Beatriz Chiquero
Esther Chiquero
M.Jesus Chiquero
Tifenn Chiquet
Kevin Chirnside

Romana Chmelíčková Tresa Cho

Naga Choegyal Mollie Cholette Nicholas Chonko Brigitte CHORLIET

Elisabeth Chouinard Joanna Choules Jan Choutka

Elizabeth Chow
David Chowcat
Fran Chris
robert christ
Ansley Christell
Hilde Christensen
Georgia Christenson

Caroline Christian
Flora Christian
Lene Christiansen
Maureen Christiansen
Susanne Christiansen

Zoe Christianson
Antoinette christie
Helen Chrystall
DANIEL Chulpayev

Al Chung

Adele Churcher
Hannah Churchward
Elizabeth Chuter
Maria Cianci
Donna Cinelli
Donna Cinelli
Julia Cinnamon
Peloux Circée
Diana Cisneros

Leanne Claire Civiletti

Barbara Clare
Rebecca Clare
Casey Clark
Erdene Clark
Jennifer Clark
Joey Clark
Laura Clark
Loreny Clark
Mallory Clark
Robin Clark
Samantha Clark
Emily Clarke
Fiona Clarke
Jennifer Clarke
Lydia Clarke

Vanessa Clarke-Amador

Anna Clarkson Claudia Claudia Laura Claus

Susan Clarke

Christopher Clauson JEAN CLAUSSEN

Noni Clay Anna Clayton Lex Clearwater Ralitsa Clemens Laura Clemente Barry Clements Katie Clemishaw Maxime Clerc Sophie Clerc

MICHAEL CLEVELAND Maureen Cleveland

Ben Clewley Claire Clewley Ellen Cliff

Rose Anne Clifford tracey clifford Cortney Cline Luke Clitherow

L Close Jeff Coan Jenovesia Coari **Keith Coates** Rachel Coates **Bethany Coats-Topel** Jonathan Coble Nathan Coburn **Emily Cochran** Sylvia Cockburn Jennifer Cockrell Carrie Coddington Paul Coddington Katherine Code Reves Coderch Molly Coffey Paola Coffey Barbara Cohen Marc Cohen Susan E Cohen Valentina Cohen Sharon cohen Lisa Colbeck Ivv Cole Meredith Cole Renee Coleiro Ashley Coleman Fiona Coleman Karin Coleman Victoria Coles Valerie Collet Kathy Collett Jo Collier Adrienne Collins Ash Collins Jeffrey Collins Jenny Collins

Adrienne Collins
Ash Collins
Jeffrey Collins
Jenny Collins
Kyrene Collins
LaLonna Collins
Lane Collins
Lucinda Collins
Rochelle Collins
Diane Colman
Hisashi Colman
Jane Colon-Bonet
Simon Colton
Alessia Colucci
Angela Colucci
Rosalind Combes
Nancy Commella

Lori Compagnino

Alix Comtet Jane Comyns Rebecca Conchie Andrea Conde Kelly Conder Carolyn Conklin Amy Conley Fiona Conn Heidi Connahs Ciara Connaire **AMY CONNEELY** Ellie Connell Jack Connella Julie Connella Joe Connolly Margaret Connor

Emily Conradt Margaret Conroy-Healy Rachel Conry Corinne Consani

Laurel Conover

Claire Content
Stephanie Contino
Alexandra Cook
Joan Cook
Sylvia Cook
Carol Cooke
lan Cookson

Jennifer Coombes

Krista Coombs Shaquile Coonce Bee Cooper Corey Cooper Cynthia Cooper **Emily Cooper** Robin Cooper Sky Cooper Tanva Cooper West Cooper Sharin cooper Emma Copeland **Bridget Copley** Clare Copley Chanelle Coppel Cindy Coppel Briana Coppell

Elizabeth Corbett Charlene Corbin Vivianni Cordeiro de

Sousa Santos

Henk Coppes

Cathryn Cordella
Alex Cordes
Remy Cornelisse
Viviane Cornelisse
Marie Cornellier
Tom Corney
Laura Cornwall
KAREN CORNWELL
Russell Corriette
Anne Corris
Céline Corsius
Isabella Corsius
Lou Corsius
Tahirih Corvin

Maria Costa
María Costa Bea
Sharon Costanza
Geoff Costeloe
Helene Cote
Helene Cote
Sandra Cotnoir
Mikaila Cottee-Brown
Christina Cotter
Kari Cotton

Kathleen Cosman

Dan Cos

Stacey Couch Carole Coulson Valerie Coulton Armelle Coupeau Sally Courtney Charlotte Cousin Stefaan Coutereel Hermine Couvreur Jane Coventry Pagan Cowan Kristina Cowen David Cowern Catherine Cox Claire Cox Jennifer Cox Meeyah Cox Pamela Cox Stephen Cox Linda Coy Linda Coy **Brandon Coyle** Jess Covle Joshua Coyle

Camilla Cracchiolo, RN

maura coyle

Leigh Craigmyle **Emma Crane** Erica Crane Karen Crane Milly Cranfield **Betty Cravens Beverly Crawford** Rebecca Creighton Laura Crespán

Els Crick **Anelie Crighton** Beatrijs Crijnen

Karyn Crimmin Tristan Crippen Hannah Crocker Catherine Cronin John Cronin

Melissa Cronin Micheal Crooks Season Crooks **Evan Cross** Victoria Cross

Delaney Crossan Elizabeth Crouch Sable Crouch rhianna croucher

Wende Crow Cecile Cruciani Kristen Crummett

Paco Cruz Paco Cruz

Bernard Cubaynes Pauline Cubié Amy Cuddeback Michael Cugley Marjolein Cuijpers Rebecca Culbertson Janessa Culliford Diane Cullimore Rebecca Culp

Hanna-Liisa Culverwell Kirt Cundick PhD Carmel Cunningham Jessica Cunningham Sharon Cunningham

Emily Current Dallas Currie Selina Currie Laura Cursack Hannah Curtis

Rosa maria Cusachs

Gonzalez

Joseph Custodio Carmen Cutler Teri Cutting Matthew Cvengros

Joel Cyr Mireille Cyr Olivia Cyr Peter Cyr

Elizabeth Czermerys

Blue D Melissa D

Carita D'agostini Joanne D'Andrea Elizabeth D'Elia Marisa D'Ercole Monique D'Hooghe Leon d'Oliveira

Carina Da Rocha Naufel

Giada Da Ros Wil Daams Luna Daguers Iselin Dahl

Tor Dahl

Sibylle Dahrendorf

Tara Daily Lisa Daines Deborah Dakin Matthew Dalby Monica Dalby Lucy Dale

Joanna Daley Laura Dalev Tilly Dalglish Darius Dali

Silvana Dalla Benetta Libbi Dallas

Julia Dalton Michelle Dalton Clare Daly Richard Daly **Gregory Dames** Mariann Damlien SJL Damsma Veronica Dane **Robert Danekas** Ashanti Daniel Claire Daniel

Sabine Daniel Sarah Daniel

Helen Daniels Berit Danielsen Cynthia Daniska Lauren Daniska Michael Daniska Scott Daniska Chris Danna Hella Danzer Marc Daoust Mary Darago Lino Darchun

Kayla Darling DARRELL DARRELL

BRADBY Marion Date Abu Bakar Daud Noah Daughhetee **Emily Davenport** Todd Davenport Stephen Davey Ed Davids

Jessica Davidson

JD Davids

A Davies Dee Davies Elizabeth Davies Rhianne Davies Shennae Davies Sian Davies william davies

David Davies-Payne

Eleanor Davin

Barbara Davis Barbara Davis **Brittany Davis** Jennifer Davis Karla Davis Lisa Davis Marama Davis Natalie Davis Paul Davis Ronald W Davis Charlotte Dawe Peter Dawe

Pearl Daws Alexandri Dawson Carolyn Dawson Allyson Day Caroline Day Eli Day

Kaylee Dawicki

Joakima Day Kyrie Day M Dayal

Charlene Dazols
Gunther De Bock
Marloes de Boer
Nicola De Boo
Peter De Bosscher
Begoña de Burgos
Silvia De Cia

Silvia De Cia El De Coen

Sharaima De Cuba Rogério de Freitas Anouk de Graaf E.A. de Graaf Inge de Graaf Anne de Groot Hilde De Gruyter Geertje De Haeck A.N. de Hooge Jan de Jong Lenneke de Jong

E De Jonge Margaret de la Torre Toral

Marijke de Jong

Tim de Jong

Griet De Lanoo Saskia de Leeuw Jorge De Leon Dana De Luz Erica de Mars

Erica de Mars
Alexandra De Moor
Sylvia De Moor
Louise De Pino
Marloes de Regt
Louise De Rous
Martine DE SMET
Gregory de Swart
Marij de Vos
Mariëlle De Vries
Audrey de Vries

Joel de Zwaan Linda Deakin DEAKIN Rachel/[p;;;;;;;;;;; Deakin

Genaye Deal Anna Dean Katie Dean

Maria de Vries

Etienne De Wit

Anneke de Zeeuw

Andrew DeAngelis

Michael DeAngelis Chloé Debecker Kati Debelic

ANDREA GABRIELA
DEBEZA
Erin Debnam
Maya Debnam
Katherine DeBolt
Annick Debroux

nnick Debroux Olga Luiza Dentzien-keller

Tali Dennerstein

Anthony Dennis

Joan Denniston

Emelia Denny

Steven Denny

Sarah Dent

Emily Dennis

Lori Dennis

Gabrielle Dech
Ted DeChane
Stephanie Decker
Stephanie Decker
Sarah Denzer
Caleb DePetris
Richelle Depew

Patricia DeConte Deidrie Depew-Huygens **Emily DeCremer** Marianne Derksen Laurie DeDecker Matthew Derstine Treesha DeFrance Adriana DeRuvte Anthony DeFranco Dani DeSantes Julia DeFranco Kathleen DeSantes Susanna Degaardt Beatrice Desper Sigrid C Degener Melissa DeStefano Danielle Deighton Janine Desvaux

Amber Dekker
Penelope Del Fante
Simon Del Favero
Alan Dela Rosa
Jean Marc Delaive
Alice Delaney

Laura Dettloff
Justin Dettman
Chad Detwiler
Rebecca Devello
Hannah DEVEREUX
Hanna Devic

Destinee Delaney
Erin Delaney
Lana Delaney
Mascha Delena
Micah DeLeon-Foreman
Sophie Delhaes

Susanne Dellipiani Emelyne Deloince Sue Delorger Brenna Delosier Nathalie Delpont

Jackie Deitsch

Esther Delprat-Haarsma

chris delpratt
Sarah DeLuca
William DeMarco
Ellyn Dembrow
Avra Demertzis
Anja Demmel
Isabelle DEMONET
Roger Deneweth

Peggy Denis

Elizabeth Denlinger Karen Denmark Jonathan DeVito **Greta Devits** Abycgan Devitt Claire Devon Clare Dew Kathryn Dewe Lucinda DeWitt Philippe DEZ Jennifer Diamond Jessica Diamond Lisa Diamond Barbara Diaz Carina Diaz Mallory Diaz Nicola Diaz Susana Diaz Jesse DiCaprio

Stephanie Detlefsen

Nele Diels Caroline Dierksheide

Cam Dietrich Marietheres Dietz

Martha Dieguez

Sarah Dice

Richard Dietzel Tamara Diez Otero

Josh Dillon Karen Dillon Shari Dillon Inge Dinesen Anna Dionne

Benjamin DiPasquale Kristien Dirven Jonas Distelzwey Cienna Ditri Vicky Dittfield Amy Divine Steven Dix Ben Dixon Carol Dixon

Hope Dixon Sandra Dixon Terry Dixon Anna Djuric Sandy Do

Hannah Dixon

Deborah Dobson John Dodson Susan Dodson Karen Dodsworth Megan Doherty Alvssa Dole Kiki Domacassé Rocco Domacassé Magali Dominique Amy Donahue Matt Donaldson

Walter Donaldson

Shannon Donegan Per Doner Alena Donkin Mrs Donna Smith Coralie Donnay Lynne Donnelly Nicki Donnelson Heather Donoghue Jamie Donovan Hannah Dooijewaard Tina Dooley-Jones

Dominique Doran Helen Doran Anna Dorsey Nic Dorward

Simone Dos Santos Cruz

Sage Doshay

Zach Dougall Cherryn Douglas Kirsten Douglas

Tamsin Douglas Woods

Tamara Dourney

Christina Dovell-Silveiro Lisa Dowell **Eliot Downes** Colleen Downey Simone Downey **Bob Doyle** Sally Doyle

Litsa Dremousis

Heather Dreske Nora Dreske Sara Dressel Todd Dressel Alexa Drevfus

Hope Driscoll Rebekah Driscoll Monique Drost Catherine Droste

Nic Droste Jaime Drumm Edie Drummond Mace Drumright Tiffany Dryburgh Nuno Duarte Jacques Dube Andrea Dubenezic

Stacev Dubois

Emilie Dubrail Nathalie Dubreuil Kimberly Duchien Lydia Duddington Rachel Dudek Delaina Dudley Joanna Dudley Ashley Dueck John Duer Chrystel DUFAUT

Julie Duffy Patricia Duffy anne duffy Danette Dugan Gwynn Dujardin Paul Duley

Maria Dulmage Sandra Duma Edma Dumanian Donna Dumann

Ryan Michael Dumas Catherine Dummer Eric Duncan

Warwick Duncan Deanne Dunkinson

Dido Dunlop daisy dunne Aleks Dupraz Jason Dupre Jennifer Dupuis **Emily Durand** Eloïse Durgnat Joseph Durham Suzanne Durrant Valentina Dussan Natalie Duszynski Joy Dutton

Rigmor Duun Grande Erika Dvorak

Juliana Dutton

Annie Dwiggins Milo Dwight Wenche Dybdahl Mia Dybkiaer Samantha Dvck Jennifer Dyer Helena Dykastová Endre Dyrhaug Mariska Dzerzhinskiy

Cheryl Dzubak

CE

Margaret E Beatty Anna Eagle Robyn Eames Brenda Earhart Katherine Early Sarah Early Millie Earp Constance Eash Alex Eason Meredith Eaves Gitte Ebert Kevin Ebert

Stephanie Eckelkamp

Steffi Eckert Annika Edblom Lvdia Ede

Amanda Eck

Pia Veilgaard Edelmann Ashleigh Edelsohn

Kristine Eder

Anne Edlers Lyndsey Ellis Claire Edmondson Mary Jean Ellis Christine Edmundson Rebekah Ellis Evan Edmundson Stephanie Ellis Sarah Edmundson Tracie Ellis Ceri Edwards Zoey Ellis Claire Edwards Amy Ellison Coyote Edwards Dana Ellman Elizabeth Edwards Mathias elmer Hannah Edwards Ferrand Elodie Helen Edwards

Mykaela Edwards Rosamund Edwards Susan Edwards Laurence Eeckhout Erica Eele

Mary Jane Egan Eleanor Eghigian Claudia Ehmsen ALICIA BUTCHER

EHRHARDT Jan Eide

Manon Eijdems Karianne Eikeland Elizabeth Eikrem Helene Eilertsen Amanda Eisenhour Johanna Ekelund Åsa Ekholm Renate Eklund

Aldona El-Saved Lauren Eldred Derek Eldridge Leigh Eldridge Valet Elea Iz Elen

Sarah Elert Sarah Elias Laura Eliason Tanja Eliesen Nathan Elijah

Cout Elise Lu Elli **Donald Elliott** Jennifer Elliott Katherine Elliott

Roisin Elliott Simon Elliott Staci Elliott

Suzanne Elliott

V. Elliott

raven erebus Katie Erickson Michael Ericson Biorn Erik Sture Eriksson Markus Ermert Deanna Erskine Marja Erwin Pam Esau

Alicia Eschenburg Heather Escontrias Nick Else L Elsmore Hans olav Escora Brita-Heidi Elvatun Alison Eskow Gemma Elwes Minoo Eslami Rowen Elwood Joyce Eslinger Helene Emborg Lisa Espiritu

Marcus Emdanat Teddy Jane Esquig Ami Emery David Esteban Noemi Enache Lynn Esteban Anita Enander Vivienne Estes

Nedra Encelewski Beatriz Estévez Molanes

Dietmar Ender C.R Estrada Douglas Enevoldsen Kathryn Eustice Andreas Engebråten Alice Evans Irene Engebretsen Brian Evans Annette Engel **Bryan Evans** Erna Engel Debbie Evans Lisa Engel Esme Evans Maryanne Engel Harmony Evans Susanne Engel Kira Evans mirjam engelsman Patricia Evans Lene Christin Engeseth Peter Evans Jutta Enggruber S Evans Emma England Vsl Evans Kathryn England gaye evans

Lea England Sarahjane Evans-Hall Lori England Benedikte Evenbye Robert England JJ Everett

Ceri English Judy Everley Quinn Englund Inga Ewert ANZMES executive cathrine engsig

John Engstrom committee Laura Enright Peter Exley Richard Ensor Simone Eyssens Anna Ezekiel Sonja Enste

Beate Eoløod Alex F Petra Epema Maxine F Ruth Ephgrave SF

Elisheva Epstein Connie Faast

Sabina Ercoli Nicholas Elizabeth Faby Cailyhnn Fagerholm raven erebus

Cathy Fagg
Karson Fairhurst
Lauren Fairhurst
Louise Faist
Janne Falcham
Lorraine Falchi
Andrea Falkenstein
Faraz Fallahi

Faraz Fallahi
Larissa Fan
Emily Farley
Kym Farmen
Henry Farnham
Lauryn farries
Andrew Farrington
Bailey Farstad
Aiden Fasey
J Fatemi
Afifa Fatima
Dani Faucher
Alicia Faucon
Edith Fauconnet

Christopher Fayers Evelyn Fazzio-Chaisson

Charity Feb Leslie Feingold

Matthias Fax

Della Feldman-Peterson

Madeline Feller
Lauren Felleson
Leslie Fellows
Sue Fensome
Daniel Fenton
Beverly Ferguson
Bianca Ferguson
Chrystal Ferguson
Melisa Ferguson
Rebecca Ferguson
Robert Ferguson
Margaret Fernald

Raul Fernandez RosaMaria Fernandez Nuria Fernández

Castiñeira
Jessika Fernström
Jacqueline Ferreira
Eva Ferrer cantero
Helena Ferris
Catherine Ferron
Elise Fetzer
Rachel Feury

Holly Fevyer

Delphine Feyers

Joel Feyl Raf Fez Geoff Fial Maria Fibæk Sarah Fickes Juliana Fidanovski Kristina Fidanovski Toni Fidanovski Terry Field Brianna Fields Alé Fierro Barbara Fifield Rachel Files Gok-Lim Finch Camilla Fincham Kim Findlay

Elisabeth Finkel Lisa Finklea

Federico Finetti

Ari Finegold

Christine Finn Maureen Finn

Riley Finnegan

Tiril Finset
Sara Fisch
Alice Fischer
Anja Fischer
Jens Fischer
Lindsay Fischer
Samantha Fischer
Madison Fisher
Birgit Fiske Hokstad
Suzanna Fitch
JULIE-ELLEN
FITZGERALD
Rebecca Fitzjohn
Fiona Fitzpatrick

Hazel Fitzpatrick
Cynthia Fix
Sofia Fix
D Fizzard
Ash Flack
Erica Flaherty
Doris Fleck
Shelley Flello

Alice Flemming
Sarah Flesher
Sydney Fletcher
Georgie Flint
Sarah Flint

Sharon Flockhart
Tone Fløisand
Ruth Flood
Marta Flores
Helle Florgård

Marta Flores
Helle Florgård
Angela Florschuetz
Eleanor Flowers
Silke Flügge
Rebecca Flux
Sophie Fluyt
April Flynn
Orion Flynn
Anne Fogliani
Kristina Folkesson
Flora Fondacci
Nancy Fons
Tammy Fons

Bryn Forbes Stephanie Forbes Kam Ford

Kylie Foot

Lyndi Ford- McNicol

Eimear Forde

Raian Forrester-Herndon

Colleen Forry
Joshua Forsyth
Ina Fosberg
Janice Foss
Amee Foster
Ashley Foster
Deserae Foster
Rebecca Foster
Nancy Fournier
Hélène Fourré
Chloe Fowler
Jane Fowler
Iara fowler
Maggie Fowles
Adam Fox
Annemieke Fox

Annemieke Fox
Bradley Fox
Elizabeth Fox
Kathryn Fox
Paul Fox
Tasha Fox
Whitney Fox
Christine Foxon
Kim Foxon
Arild Frafjord
Wilder Frakes
Adam Fram

Amber Frame Shelia W Frances Amanda Francey Tony FRANCIS Antonia Francis Gill Francis Lesley Francis Mireille Francois Camilla Frandsen Kelli Franklin

Marco Franz

Michael Franzen Nancy Franzen Barringer

Jenny Fraser Sunny Fraser Thomas Fraser emily fraser Andreea Fratila Thane Fredrickson Helen Fredriksson Kervn Freed Judy Freedman Elizabeth Freeman Kym Freeman Melissa Freeman neil freeman Kyra Freestar Mary-Ann Fregger Valerie Freiermuth Prisca Freischlad Cindi French

Melissa Fromwiller Selea Frost Sam Fry Karen Frye Claudia Fuambi Franziska fuchs **SOLEDAD FUENTES**

Jennifer Fricas

Laurel Frick

Rachel Frisch

Indra Frohring

Nicole Frischkorn

Eleanor Froehlich

Lynn Fuentes Saily Fuentes Pérez Synne Fuglesang Deirdre Fuller Kimberly Fuller Karin Fulton

Randall Fulton

Amy Fumarolo Karin Fundin

Henk Funk Thea Funk **Edith Fuog** David Furguiele Ryuzo Furukawazono

linda furze

Melissa Fyman Larsson

Amy G David G GG Molly G-P Patrick Gabbett

Rhiannon Gabriel-Jones Pedro Gabrieludis

Sophie Gaget Gina Gagliastre Lee Gaines Jennifer Gale Susana Gale Javier Galindo Laura Galita Tabetha Gallaher

David Gallegos Rina Galon Jeff Galoob

claire galpin Anita Galster **B** David Galt Licia Gambino Kira Gamble

Shauna Gamble Nomsa Gamedze Lori Gammon Lisa Ganderton Amanda Gannon Erica Ganzevles Kimberly Garb

Esther Garcés Angelica Garcia Elder Oscar Garcia

Jeimi Garcia Nina Garcia Ines García Jesús García

María Carmen García

Talía García

Gisela Garcia Gleria Carmelita Garcia-Konrad

Alana Gardiner

Hilary Gardiner

Emery Gardiner-Parks

Beth Gardner Emma Gardner Haley Gardner Heather Gardner Jade Gardner Megan Gardner

Claude Gareau **Emily Gareis** Don Garka Jenna Garman Nicole Garofolo Ami Garrett Sarah Garrett Skylar Garrett Karen Garrison Lee Garrison Susanne Gärtner Juan Garzon Lucv Gaskell Kellie Gasser Cristina Gastaldi Mollie Gathro

Květoslava Gatnarová

Jacky Gaude Shira Gaudet Katherine Gault Odette Gautreau Anna Gautschi Marilyn Gavranovic

Keith Gayler Zoe Gayton Melissa Geczy Aver Geddings Sarah Geddry Nancy Gee Tim Gee

Andre Geertsema

Lu Geffen Grisia Geilvoet Lisa Geiszler Phyllis Geiszler Sabrina Geiszler Elizabeth Gelber Christine Gemberling **Tobias Gembler**

Walter Gembler Coralie Gemis

Jennifer Gemmill-Boskind

Devin Gendron

Nancy Genn Louis Genoud Tess Genouël Marylyn Genovese Jessica George Tammy George dS George-Jones Genoveva Geppaart

Ellen Geradts Kady Geradts Nouschka Geradts **Taylor Gerard** Lynn Gerber Annette Gerhart Thomas Gerner Lies Gerritsen

Faith Gertner **Destiny Gervais** Thomas Gervais Ilse Geudens

Jenny Geuken triana Patricia Geuns Shaan Ghosh Saim Ghouse Donna Giachino

Rachel Giacomodonato

Gillien Gianakos Kim Giana Louise Gibbison Susan Gibbons **David Gibbs** Lisa Gibbs Ray Gibbs Denise Gibeau callum gibson

Alan Gidley

Torill Gidske

Alex Giebel H.M.J. Giepmans Thomas Gierach Martin Qvist Giercksky Anne-Claire Giffroy

Anna Gil Catmen Gil Katharine Gil Jeff Gilardi Megan Gilardi Casey Gilchrist Rogan Gilchrist

Samantha Gilchrist Vivienne Gilchrist

Branden Gile Hebe Gilham Iain Gill Peter Gillard

Erin Gillett Erin Gillett Alexander Gillie Doran Gillie Ezra Gillie Kyrstie Gillie Noah Gillie

Samuel Gillie Sara Gillie **Emily Gillies**

Stephen Gillilan Terry Gilmete LINDA GILMOUR

Bernard GINDRE

Alix Gindre Elisabeth Gindre Patrick Gindre Bénédicte Gindre

Lagrillere Alvson Gines Kim Gingras Ellen Gintilas Olivia Gio Patrizia Giorgi Catherine Girard Jackie Giudicelli

Betty Giugliano May Brith Liessem Gjerde Sally Gjyla Jerome Glass Katherine Glass Laurie Glass Helen Glavey Sean Glaze Elisabeth Gleine Madeline Glines Gloria Gloria

Garrett Glover Kelsey Glynn Laurie Glynn Alvina Gnana Pivert Alison Goadby Amanda Godin

mary gloudemans

Kaylee Godsey-Murray Andy Goeltzen

Sarah Goeltzenleuchter

Kristin Goetz dirk goffin

Amber Goldberg Ann Goldberg Carly Goldberg Malka Goldberg Nancy Goldberg Mary Goldman Lenka Goldšmídová Michelle Goldsworthy Kathleen Goll-Derstine

Pete Gollins Karen Gomersal

Esther Gomez Rodríguez

Michelle Gonlag irene gonzalez del rio Frances Goodchild Laura Goodheart Mugler KATHERINE GOODMAN

Ade Goodman Vacelia Goodman Clare Goodspeed Amanda Goodwill Nikki Goodwin Simon Goodwin Jackie Goold Rachel Gorbet David Gordon Ewan Gordon George Gordon Jessica Gordon Lauren Gordon Molly Gordon

Robert Gordon Emma gordon Myriam Goret Elaine Gorlechen Heather Gorman Bonnie Gorman RN Karen Gormley Carol Gorove Daphne Gorter Julia Goryun Elizabeth Goshine :Lucy Gothro Cristina-M. Gouin Catherine Gould James Gould Alexa Gould-Kavet

Patricia Gould-Lipson Christina Gouvatsos

Jennifer Govey Alida Gowan Sergio Gozzi Sara Graaf

Jennifer Grabowski Imogen Grace

Imogen Grace
K Grace
Liv Grace
Stefanie Graf
Kim Graffagnino
Arlene Graham
Colin Graham
Dawn Graham
Kirsty Graham
Lorna Graham
Luma Graham
Elizabeth Grainger

Laila Grant

Cheryl Grantham-Hill Linda Grassia Miriam Gratton Miriam Gratton Annette Gravermann

Cyndy Gray Georgia Gray

Gillian Elisabeth Gray Dr. Isabelle Greber PENNY GREEN Angela Green C Green

Emily Green Hayley Green Julie Green Mallory Green Maya Green

phil green

Maria Green Svensson

Beth Greenberg
JoAnn Greenberg
Linda Greenberg
ann greenberger
Leore Greene
Ruta Greene
Sivan Greene
Stephen Greene
Tami Greene
Beatrice Greenfield

Beatrice Greenfield Sammy Greenfield Zoe Alden Greenfield

Terry Greenlay Miriam Greenlees Rea Greenwood Teresa Greenwood Susan greenwood

Tiffany Greer Parker Greeves Olivia Grego

Caroline Grégoire Logan Gregory Frankie Gregson Doug Greig

pax grem Marsha gresko Justin Grey Taylor Grey daniel grey Pam Griffey

Patrick Griffin Sarah Griffiths Sian Griffiths Megan Grigg Heather Griller Tina Grimsmo

Kjersti Grimsrud selena griner Jeannette Griston Rachael Grivell Marit Groen Yvonne Groen Chad Groft Jason Groshong Catherine Gross Ann Grossen

Jessica Grossman Shira Grossman Sofia Grost Marianne Grøtte Shel Grove

Emma Groves

Nicole Grow
Liz Grubin
Peter Grummitt
Sylvia Grummitt
Tilman Grünewald
Ulrike Grunwald

Anna Grusenmeyer Maurice Grys Lycke Gubbels Susan Gubbins Maria Gudiksen Mirna Gudlin Natacha Guérit Marissa Guetter Jacques Jean Guilbert

Holly Guile Jean Christophe Guillaumin

Anne GUILLEMAIN Michaela Guinn Hege Gulbrandsen Donna Gulyas

Anusha Gunawardena Trond Gundersen Bernadette Gunn Alexandra Gupta Lucile Gurret Lene Gustavsen Esben Gustavussen Rocío Gutierrez David Gutteridge

Ayala Guy
Hanoch Guy
Inbal Guy
PAUL GUYRE
Ariana Guzman
Dina Guzovsky
Michele Gwyn
Kelsang Gyalten
Marge Gylten
Cathy Gyurina
Beatrice H
Esther H
Sam H
Imane Ha
Ellen J Haaberg
Alex Haagaard

Ellen J Haaberg
Alex Haagaard
Mandy Haasbroek
Annlaug Haavik
Sara Habein
Maria Habiger
Amy Hackley

Catherine Hackshaw Meredith Hadaway Brittany Hadden Christina Hadfield David Hadfield marc HADJ-LARBI

Dana Haff
Sidsel Haga
S. Hagedorn
Linda Hagen
M Haggarty
Thomas Hagler

Laura Hague
Bettina Hahn
Charlotta Hahn
Emily Haigh
John Haigh
Zoe Haigh
Becky Haigler
Catherine Hale
Corey Hale
Valli Hale

Sara Hales-Brittain Lene Halgaard Henriikka Halila Angela Hall Jo Hall Martin Hall Phoenix Hall Susan Hall craig hall Shann

Hall-LochmannVanBennek

om

Sarah Hallacher Kim Halliday Geoffrey Hallmann Barbora Halmešová

Ellen Halpin
Marc Halusic
Adam Halwitz
hiroko hamamoto
Katherine Hamar
sandra hamburg
Vivien Hamilton

Elaine Hamilton-Vincent

Kim Hammond
Ann Hampton
Ren Hampton
Tim Hanagan
Peter Hanauer
Tanja Hancock
Ashild Handeland
Maria Handen
Sarah Handley
Paula Hanley
William Hanlon
Katherine Hann

Miss Hannah Devereux

Mellanie Hannon W Hansard

Kristi Hanna

Christopher Hansen

Clint Hansen
Daniel Hansen
Hege Hansen
Heidi Hansen
Irene Hansen
Jolleen Hansen
Karin Hansen
Lisa Hansen
Milene Hansen
Nina Hansen

Rebecca Hansen

Tracey Hansen

Verity Hanson Anna Kerstin Margaretha

Hansson
Amy Hao
Michie Harasaki
Michihiko Harasaki
Daniela Harbauer
Julian Harbaugh
Lauren Harber
Gloria Harbin
Sean Hardeman
Alexander Harder
Briana Harder

Sara Harding
Cheryl Hardy
Abby Hare
Laura Hares
Claire Haresign
Åsa Hargeby
Hanna-Riitta Härkönen

jim harlow

Lisa Harms
Lauren Haroutunian
Alexandra Harp
Kathleen Harper
Malcolm Harper
Magnhild Harral
Dan Harrang
Therese Harrelson
Allan Harris

Angela Harris
Beatrice Harris
Beck Harris
Bethann Harris
Danielle Harris
Jamie Harris
Kathy Harris
Kelly Harris

Kitty Harris

Lauren Harris Olivia Harris Sarah Harris Stacey Harris dannen harris finn harris Amber Harrison

Blaide Harrison
Debra Harrison
Kaitlin Harrison
Lucy Harrison
Michelle Harrison
Olivia Harrison
Samantha Harriss
Julia Harriyott

Emma Hart Jane Hart Jennifer Hart Margherita Hart Rebecca Hart Amv Harte Barbara Hartig Denise Hartley Rachel Hartney Rebecca Harty Jessica Harvey Laronda Harvey Oliver Harvey Heide Hase Michael Haseney Kayla Hash Anum Hashmi

Penelope Hassack
Teia Hassey
Chr. Hassfeld
Jessica Hastings
Jessica Hastings
Brenna Hatfield
Max Hathaway
Sonja Hatlestad
Daniel Hattesohl
Mike Hatton
Sue Hatton
Annbjørg Haug
Linda Haug-Fjellstad

Jorn Tore Haugen
Silja Kolberg Haugen
Inger Lise E. Haughem
Sara Björk Hauksdóttir
Anita Haukvik

Anita Haukvik Barbara Häußler Celia Haven Claire Hawk Mai Hawk

Gordon Hawkins Jonathan Hawkins Naoko Hawkins Rachael Hawkins Susan Hawley-Smith Shoji Hayasaka Catherine Hayes

L Haves

Julie Haythorn Kate Hayward Alison Head Karalyn Headley Claudia Heath Sarah Heath Theresa Heath Kiera Hebert Anna Hebner Julia Hebner Annette Heck Justine Hedison Sofie Hedlund

Anne-Lise Heggland

Julie Hedrik

Audra Hehr **Emil Heiling** Kerstin Heiling Kaja Heilo Holly Heiman Katrin Heimstädt Luise Heinz

Thomas Heinzmann Cassandra Helfer Kaja Helland Sonya Heller Irey Chantelle Helman Kendall Helmer Sten Helmfrid Sten Helmfrid Brigitte Helsloot Jo Hemley

Christine Hemmerling Katherine Hempel **Emily Hempton** Colleen Henaghen Erikah Henard Hayden Hendersen Clint Henderson Sophie Henderson

sue hendren Heidi Hendrikse Leo Hendrikse Leigh Hendry Jennifer Henegan Christian Henke Louise Henriksen Anna Henriksson Alison Henry

Alison Henry Wendy Henry Adam Henry Lowe-Roberts Ghost Hensen Brad Henson Kristina Henson CL henson Maralyn Hepworth **Becky Herbert** Ines Herbertz

Corrie Hermans-Webster

Anita hermansen Hermansen

Kavlee Herda

Emily Hergott

Joachim Hermisson Sabine Hermisson Elena Hernandez Ana Rosa Hernández Varinka Hernández Vicente Hernández

Ann Herrell Samantha Herrera Heidi Hervik

Velasco

Beki Herzberg Barbara Herzog aubrey hess Vanessa Hester Lex Hesterman Rowan Hetherington

Kate Hetu Peter Heuer Lehyla Heward Jim Hewitson Eilidh Hewitt Roxanne Hewitt Alison Heyberger Paul Hibbison Elaine Hickling Tony Hickling

Janie Hickman **Bottsie Hicks** Josette Hicks Fatima Hidalgo Sylvia Higginson Claire Higham Anne Highfield **Bethany Hiles** Paula Hilfedder Irena Hilgart Ruby Hilhorst Brenda Hill Heather Hill Jillian Hill Joshua Hill Louise Hill Piper Hill Tanja Hill Marianne Hille

Charlie Hillier Tess Hillier maria hillmer Sandra Hilton Marie Hindle Meagan Hindman Ashley Hinds Emma Hinks Josef Hinterhölzl Martin Hippe Christina Hirler Edward Hirsch Kristin von Hirsch Keng Ngee Hng

Knut Hillersøy

Alan Ho Ji Nok Ho Jasmin Hoadley Olivia Hoare Linda Hobbs Kerrie Hobson Melissa Hobson Claudia Hoch Graham Hockaday Rachel Hockey brigitte hoctin boes **Grace Hodges** Stacy Hodges Steve Hodges

Thomas Hodgkinson Grant Hodgson Jen Hodgson

Heather Hodgson Kuhl Andy Hoeland Pamela Hoeland Stephen Hoeland Hild Thale Hoen Jane Hoepner Lauren Hoeve

Nancy Hoevenaar

Maia Hoey
Wanja Hof
Thomas Hoff
Tolan Hoffman
Carmen Hoffmann
Ute Hoffmann
Mark Hoffstatter
Katrien Hofman
Rosemary Hofstede
Geraldine Hogan
Anja Höger-Busch
A.A. Hogeweg
Larry Hogsed
Carla Hol
David Holcomb

Kim Holdaway Dawn Holdbrook Deborah Holden Jane Holden Rebecca Holden

Deborah Holcomb

James Holcomb

Elizabeth Holder Anders Holegaard Grete Honne Holgernes Jan Håkon Holgernes Marte Holgernes

Tord Holgernes
Tina Holgersen
Acacia Holland
Phillippa Holland
Julie Holliday

Joanne Hollingsworth

Tor Holm
Angela Holmes
Susan Holmes
Kristin Holmestrand
Holly Holmquist
Mamie Holst
Rode Holst-Larsen

Dawn Holt Jean Holt Jeremine Holt John Holt Lynda Holt Rebekah Holt Jennifer Holtgreve Leah Holtz

Severin Holzapfel Yuki Homma Kathleen Hon

Lucy Honan Yasmin Honey Lorene Honomou Josh Hood

Nicole Hood Irene Hook Megan Hooker Samantha Hooper Sara Hoover

Anne-Wil Hop
Wendy Hopfenberg
Debbie Hopkins
Luanne Hopkinson
Jessica Hopper
Sarah Horn
Louise Horncastle
Nancy Hornewer
Catrina Horsman
Keni Horton

HEATHER HORVATH

Beth Horvath Bindi Horvath Bindi Horvath Glyn Hosking

Carsten Hougård
pia houmøller
Sarah House
Kelley Houser
rebecca houser
Jennifer Houston
Emily Houten
Frida Hovdar
Rebecca Hovde
Synøve Hovin
Barry Howard
Carissa Howe

Susan Howe heather howe Mark Howell Michelle Howell Valerie Howell Deborah Howes

Rhonda Howton

Bjarne Høy Edita Hrdličková Michael Hrehor Ben HsuBorger Rebecca Hubbard Marianne Huber Beth Hubert

Ashley Hudson-Hines

Paul Hueber
Mark Huebscher
Madelon Huffmeijer
Christine Hughes
Paul Hughes
Rae Hughes
Patricia hughes
Penelope Huhmann

Tara Hulen
Megan Hull
Donna Hulse
Megan Hulse
Megan Hulse
Andrea Hultman
Ashley Hultman
Robert Hultman
Margaret Humber
Chloe Humbert
esther hummel
Emelie Humphries
Helen Humphries
Sarah Humphries

Annie Hung Megan Hungerford

Chloë Hunt Sean Hunt Amy Hunter Casey Hunter Douglas Hunter Joel Huntington Tora Huntington Claire Huntley Jessica Hurley Karen Hurley, PhD Elinor Hurst

Kjersti Huseby
Alayna Huston
Sheryl Hutcherson
Garth Hutchings
Laurie Hutchings
Kate Hutchinson
Mykel Hutchinson
Amy Hutton

Sigrid Huybrechts

Oscar Huygens Tsalia Huygens Ana Hyde Anne Hyde Stephen Hyde Jessica Hyer

Kjersti Hyggen Frilseth

Silas Hyzer Elizabeth I. Elena lannone Ider Ibrahim Nermin Ibrahim Tatiana Ickler Elahn lentile Michelle Ignozza Elizabeth Igoe

Mirjam IJmker Suluk Iken Sarah Imlay Maartje In t. Groen Keiichi Inaba Meghan Inabinet Michael Inabinet

Isabel maría Infante cano

Ellyn Ingalls

Kirsten Ihl

Ingunn Ingebrigtsen Amy Ingelman Katarina Ingels Bryn Ingle Janet Innes

Giovanna Intelisano Nicholas Inzinna

MIRIAM L. IOSUPOVICI

Emma Iraci Louise Iredale Carson Iris Charles Irvine Raymond Irvine Desiree Isaacs Gwynevere Isabella Alexandra Isakova Tomoko Ishii

Jiro Ishikawa Janine Isler Janine Isler Yasemin Isler Sylvia Iversen Debbie Iverson Elizabeth Ivie James Ivie

David Ivry Shinji Iwasaki

Alex J Eli J Eric J Mel J Natalie J PJ

Stanislav Jabuka

GABRIELLE JACKSON Bill Jackson Jay Jackson

Katie Jackson Kim Jackson

Paul Jackson Peta Jackson Rosie Jackson

Suzan Jackson Eve Jackson-Rand Annaëlle Jacob Julia Jacob Jen Jacobs

Lara Jacobs Lori Jacobs Michael Jacobs Robert Jacobs Sandra Jacobs

Saskia Jacobs Labree THEODORE JAFFE

Rachel Jaffe

Nicole Jäger Zander Wenceslao Jaimes Lucy Jak-Lax Renata Jaksic Debbie Jaksitz Erica Jakubowski **Bonnie James** Michelle L. James Rachel James

Tessa James Carlotta Jameson Clive Jameson Anne Jamieson Christine Jamieson Edward Jamieson

Theresa Jamieson Jonathan Jamison Ellen Janofsky Alette Jansen Annette Jansen Lisa Jansen

Sanne Jansen Ynske Jansen Markus Jansson Juliette Jariel Angela Jarman Mitchell Jarmell

Sara María Jarmell

Carrasco

sebastien jarrault Lisa Jarvinen Jill Jarvis Julia Jarvis

JOANN JARVIS-OLIVAS

Paolo Jasa adrian jauk Jennifer Jayroe

PERRIER JEAN-MARC

Brittany Jelinski Samantha Jenkin Deborah Jenkins Donna Jenkins james Jenkins Wendy Jenkins Wilhelmina Jenkins Chris Jennings E Jennings Kath Jennings Heidi Jensen

Jeanette Jensen Kim Bjørn Jensen Lene Jensen Linda Witt Jensen Marc Jensen Mark Jensen Melinda Jensen Stacey Jensen Tove Jensen Atle Jenssen Kate Jeppesen Serena Jesperson Yasmin Jetha Julie Jewell enrique jimenez

Joanne Jo Nehmer Joe Joe Jacey Joel Trude Johansen Irene Johansson Lisbeth Johansson Loise Johansson

Maria Jimenez-Correa

Mari Johansson Maria Johansson Mikael Johansson Monica Johansson Sofie Johansson Anna Johanssson Alison Johns Rebecca Johns Annelise Johnsen Elisabeth Johnsen Laila Johnsen Abigail Johnson Abigail Johnson Amanda Johnson Angela Johnson Carole Johnson Charlene Johnson Chelsea Johnson Chloe Johnson Chrisanna Johnson Christine Johnson Ciri Johnson Cynthia Johnson Daniel Johnson Dawn Johnson Donna Johnson Doreen Johnson **Emily Johnson** Erik Johnson Gretchen Johnson Heather Johnson Jaden Johnson Jayne Johnson Jessica Johnson Jill Johnson Kristi Johnson Lisa Johnson Madisen Johnson Mark Johnson Melanie Johnson Nancy Johnson Raquel Johnson RMB Johnson Rosalind Johnson Sarah Johnson Sony Johnson Vicky Johnson Elena Johnston

Emma Johnston Jillian Johnston

Katherine Johnston

Monica Johnston **Ruth Johnston** Stephanie Johnston Constance Jokic Andrea Joliat Andrea Joliat Michel JOLLY Ken Jolly Bartsch Jonathan Ann Jones **Audrey Jones Briana Jones** Chris Jones Chris Jones Janis Jones Karen Jones Katy Jones Kellie Jones Laurie Jones Leah Jones Logan Jones **Robert Jones** Rowan Jones Sally Jones Savre Jones Scott Jones Sue Jones Tamsin Jones Tracy Jones Veronica Jones Wesley Jones maulsby jones Jennifer Jones-Kelley Claudia Jongen Sanna Jonkhart Eva Jonsson Hans Jónsson Ruben Joosse Renzia Jordan Carla Jorens Juan Jorquera

Renzia Jordan
María Jesús Jorde Amo
Carla Jorens
Juan Jorquera
Trine Berit Forfang Josdal
Aleks Josephsen
Sylvie Jourdan
David Joy
Emily Joyce
Nora Joyner
Angela Judkins
Sandrine JUILLARD
Chan Julie

Sophia Jung Thomas Jung Hari Junqueiro Nancy Juskowich Marie-Noelle Jusseau CK LKΝK YUJI K Karl Kaardal maggie kade Jess Kadow Michael Kadow Matthew Kafieh Mari Kähäri Birge Kahl Bethany Kahler Sharona Kahn Todor Kalinkov Alise Kallevik Ellen Kallevik Kolbjørn Kallevik Sara Kallevik Indrid Kalmin Anand Kalra Christian Kaltner Vijay Kamaraj

Roumy Julie

Olivia Jump

Leslie June

katya kan Machiko Kanazawa Susan Kandarian Mindy Kane Nicholas Kane Sachie Kanematsu Yuko Kanno Sarah Kanouse T Kanschat May Kapelrud Barbara Kaplan Cheryl Kaplan Jessica Kaplan Melissa Karabin Deborah Kardaetz Anton Karlsson

Page 65

Andreas Kamberg

Raelene Kaminsky

Birte Kammerer

Sigrid Kamola

Stefan Kamola

Ulrika Karlsson Adrienne Karpov

Mia Karpov

Irene Bjørnstad Karstad

Teddy kasteel
Angela Kather
Pelletier Kathy
Elizabeth Kattner
Jonathan Kattner
Emma Katz
Diane Kaufman

Diane Kaufman
Kayleigh Kavanagh
Caroline Kay
Paul Kayes
Ebru Kayhan
Michelle Kaysen
Dirk Kayser
Margaret Kearney
Tim Kearney

Amy Kearns Kort Keathley Laura Keating Sharon Keating

Jody Keeler
Elizabeth Keeley
Andrew Keenan
Gary Keenan

Ryan Keenan Murray Keene Emma Keep Christina Kehoe Rachael Kehrman Keiko Keiko Kenneth Keiser

Sara Kelley Theresa Kellgreen Christine Kellhuber Amanda Kelly

Danielle Kelley

Deana Kelley

Amanda Keliy Anne Marie Kelly B Kelly Chantal Kelly

Eileen Kelly Lorraine Kelly Marissa Kelly

Rebecca Kelly Suz Kelly

Tamsin Kelly Charlotte Kelp Zoe Kelsall Kathy Kelso John Kelty John Kelty

Elisabeth Kemmerer

Gina Kemp

Jacqueline Kemp
Jenny Kemp
Ren Kemp
Susan¹ Kemp
Jakob Kempema
Augustin Kendall
Ada Kennedy
Anne Kennedy

Anne Kennedy
Cynthia Kennedy
Gary Kennedy
Isla Kennedy
Martha Kennnedy
Andrea Kenny
Daniel Kenny
Natalie Kenny
Louise Kenward

Christine Kenworthy

Patricia Kenyon Jim Kepner

Tessa Kepner-Kraus Grace Kepple

Lacey Kerchner Teresa Kerin Laurie Kerling Elisabeth Kerner Hodgetts Kerry

Gwendolyn Kersey Matilda Kerstetter Beatrice Kessler Christopher Kessler Kimberly Ketcham Chris Ketvirtis Brittany Key Samira Khabazi

Susan Khazaie Raissa Khirddine Jessica Khurana Frank Kianka Miranda Kibel

Jennifer Kidd

Lowri Kidd Wendy Kidd

Karen Kidston-Morris Mary Kier

Lily Kiewra
PHIL Kilcommon

Marion Kilgour October Killworth

Cora Kim Rebekah Kim

Su Kim
Jeferson Kindrajh
Hannah King
KT King
Nyx King
Sam King
Shery King
Zoe King
Carine Kinon
Rika Kinoshita
Emily Kinsella

Mads Kipp Sean Kirby Kristina Kirk Sally Kirkland Christine Kirkup Louise Kirkup

Jodie Kirschner Kirschner

Elly kiss Julie Kistler Mwasi Kitoko Doris Kittler

Susanna Kittredge Claudia Kittsteiner FUJIWARA KIYOMI

Toril Kjærem
Simon Kjærgaard
Vegard Kjernli
Lisa Klaassen
Nadja Klafs
John Klass
Catherine Klatt
Maya Klauber
Sue Klaus
Cooper Klebba
Åsa Kleberg
Andrea Kleihege

Nathalie Klein IAN KLEINFELD Her Kleinh

Lianne Kleinsteuber

Jim Kleissler Nina Kleppe Patrizia Klett Darrell Klette

Thomas Brendboe Kleven

Margita Kleye

Jace Klingelhafer Anna Klinger Richard Klingsborg Ardente Klint Xenia Klistoff Gabby Klocek Kevin Klöckner Elissa Klotz

Elissa Klotz Sam Klunder andrej knapic Nina Knapp Jody Knarr Aiden Knight Emma Knight Jeremy Knight Jody Knight

Paula Knight Renee Knight Tavrik Knight Ryan Knishka Rebecca A. Knittle Inès Knothe

Christine Knott
Rosanna Knowles
Christine Knox-Picard
Thea Knudsen
Mark Knudson

MARTE KNUTSEN Maiken Knutsen Stephanie Ko Carina Koch Monika Koch Erin Kochheiser Kevin Köck

Angela Koehler Earl Koenig Leona Koenig Linda Koenig Melanie Koenig

Sonja Kohl Mary-Jane Kohler Colleen Kohn Chelsea Kolander

Jade Kolbo
Christina Kolloch
Karol Kolodziej
Christine Könings
keiko konishi
Julia Konrad

Kamilah Konrad Janko Koolen Pierre Koolen Sannie Koolen L Koopal Keehan Koorn Serguei Kopanyev Linda Koppes

Svenja Korbach

Richard Kor

Malina Kordic
VIRGINIA KORNFELD
Amanda Kornfeld
Raine Kornfeld
Shan Kornfeld
Harris Kornstein
Leonard Korp
Lena Kortenbusch

Dorothea Kossendey-Pfohl ariel kotker
Heather Kovacs
Michael Kovacs
Tim Kovacs
Jill Kovalchik
Elyssa Kowalinski
Beatrice Kozak
Ruth Koznecki
MDA Kraak
Stephen Kraase

Adriaan Krabbendam Anna Kraco Annika Kraft Birgit Kraft Isabelle Kraft Flavia Krahenhofer Agy Krajczynska Carola Krall Sage Kramer

Clara Kramer-Wheeler Barbara Kranzbuehler Marie-Claire Kranzbühler

Marie-Claire Krar Kristin Krathwohl Gabriele Kratzer Maree Kratzer Stefanie Krause Patricia Krauß

Patricia Krauß
Alon Krauthammer
Amy Krchmar
Manuel Kreft
Kara Kreter
Rebecca Krieger
Amy Krigsman

Lisa Krigsman

Jan Kristensen Katrine Kristensen Linda Kristensen Marie Kristensen Marie Kristensen Kathryn Kritzberg Odiine Krogsgård Elizabeth Krohn Valerie Kromas Dawn Kronaizl Bonifazius Krtil

Dorothea Krtil

Ashley Kruger Nicole Krüger Kathryn Kubica Bente Kubin Colin Kudela Kathi Kuehnel Kathrin Kuethe Steven Kuffert Janice Kuharski Christina Kühl Miriam Kuhlbrodt Ulrike Kühner Jessica Kuijper Jaclyn Kulfan Melissa Kulig **Greete Kuningas**

Melissa Kulig
Greete Kuningas
Mary Kunz
Thomas Kunze
Marion Kupfer
Judith Küpfer
Yoke Kuppers
Erik Kurella
Rohan Kurup
KIMIKO KUSANO
Hannah Kussman
Maria Kuusela

MINAKO KUWAHARA Mikala Kvasnicka Barbara Kyne Dorthe Kyster Claire L DM L

Janey L Janey L Serena L Maria La Place Kimberly La Reau Esther La Russa Laura Labayen López

Sarah LaBelle

Carol Labelle Jacinthe Labelle **Emily LaCasse** Milagros Lacaze Caitlin Lacy Evangelene Lade

Joy Ladin Isabel Laennec gilbert laferriere Alison Lafferty S Lafond

Rosemarie LaFrancesca

Sasha Lagano Stéphanie Lagrave Israel LAGUNA Ishtar Laguna Deena Lahn Helga Lahtinen Helen Laird - Lake

Nidhi Lakhotia Pratik Lakhotia Char Lala Melissa Lall Michelle Lam Julie Lamarche Lisa Lamberson Jacinthe Lambert Katherine Lambert Christine Lamicela Loren Lamm

Lamming

Katherine Lamond Margaret Lamont Ruth Lampard Robert Land

The Rev Dr. Sarah

Antoine Landemaine

Linda Lander Cherry Lane Joseph Lane Kathleen Lane Jamie Lanejohnson

Loki Laney **KELLI LANG** Terra Langan Kurt Lange

Monica Langelund Andrea Langer Anna Langer Karen Langridge

Sanna Lankinen Jenny Lantz Nancy Lanzalotto Jennifer LaPierre Olga Larchenko Mennette Larkin

Kathryn Larouche Imler Caity Larrimore Stéphanie Larriviere Stephen Larroque Biørn Eugene Larsen

Maria Larsen Nina Larsen

Frode nytrøen larsen Susan Lasley Carlo Lata Paul Latham Tori Latham Deborah Latimer Dejan Lauber Gitte Laugesen Pauline Laughton

Catherine Laurence **DESROCHES** Laurence Lalita Lis Lauridtsen

Elizabeth Laurie

Lene Benedicte Lauritzen

Dawn Lauryn

christine lautenschutz Joshua Lauterbach Claire Lauvergne Jacqueline Lavache Cammie LaValle Margaret Laverick Anita Laverman Marianne Lavik Carolyn Law Linda Law **Harriet Lawes Tabitha Lawler** Timothy Lawler Aspen Lawrence **Esther Marie Lawrence**

Ryan Lawrence Simon Lawrence Colin Lawson Justine Lawson kath Lawton Ciane Lawyer stine Laybourn Debora Layugan Morgane Le Boucher Des Lean-Fore Sian Leary Megan Leazes Joan Lebach Michelle LeBar Jillian Leblow Stephanie Lechuga Audrey Leclerc Séverine Leclercq Kenneth Lederman

John Ledger LEONA LEE Dianne Lee Duane Lee Erin Lee J. Lee Jamie Lee Kathryn Lee Nathan Lee Opal Lee

Home Lee stocker

David Leek

Natalie Leemeijer Ria leenders Petra Leenes Alice Lefebvre Carol Lefelt Kelsey Leffard Cynthia Lefkowicz Danielle Leftwich Catherine le Leher Vicki Lehman Travis Lehmann

Irene Leiknes

Cathrine Leine

Eveliina Leinonen Silvana Leiss Audrey Lejeune Bente Lejon Sheila LeMaire Marielle LeMasters Marielle LeMasters Katelyn Lemay Samuel Lemes Kelly Lemmens Marilyn Lemmon Gerd Lende gerd lende Nicor Lengert Klaus Lenz

Erwan LEON Sarah Leonard

Helen Leonard-Williams

Stella Leonhard Amy Lepard Tuulia Leppihalme Vilde Lepsøy Carl Lequire

Allison Lerman-Gluck Clement Leroux Karen Leslie Mati Leszczyńska Philip (Phil) Letford

Nynne Leth Hal Lethcoe

Michelle Létourneau Carmen Letrado

Ky Letts
Jess Leuthard
Maya Leutwiler
Andree-Anne
Levasseur-Vautour
Kristen Levens
Elaine Levett
Batia Levin
Julie Levy
Arna Lewis
Forest Lewis
Jan Lewis

Jessica Boyd Lewis Lorraine Lewis Nic Lewis Nicole Lewis Taegan Lewis Tamara Lewis Caitlin Leyden Isabelle Leyden

Ellen Li mika Li

John Liebenberg Sarah Lieber Cassie Liebisch Embla Lier Lotte Lier H R Lightbown Frøydis Lilledalen

Frøydis Lilledalen Grete Lilledalen Donia Lilly

eric lin Ana Linares

Samantha Lincroft

Ophelia Lind Heather Lindahl

Carolina Lindberg Mona Lindberg Elsebeth Theodora

Lindegaard
Maya Lindemann
Joanna Linden
Georgia Linders
Gabriel Lindner
Anne Lindon
Charlotte Lindgvist

Martina Lindqvist

Amanda Lindsey Bianca Lindstrom Rhian Linecar Meg Linehan Carol Ling Andrea Lingg

Ruth Linn
ruth linn
Marni Linton
Deborah Linzer
Rachel Lipke
Elise Lippert
Linna Lippke
Lauren Lipsay

Melinda Lipscomb Lisa Lisa Anita Lislien Alexa Little Bri Little Holly Little Leslie Little Myrtle Little

Sandi Little Diane Little-Moss

Cynthia Liu Louise Livernois Timbre Livesay Helen Livingston Karin Livingstone

Julie Marita Ljosnes Taya Llewellyn Laura Llorente Miguel

Daniel Lloyd

Laura Lluch Fernández Melissa Lo Stephanie Lo

Nicole Loadsman

Kitty Lobert

Malena Locci Marafanti

Olaf Loch
Marilyn Lockett
Lynn Lockwood
Sophie Lockwood

Rakel Lode
Andrew Lodge
Audrey Lodge
Rachel Lodge
Patricia Loehrer
Desiree Loeven
Asa Loewenstein
Cecilia Löfberg
Anne Logan
Ayla Logan
Laura Logan
Karmen Logarusic
Sarah Logue
Tomas Logue
Tone Løken

Ida Haslestad Løkken Katharine London Kathleen Londry Dave Long Holly Long Laura Long Or Long

Jordan Longever
Christopher Longford
Denise Longman
Amanda Loomis
Mike Loomis
Julie Lopez
Myriam Lopez
Francisco López
Lurdes López Aduriz

Robles

Carmen López Tartière Denise Lopez-Majano

Maria Arantzazu Lopez de

Ron Lord Michel Lorenz Maria Lorraine Kirsten Lösch Henriette Løset

Jen Lott

Michelle Louise Lisanne Louwerse

Aimee Love

lovegrovewj@gmail.com

Lovegrove

Lanelle Lovelace **Autumn Loveless** Bella Lovett Liv Kristin Løvoll Margaret Lowenberg Fiona Lowenstein Anne Lown Philippa Lowther Daniel Loy Cipri Lozano Janie Lu

Janna Lubig Joe Lucacio Ali Lucas Neve Lucas Nicolas Lucas Ca Lucassen Camilla Lucero

Carol Lucking **Honour Luckins** Lorraineokk Lucock Carol Ludwig Kleber Thomas Luecke Signe Liisa Lugus

Oliver Lumbert Misty Luminais Hazel Lunau-Rose Heae Lunde Thomas Lundh Lisa Lundholm

Paul Luke

Maria Dolores Luque Lucinda Lusi Elkins

Jaunny Luta John Luta Beverley Luty Lennart Lutz pamela Lutz

William Lutz Volker Lux Denise Lycka

Susanna Lyhr

Kesia Lyng George Lynn

Gay Lyon Susan Lyon Audra Lyons Beth Lyons Haley Lyons

Tamara Lyons Wood

Angelo Lytle

Elizabeth Lytle Jenny Lyus Andrea M Angela M J M

Kristin M MMNathalie M A M Mortimer Serenity M. Tracy Ma Michelle Maas Sarah Maas

Douglas Maccomb Jasper MacDonald Victoria MacDonald Sarah Macdonald Renee MacGregor Kelsey Machado

Jeanette Machen Bernard Machoel Geneviève Machoël Eugenia Macias Jasmine Mack Laura Mack

Angus Mackay Angela MacKenzie Samantha Mackey Yasmin Mackrell Janet MacLennan

Edna MacNamara

Natalie MacWilliam Connor Macy Danny Macy Adrian Maddox Brigitte Mader Thomas Madsen

Patricia Maduke

Anna Maehl Elke Maes Marianne Maes Materspacher Magali

Sascha Magg Ann Magill

Douglas Magnum Chiara Magrini Giulia Magrini Sasha Mahmoud Lauren Mahon Michelle Mahoney Conny Maikisch

Stephanie Maillet Samantha Maine Sophie Majorelle Annika Majoros Christine Maki Kate Malachy Hédia Maldonado

Annick Malfliet Jo Malivoire Elliot Mallard Cait Mallery Aurélie MALLET Jenny Malone Liam Malone Pat Malone

Shiann Malone Lucie Malte M. Maltese Margaret Maltz

Isabel Alicia Mamposo María Mamposo Meray Mandel Mathilde Manigand Muriel Manigand Priest Manke Andy Manley

Katherine Mansfield

Lauren Manzak Alice Mapley

Sarah Manners

SANDIUMENGE ARIAS

MAR Marie Mar Kyria Maraviglia Corey March Mary March **MARISSA**

MARCHANT-MANSFIELD

Helen Marcus Kaylee Marek Helena Margareta

Andersson

Borrero García María del

Rocío

Lena Mariam Solène Mariaulle Clavier Marie VISINE Marie-Aude Filshtinskaya Marina

Laumont Marina Lauren Markham

Robert Markle Jessica Markov Ascher Marks Emily Marks

Anne-Marthe Markussen

Lisa Markwart Sara Marlow Tanya Marlow

jessica marotta-porter

Andre Marquis

Emmanuelle Marquis

Julie Marquis Melinda Marquis Natalie Marquis Natalie Marquis Thelma Marquis Jessica Marrazzo Joseph Marrelli Jennifer Mars Fiona Marsden Margit Marselas Mel Marsey Ben Marsh Ruth Marsh Blake Marshall **Brad Marshall** Andrea Martell Catherine Martell Joseph Martell Peter Martell

Emmanuelle Martin
Erika Martin
Helene Martin
Lies Martin
Madison Martin
Nicole Martin
Phil Martin
Schyler Martin
Tamsyn Martin
Tindra Martin
Vivien Martin
gem martin
sarah martin

Monique Martens

Cheri Martin

Clifford Martin

Encarnación Martín García Katherine Martin-Cannon

Ana Martinez Annette Martinez

Tamara martin

Sofia Martinez Lucia Martínez Virgilio Martínez Jodi Martini Oriana Martins Anneli Martinsdotter Per Arne Martinsen Siv Martinsen Britt Martinsson Brett Martyn Myra Marwick

Myra Marwick
M Mary Christine

Commella
Mint Maryam
Carly Maryhew
Heather Mascaretti
Ryan Maslyn
Tamara Masmeijer
Helen Mason
Aristea Massaras

Susana Mateo Sánchez

Karly Mather Paige Matheson Cathy Mathews Nicole Mathia Marcia Mathias Synnøve Mathiesen Carol Mathison Julianna Matiaco Charles Matlock Carmen L. Matos Rebekah Matson **Aaron Matthews** Ann Matthews Kim Matthews Wendy Matthews Wendy Matthews Katja Matthys Leen Matthys Stephen Mattioli Gwen Mattson Joy Maughan

Myra Mauk Cousinard Maureen Andromeda Mauritzon François Mauviard Diana Maxheimer Victoria Maxwell William Maxwell

Jennifer Mayberry

John May

Key Mayer
Valerie Mayer
Terry Mayfield
Lucy Mayhew
Tamson Mayo
Sandra Mayor
Robert Maywood
Matt Mazewski
Beth Mazur
Steve Mazur

Kathleen Mazza-Curll

Emily McArdle Pamela McArthur Fiona McAughey Sherrie McBain Alissa McBride Emily McBride Jonathan McBride Kari McBride Kaitlyn McBryde Nicole McCaffrey Jill McCain Lindsay Mccall Caitriona McCarry Debbie McCarten Deborah McCarten Clare McCarthy Margaret McCarthy Madhavi McCathie Andie McCaughey Beth McClelland Bonnie McCloskey

Anna McClure

Al McConnell

Lisa McCorkell

Cori McCormack

Jean McCluskey

Rachel McConnell

Karl McCormack
Caleb McCormick
Christiana McCormick
Jessica McCormick
Paula McCormick
Sam McCormick
Jane McCourt
Hollie McCoy
Netia McCray
Sharon McCubbin
Carrie McCulloch
Lauren McCurdy
Helen McDade

Aviel McDermott
Aisling McDonagh
Sally McDonagh
Ann McDonald
Chris McDonald
Christopher McDonald

Kate McDonell
Patrick McElcheran

Karyn Mcelhinney Janet McEwan

HELEN MCFARLANE Cherylle McFarlane Sherilyn McGahuey

Sue McGary Alyson McGee Carrie Anna McGinn

Keri McGinn Katherine McGinty Tina McGlade Emily McGoldrick Erin McGoldrick Tim McGoldrick

Donna Mcgoldrick David McGough Mary McGowan Teresa McGowan

L McGrath
James McGraw
Emily McGregor
Clare McHale
Jai McHale

Katherine Mchughen

K McInnes Rae McIntosh Rylan McIntosh Elizabeth McIntyre Anna McKay

Rachel McKay Ryan McKay Sophie McKay Katelynn McKeeth Patricia McKenney Sandy McKenzie Chelsea Mckenzie Jennifer McKinney

Sherise Mckinney
Helen McLaren
Kaye McLaren
Alexa McLaughlin

Anna-Sophia McLaughlin Melissa McLaughlin

Pema McLaughlin Sarah McLaughlin Helen McLean Laura McLean Victoria McLean Alana McLeod Kathleen McLeod

Kathleen McLeod
Lauren McLoughlin
Charis McMaster
Barbara McMullen
Ivy McMullen
Sheila McMullen

Marie McMurrain Joseph Mcmutry Greta McNab

Greta McNab Dianna McNair Rachel McNamara

Luc McNichols Nic McPaul

Cheryl McPherson Magda McQueen Amber McRae Amy McRae Amy McReynolds Christy McSweeney Elizabeth McSweeney Michael McVicker

Sarah Meador Hazel Meadson Jenny Meagher Susan Meagher Eileen Measley Kristin Mediaa Richard Medlin Susan Meehan Jennifer Meeks

Amy Meeves Elisabeth Mege-Revil

Lambert Meertens

James Meese

Tracy Meggitt Ludmila Meichtry Rachel Meidan

David Meier
Marco Meier
Jonathan Meighan
Simone Meijer
Maayke Meijering
Jacqueline Meinderts

Ricardo Meira Andrea Meister Erica Meister
Kurt Meister
Tobias Meister
Paul Mel
Tovah Melaver
Bradley Melchior
Angela Melina
Paul Melody
Durand Mélody
Erica Mena

Raquel mena taylor Karina Mendez

Paula Mendoza García Heidi Menera Norgaard

Izzie Menezes Maria Mens

Paco Mercado Herrador

Colin Mercer
Jude Merit
Andrea Merlin
Kari Merner
Leslie MERRAN
Susan Merrell
Scot Merriam
Cassiel Merricat
Amy Merritt
Brent Merritt
Christina Merritt

Sabrina Merz
Gro Mesna Andersen
Eleri Messenger
Robert Messenger
Margaret Messengermm
Emmalaura Messer
Lennie Messing
Donna Methot
José Meuwissen
MARY MEYER

Jodi Meyer Thomas Meyer Astrid Meyer-Knutsen

Grace Meyer

R Michael Kia Michaels Marlene Michalski Tony Micheaux Colin Michel Helen Michel, M.D.

Andy Micklethwaite Stuart Middleton Hannah Midget

Venke Midtlien Julia Miele Talulah Miers Iris Miholich Denise Mijatovic Deborah Mika Frode Mikalsen Tatiana Mikulić Cael Milbourne **Charlotte Miles** Claude Sr. Miles Connie Miles Jeanne Miles K Miles Lindsey Miles Claude miles Seb Milhofer Wendi Milhous **Emily Millar** Cynthia Millard Ed Millard Alida Miller **Christine Miller David Miller** Devin Miller Ellev Miller

Jennifer Miller John Miller Lisa Miller Melissa Miller Misty Miller Molly Miller Patricia Miller Peter Miller Robert Miller Ruby Miller Tori Miller Tracev Miller geoff millican Julia Milliken Whitney Millikin **Bridget Millington** Caroline Mills Jessica Mills

Suelyna Minjarez-Bun Alyssa Minor

Alyssa Minoi josie minto

Tanya Millward

Jennifer Minhas

Alyx Milne

Celia Milton

Leslie Minton Michael Mirabile Annika Mirchandani

Annika Mirchanda
Art Mirin
Nathaniel Mirin
Paul Mirin
Katelynn Miron
Virginia Mischen
Alexis Misko
Thomas Mistretta
Bonnie Mitchell
Bronwen Mitchell
Charles Mitchell
David Mitchell
Donna Mitchell
Estelle Mitchell

Henry Mitchell Lisa Mitchell Marlowe Mitchell Rosie Mitchell Sara Mitchell Tess Mitchell

John Mitchell jr Jann Mittlestead Kaori Miyamoto Li Mo

Christine Moe Solveig Moe Spildrejorde Bernhard Moeller

Ragnhild Moen Ins Moens Amy Mogavero Silvia Mohr Deb Mold

Bettine Molenberg
Janet Molina
Laura Molina
Jane Møller
Kristian Mollerup
Matthias Mollner
Rowan Moloney
Connie Molony
Steven Molony

Camilla Luna Molvær Vazquez Erin Monahan Jovce Moncelle-Kave

Joyce Moncelle-Kaye Elizabeth Moncrieff Joseph Mondragon Sonia Monette Roy Monica Pascual Mónica
Ashley Moniz
Julie Monsacré
Lyssa Monson
Iris Montaño García
Karla Monterroso
Alicia Montgomery

Alicia Montgomery
Briana Montgomery
Gemma Montgomery
Heather Montgomery
Jenna Montgomery
Alyson Montione
Maki Montminy
Servane Montreuil
Reyes Montserrat
bridgett monville
Terrie Moody
Valerie Moody
Valerie Moon
Helen Moon
Lee Moon
Phyllis Moon

Rosie Moon Amy Mooney Amy Moore Billie Moore Dana Moore Daniel Moore David Moore Geoffrey Moore Jerry Moore Julie Moore Laura Moore Martha Moore Nicole Moore Noelle Moore Rachel Moore Suzanna Moore

Tracy Moore
Vivien Moore
Tricia Moore-Lynch
Alysha Moothart
Emily Moothart
Pamela Moothart
Maria Morales
Sandra Moran
Kristina Moravec
Melanie More
Pamela More
Maggie Morehart

Tamara Moore

Victoria Morehead Espe Moreno Helena Morewood Gabriel Morgan Irene Morgan Janet Morgan Jemma Morgan Keannen Morgan Lillian Morgan Ruth Morley Cynthia Moroni **Amanda Morris** Caitlyn Morris **Deborah Morris** Fiona Morris **Heath Morris** Jo Morris

Julie Morris

Paul Morris

Lucinda Morris

Pamela Morris

Anne M Morris-McAllister

Charlie Morrison
Collette Morrison
Deb Morrison
Elizabeth Morrison
Stacey Morriss
Catherine Morrissey
Amelia Morrow
Janet Morrow
Kate Morrow
Quenby Morrow
Robert Morrow
Danielle Morsberger
Cheyenne Morse
Jennifer Morse

Kalila Morsink
Anne Mortenson
Dr Tamar Morton Jones
VALERIE MORVAN
Dominique Morvan
Andrew Moseman
Evan Moseman
Jessica Moseman
Joshua Moseman
Howard Moses

Marianne Mosher Jonathan Mosing Howard Mosley

Iselin Mosevoll

Emily Mosher

Sheila Mosley David Moss Pippa Moss

Christopher Motley Maya Mou Jacky Mouafo George Moujaes Robbie Mouland Nick Moult

Paula Mountcastle Conceição Mourão Marilee Mouser Ashley Mowat Kim Moy

Nathaniel Moyer

Gail Mozzicato
Marc Mrozinski
Fiorella Mucci
Sharon Mueller
Marilyn Muerth
Pamela Muggeridge
Sunshine Mugrabi
Margaret Muir
Reiner Muir
Johannes Mulder
John Mulder

Hetty Mulder-van Drie RAQUEL MULERO Karin Muller Kristen Muller Claudi Müller Madelleine Müller Ann Marie Mullins

Thomas Mulvihill Jordan Munn Lorraine Munoa

Kathryn Mullins

Esteban Munoz Michael Munoz Isabel Muñoz Pilar Muñoz Cadenas Agata Muñoz Huedo

Agata Muñoz Hued Julie Munsterman Abbey Munzing Yael Murie-Rosa Jennifer Murley Adrian Murphy Emilie Murphy Erin Murphy

S MURRAY Diane Murray Jennifer Murray
Jocelyn Murray
Lysbet Murray
Nancy Murray
Steven Murray
Tamara Murray
Valérie Murray
Debra Muse
Raymond Musika
Lauren Musleh
Claudia Musso
David Brian Musto

Isaac Mutch Lisa Mutchler

Manuel MVidal oledo

Erin Myers
Helen Myers
Marelle Myers
Eileen Myrdahl
Charlotte N
Penelope Naden
Sara Nadermann
Christina Nadler

Julian Naef
Regula Naef
Nicole Naeve
Malin Näfstadius
Dominic Nagar
Darla Nagel
Lisa Nagle
Peggy Nagle
Lisa Nagy
Maria Nahmias
Berney Naïk

Ileana Naish-Guzmán

Nataly Najarro
Megan Nakamoto
Naoko Nakamura
Roxanna Nakamura
Kenji Nakazawa
Kyoko Namai
Diane Nangeroni
Brooke Nankervis
Karen Napier
Cynthia Napolillo
Carrie Narbutis
Gail Nardi
Angela Narita

Edward Natenberg Guillaume Naturel

Jeri Nasci

Nir Nave Claire Naylor Blue Neal Katherine Neale

Shari Needham-Laundry

Roze Neeley
Alana Neeson
Angela Neff
Tom Nekstad
Abbey Nelson
Elizabeth Nelson
Elle Nelson
Jessica Nelson
Mary Lou Nelson
Megan Nelson
Rachel Nelson
Sarah Nelson
jan nelson
Jan Nemeth

Heidi Susann Nergård

Lukas Neroni Angus Nesbit

Daniel Neost

Juile Neraas

Hege Nesheim-Fleischer hegenesf@hotmail.com

Ragnhild Ness

Lisbeth lykke Neteland

Joey Netzorg
Debra Neubauer
Karyn Neue
Vanessa Neuhaus
Virginia Neuhaus
Deborah Neulander
Morag Nevay
Heather New
Natalie Newall
Megan Newell
sharon newport
Jocelyn Nguyen

Onora Ni Shuilleabhain

Tu-Vinh Nguyen

caroline nguyen

Suz Niccolls
Elizabeth Nicholas
Cherie Nicholls
Valerie Nicholls
Mary Nichols
Todd Nichols
Janice Nicholson
Matina Nicholson

Annette Nicol

Mumenthaler Nicolas

zoe nicoll

DASHA Nicolson Lara Niederhauser Emily Nield

Anne Nielsen
Astrid Marie Nielsen
Cecilia Nielsen
Jan Nielsen
Sally Nielsen
Heinz Niemczyk
Karina Niemczyk

Mykayla Niemczyk Sandra Niemczyk James Niermann Ina Nierotka

Cornelia Nietzschmann

Nathalie Nijs Aaron Nilsen Anna Nilsson

Bernt Nilsson Jenny Nilsson Lissa Nilsson Olff Nina

Daniella Nissen Edgar Nissen Debbie Nissenbaum

Dakota Niswonger Rachel Nitchman

Nannah Nitecka hannah nitsch Aina Elle Nitteberg

Alisha Nix Mitchell Nix Sabrina Nobile Sarah j Nodell Colin Noden

Peter Noe Nørby Dahl

Cecelia Noel
Sandrine Nogarotto
Erica Nogueira
Marita Nonaas
Elisabeth Noone
Kent Nord
Sara Nordberg
Suzanne Norgaard
Heidi Norheim Moen
Claire Noriega
Elen Lovis Nornes

Phaedra Norrell

Veronica North
Perry Norton
Maxine Nostromo
Ivory Novature
Karen NOZAY
Sebastian Nucinkis
Marisol Nuñez
Gloria Nuno

linda Nycum, MA Carolina Nygren Lena Nyström Jivan O R O

Eileen O Mahony Brian O Neill Michelle O'Brien Mike O'Brien Rachel O'Brien Ruth O'Brien C O'Dea

JOSEPHINE O'DRISCOLL

Christine O'Fallon C O'KANE Tadhg O'Meara Elizabeth O'Neill Jennifer O'Neill

Helen o'neill Margaret O'Rathaille

Irene O'Shea Siobhán O'Shea Geraldine

O'Sullivan-Hogan Colette O'brien Kellee O'Connell Jill O'Connor Maeve O'Connor Karli O'Keefe Kathleen O'Neill Sinead O'Rourke

Korvid Oak
Karen Oaks
Maeve Obanil
Rainer Oberegger
Mikkel Oberg
Stephan Oberg
Ann Øberg
Anisja Obermann

Susan Obertreis MP OBrien Patricia L Obrien Sheana Ochoa Ceara OConnell
Jennifer OConnell
Sarah Oconnell
Sarah Oconnell
Sven Odén Hansen
Linda Odgers
Pamela Oehlman
Stephanie Offer
Suzanne Offner
Keith Ogden
Felix Oggenfuss

Felix Oggenfuss Åsa Öhlin

Elizabeth Ohlmann
Bruce Ohlsen
chaand ohri
Monique Oijen
Fredrik Øistad
Tracey OKennedy
Gayle Okerson-Walters

fiona okumu YUI OKUNO Neville Okwaro Eliot Olaya Julianne Olds Anja Olergård Kat Olesen Lotte Olesen

Mackenzie Oliveira-Spires

Percival Oliver
Mathieu Olivier
Stefanie Olivier
Bethany Ollier
David Olliver
Kent Inge Olsen
Tomas Olsén
Tomas Olsén
Mark Olsheskie
Jordan Olson
Stella Olson
Tamara Olson

William Jason OMara

Katie ONeill Lauri Ongley Takako Onozawa Kristen Ontiveros Isabella Onzi Flores

Diana Orem Maria Orem Frieda Oren Pamela Orgill Juliette Orjollet Lauren Orme Christina Ormsby Heather Orr Claudia Ortiz Orive

liz orton Nicole Os

Elizabeth Osborne Jodi Osborne Beate Ose Kristina Osobka Elisabeth Östlund Jennifer Ostronic

Sofia Otmalm Collette Otoole

K. Ott
Jack Otte
Michelle Otto
Shannon Oudinot
Sadia Oumohand
Simon Ounsley
Kat Outten
Ingrid Øverås

Carolyn Owen
David Owen
Patricia Owen
Polly Owen
Sabrina Owen
Caroline Owens
Rebecca Owens
Burs Ozacoter
Yeşim Özben
Els P
Marty P
Maya P

John Overfelt

Iselin Øverland

Maya P Minerva P S P

Dorothea Paas Jacob Packard Julia Padfield

Julia Padfield Mary Ann Padulo Laurence Page

Mi Page Tammie Page Kristine Paige Liam Paiva Jean Paldan Earl

Rebecca Palley Claire Palmer Jace Palmer
Jay Palmer
Kelleigh Palmer
Karin Palmkvist
Joyce Palomar
Eli Palomba
Elissa Palser

Chelsea Panameño Marjorie Panditji Jane Pannell RN Lee Pantekoek Alexandros

Papakonstantinou Korinne Papalexis Mia Papas

Mia Papas Lori Paporello Kristen Paquin Luz Parada

Wolfgang Paradox Melanie Parent Alexandra Park Collin Park Megan Park Anna Parker Elivahu Parker Ellis Parker Liz Parker Marion Parker Rhiannon Parker Chris Parkes Jill Parkin Robin Parkins Heather Parkinson Rachel Parks Catherine Parmley Andrew Parry Janine Parry Theodora Parsons

Theodora Parson
Thomas Parsons
Laura Partland
Lia Pas
Amie Pascal
Amie Pascal

Julia Pascoe Kasha-Faye Pascoe

Sergi Pascual
Kareen Patig
Louise Paton
Lilan Patri
Marco Patriarca

Ashleyhi Patrone

Kunal Pattani
Roberta Patterson
Chloe patterson
Alan Pattinson
Anita Patton
Ameen Paul
Jennifer Paulsen
Andrea Paulus
Tea Pavković
Vladimir Pavković
Zlatka Pavković
Maria Paz de Cajiao

krista peach
George Pearce
Sam Pearce
Alicia Pearcy
Danissa Pearson
Joan Pearson
Katherine Pearson
Autumn Peaslee
Simas Peciur
Julia Peddy
Ivan Pedersen
Jens Pedersen

Margrethe Pedersen Tyra Pedersen Jenna Peeler Tory Peeler Michelle Peirce Rachel Pekala Laurie Pelis Anne Pellenq

Kristin Lyslo Pedersen

Lauren Peloquin Jennifer Pelter Aini Peltola

Gabriel Pelletier

Rosa Penco Emily Penn Mary Penna Ace Penrice Avi Penstone Michael Penther

Amanda Pemberton

Josef Pepa
Madeline Pera Floyd
manuel peraire piñol
Benjamin Peralta
Tommaso Perego
Chantalle Peretti
Richard Peretti

Alicia Perez Laura Perez Leandra Perez Winn Periyasamy Rudy Perpich Petronella Perret Vincent Perret Julie Ann Perri Silvia Perri Marie PERRIER Katherine Perrin

Katherine Perrin Ryan Perrone Jessica Perry Jonna Perry Stephanie Perry caroline perry Lovisa Persson Samantha Pestana

Samantha Pestana Ashley Peszek Tam Pet Martha Peterkin Buchanan

Martha Peterkin Jessica Peters Karyne Peters Kirsty Peters Maribeth Peters Pat Peters S Peters

Gwen Petersib
DESIREE PETERSON
Emily Peterson
Nancy Peterson
Katrina Pethers
Virginie Petit

Stacy Peters

@petitionSFCEM pétition

Kristin Petkova
Karyn Peto
Andrea Petry
Lauren Pettengill
Lyndsey Pettengill
Linda Pettersen
Alain Peurozet
Claire Peurozet
Marion Peurozet
Emilie Peyroth
Sara Pezzella
Mariëlle Pfaff
Chris Pfeiffer
Debbie Pfeiffer
Julie Pflug

Anne Pfluger
Robert Phair
Jennifer Phan
Megan Phelps
Cassie Pheonix
Penny Philcox
Allie Phillips
Chris Phillips
Laura Phillips
Lauren Phillips
Meranda Phillips
Naomi Phillips
Su Phillips
Susan Phillips
Tricia Phillips

Caitlin Phillips-Peddlesden

Victoria Phillipson Nancy Phipps Ryder Phoenix christine pialoux Cornelius Pianka Giuliana Piccari Shannon Pickard Ellen Pickett Gordon Picksley Kennedy Pickworth

Sarah Pierce
Gabrielle Pierotti
Maria Pierre
Bibiana Pierson
Edgar Pieters
Eline Pieters
Kyla Pike
Mia Pike
Josephine Pilla
Shelly Pillars
Darrell Ping
Michael Pini

Shelly Pillars
Darrell Ping
Michael Pini
John Piotrowski
Alison Pipe
Jessica Pippen
egidia pirlotte
Ellen V. Piro
Stuart Pitman
Louise Pivac
Janet Pixley
Glen Plant
Amber Platt
Judy Platt
Vincent PLAY
Emmanuelle Play

Odile Play
Orianne Play
Heather Playle
Elaine Pletsch
amy pluess
Christophe Pozet
Hans prag
Wanda Quan
Wanda Quan
Halcyon Pratt
Irina Preda
Sara Prehn
Sophie Qin
Wanda Quan
Isabelle Quaroni
Isabelle Quedville
Laurence

Greg Plummer Christine Preimesberger Jim Qui James Pochron Sophie Prely Jessie Quick Morgane PODEUR Kate Prendergast Jason Quigley Teri Poduval **Brittany Prentice** Melissa Quijada **Emily Pohl** Sophie Prescott Victoria Quijano Claus Pohls Cécile Présiaux Janet Quiles Narelle Pohls Darlene Prestwich Alisa Quillah Sabrina Poirier JORDAN PRICE Kendra Quintero **Greg Polchow** Heidi Price Cynthia Quispe

Anna Poley Hester Price Hanne Qvist Elicia Pollard Karan Price R R David Pollock Kathryn Price Kevin R.

Micah Polsky Megan Price Jonas Raabjerg
Riia Polso Patricia Price Yousef Rabhi
Johannes Polster Susanne Price Samantha Rabino

Esther Ponce Violetta Price Nell Race
Arlette Poolen Erin Pride-Swaney Derek Racine
Huguette Poolen Cameron Prideaux Emily Rackham
Rebecca Pope Diane Priest Sophie RACLE
Charlotte Poppink Laura Priest Miriam Radatz
mette pori Kamilah Priestley Anna Radcliffe

mette pori Kamilah Priestlev Anna Radcliffe Leah Port Inmaculada Prieto Jordan Lynda G Radcliffe Brian Porter Luke Pringle Sophie Radcliffe Brittany Porter Zoe Pringle Stephen Radcliffe Julieanne Porter Jordan Prins Karen Radde Kaitlin Porter Gemma Prior Mathew Raddings Sheila Porter Eileen Pritchard Teresa Rader Ashley Porubcan Warnie Pritchett Julie Radford

jeff PorubcanMartin PrivecJennifer RadomskiTalya PostelnikManuela ProbstKenneth RadziszewskiLeonie PotgieterAmanda ProkopSylvain RaeAlecia PotterSabine PröpperMoritz RaeckCassandra PotterMiranda ProsperiCarmel Rafalowsky

Jade Potter Anne Pross Emily Raffety
Jerrold Potter Gordon Prowse Sarah Raffray
Linda Potter Claudine Prud'homme Nathalie Rafinejad
Michele Potter Colin Pryde Thomas Ragan

Pandora Potts Adriana Pryor Mark Rager Maria Pou Dennis Pryor Rakel Maria Rahbaek

christophe Poulin Lisa Puccio Anna Ramage Megan Pulver Kelly Pound Aparna Ramen Andrea Powell Mariska Punt Autumn Ramey Barbara Powell Jane Purdy Sarah Ramey Sal Purificato Sharon Powell Maria Ramírez Jane Powers Olivia Putman Alexandra Ramsey Lisa Powers Adina Ramshall Max Qayyum

Final Version: 8/16/21 Page 78

Hanne Ramstad Micah Randel Sibylle Randel

Emma Randle-Caprez

Fred Randolph
Melanie Randolph
Susan Randolph
Darren Randon
Bryan Ranere
Caroline Ranere
Monica Rangne
Daniela Rank
Stefan Rank
Mary Rankin
Paul Rans

Jacqueline Raposo Jessica Raposo Nila Rasa Joseph Rasche Teresa Rashall Samiya Rasheed Sarah Raskin Aki Rasmussen Helle Rasmussen Emma Ratcliffe

Sue Rapattoni

Nadja Rathjen Christina Rausch Amanda Rawlinson Charlotte Rawlinson

Khai Ray

Barbara Raymond Chelsea Raymond Pauline Raymond Aspen Read Jennie Read Joanne Read Portia Reading Michael Readman

Lori Real Nancy Reame Annabel Reardon Blake Reber Signe Redfield Mary Redick Sallie Rediske Rebecca Redner Charlotte Reeb Marie José Reeb Erica Reed

Georgia Reed

Ruthann Reep Diederik Rees Emily Reese Gilbert Reeser Lorna Reeve Andrea Reeves

Andrea Reeves
Emeline Reeves
Nourdine Reguibi
Anne-Kathrin REICHE
Natascha Reichl
Emma Reid
Travis Reid
Michelle Reiken
Janice Reilly
Michaela Reilly
Justin Reilly, JD
Karen Reimers
Emma Reinhold
Meredith Reiniger
Melanie Reis
Stefanie Reiswich

Tara Reitmeier Kåre Reknes Linda Rempel Clémence Renault Amy Rengo Valentin Renouard

Alanna Reiter

Fiona Renwick Megan Resch

Christian Reschounig Anke Restin

Theia Revolt
María Rey Muñoz
Sofia Reyes
Jess Reynolds
Joanna Reynolds
Sallie Reynolds
Seamus Reynolds
Susan Reynolds
Elaine Rezotko
Charlie Rhodes
Kathia RIBOUTON

Elaine Rezotko
Charlie Rhodes
Kathia RIBOUTON
Alex Ricard
Lily Ricci
Hannah Rice
Suzanne Rice
Jesse Rice-Evans
Ri Richard Jacobson
Alison Richards
Anne Richards

Gracie Richards
Hayley Richards
Patricia D. Richards
Bethan Richardson
Karen Jane Richardson
Kelli Richardson

Maria Richardson Sally Richardson Sarah Richardson Rebecca Richmond Sasha Richmond Katharina Richter kelly rickard Daphne Rieder Lisa Riedmaier Monika Riedmaier Dana Rieger Steve Rieger Linda Riensch Nada Rifai Robin RIGGIO Bente Riise Anne Rikken Caroline Rilev Kathy Riley Michael Riley Shannon Riley

Daisy Rimbaut Elisa Rindelhardt Teme Ring

jori rillera

ELIZABETH RINTEL
Thomas Riordan
Krista Ripley
Tina Ripley
Lisa Risbec
Cecilie Risberg
Patricia Ritchie
Andrea Ritsch
Martin Ritsch
Anouk Ritter
Antje Ritter
Susanne Ritter
Julia Rittiner
Emma Rivers
Abi Rix

Abi Rix Alia Rizwan Erin Roady Leslee Robach Odile Robert Valérie Robert Kris Roberts
Melissa Roberts
Quinn Roberts
Rachel Roberts

Susan Roberts Roberts

Tifini Roberts
Wendy Roberts
Sarah Robertshaw
Amelia Robertson
Anthea Robertson
Patti Robertson
Riannon Robertson

Amy Robin
Swen Robineau
Stéphanie Robinot
Catherine Robinson
Christian Robinson
Crystal Robinson
Liz Robinson
Nicola Robinson
Roger Robinson

Sheryl Robinson
Katlyn Robison
Dodie Robson
Emily Robson
Samantha Robson
Jennifer Roby

Eglantine Rocca Serra

Emilie ROCHE
Kevin Roche
Amy Rock
Amy Rock
Sarah Roddam
Jenna Roddy
fin Rodgers
Lucy Rodrigues
Carolina Rodriguez
Dawn Rodriguez
LaSandra Rodriguez
Maria Rodriguez

María Jesús Rodríguez Arenas

KARMEN Rodríguez Cano

Cristina Rodríguez de

Gaspar

Lidia Rodriguez Novoa

Tina Rodwell Erin Roediger Kathleen Rogalla Ji Rogelja

Aedan Rogers

Chris Rogers
Alison Rogge
Laure Rogge
Andrea Rohe
john Rokas
Frances Rokhlin
caitlin rolke
Julia Roll

Angela Rölli
Jacqueline Rölli
Raphael Rölli
prudence rollo
Amanda Roloson
Caroline Roman
Anne Romatowski
Catherine Romatowski
Peter Romatowski

Suzanne Romatowski Siele Rombaut Margaret Ronolder

Les Rood Vivian Roode Annica Roos Solene Ropers Simone Ros Yasmin Rosales

Anna Rose Ari Rose Charlie Rose Delaney Rose Diane Rose Jamie Rose

Sharon Rose
Shayna Rose
Steam Rose
Eva Rosemeyer
Eleanor Rosen
Johanna Rosen
Rebekah Rosen
Jane Rosenberg
Andrew Ross
Angela Ross
Gordon Ross
Ishbel Ross

Karine Ross M Ross

Margaret Ross Martje Ross Shannon Ross Alexandria Rosselli Jaime Rossow Heather Roth
Rita Roth
Tom Roth
Lara Rothwell
Jennifer Rourke
Chelsea Rouse
Sharon Rousseau
Camille Roux
Avery Rowe
Naomi Rowe
Natasha Rowe

Dr. Belinda Rowland Kiera Rowland Elizabeth Rowley Scott Rowley Allie Roxburgh

Jet Roz Dave Rubell Elja Ruben Jelle Ruben

Elsiena Ruben-Terpstra

Jason Rubenfire
Nancy Rubey
Elise Rucci
Crystal Rudd
Ruth Rudd
Tracy Ruddell
Terry Ruddock
Terry Ruddock
Matthew Ruderman

Kris Rudin
Beth Rudloff
Pico Rue

Armin Ruedebusch Gina Ruggeri June Rugh Adam Ruhf Gabriella Ruiz Hannah Rule Sarah Rumbold Emma Rumney Margaret Rumney

Lea Runge Maike Rupp

Stephanie Rushworth

Emily Russ
Debra Russell
Karen Russell
Natasha Russen
Aeon Russo
Arthur Russo

Therese Russo carol russo Kelly Ruta

Penny Ruth Leshock Karen Rutten-Jacobs

Ingvild Ruud Erin Ryan Jess Ryan Joshua Ryan Megan Ryan Pauline Ryan Taylor Ryan trevor Ryan Audrey Ryback Valéria Rybnická katrin rychel Wynn Ryder Elisabeth Ryen Erica Rytiniemi

JS Maria S Pam S Sherazade S Mary Ann Sabia

Gabriela Sack-Neumann Jeanne Saddler, MSW. LCSW, Mental Health

Therapist Allyson Sadegur Lynn Sadja Nancy Sadja Mary Sadler Robyn Sadler Valerie Sadoulet Maria Sadowski Hanne Saether

Erlend Nicolai Sæther

Marit Sæther **Emily Safford** Skylar Safholn

Heidi Victoria Saglund

Ahna Sagrera Elisabet Sahlin Lauren Saikkonen

Lucy Sait **LUIS SAIZ**

Michiko Sakamoto Laura Salazar Maria Sale Arthur Salem Haz Salem

Nora

salem.nora14@yahoo.fr Elizabeth Salen

Dom Salisbury Grace Salisbury Griffin Salisbury Donna Salmon Kelly Salmon Eleanor Salsbury Kathryn Salter Melissa Saluzzo Neil Salvage

Antonio Carlos Salzvedel

Furtado Junior Aisling Sampson Aisling Sampson Erin Sampson Angela Sams Elizabeth Samuel

Kenya Samuel-Mitchell

Seta San

Gabriel San Emeterio Juliet San Nicolas de

Bradley

Heather Sanchez Marcia Sanchez Caroline Sand Ingrid Sand

Caroline Sandberg

Linnea Sandberg Darcy Sander Helen Sander Pia Sander **Isabel Sanders** Narda Sanders Shelby Sandford Mayra Sandoval

Kari Sandum Janice Sanecki Lisa Sanes Shani Sanger

Lakhwinder Sanghera Ingrid Sanne Eleanor Sansbury Mileide Santana Joseph Santee-Page Simona Santomauro

Julia Santos

AAngel Sarachagaaa Verhellen Sarah Linda Sarkar

Suiit Sarkar Tanja Särkimäki Lela Sarnat

Stéphane Sarnelli Shari Sarris Cecile Sastre Julia Sattlegger Heidi Sauer **Beryl Saunders** Michelle Saunders Robert Saunders Gena Saunier

Kiera Sauter julia sauvegrain Matthew Savage Miranda Savoie Elizabeth Sawyer Jim Sawyer Toby Sawyer

Kai André Saxvik-Hansen

Rebecca Savers **Brittany Saylor** Alison Sbrana Penelope Scales Ally Scarpa

Susan Scatliffe Nata Scha Daniel Schaa

Catherine Schaaf-Poms

Dieter Schaber Leisa Schaim Nathan Schatz Henrik Scheel Ayaan Scheele Lea Scheer Laura Scheinoha

Cathyscheller2@hotmail.c

om Scheller Jill Schenck Nicole Schenk Cynthia Scherrer Brian Schiazza Linda Schild Beth Schipper Karin Schipper Melanie Schleder

Julia Schleicher Annabel Schleutker Sabrina Schluckebier Amelia Schmale dana schmich

Page 81

Anita Schmid Daniela Schmid

Ronald Schmidhammer

Jens Schmidt
Peter Schmidt
Terry Schmidt
Martina Schmirl
Jennifer Schmitt
Tanja Schmitt
Verena Schmitt
Nicole Schmitz
Martina

Schmötzer-Breitenbach

Alex Schmoyer
A. Schmugge
Colleen Schneider
Molly Schneider
michele schneider
Anne Schneidereit
Laura Schoenberger
Amy Schoenenberger

Sandy Schols
Judith Schoßböck
Sheri Schreier
Claudia Schreiner
Rebecca Schroder
Anita Schroons
Peder Schubertsson
JERED SCHUE
Paula Schuler

Joey Schulhoff
Jackie Schultz
Kathryn Schultz
Lesa Schultz
Belinda Schulz
Raelene Schulz
Sylvia Schulz
Ullrich Schulz
Arry Schumacher

Nanette Schuster Theo Schutt

Dr. Sabine Schütz
Sabine Schwarz
Lena Schwarzer
Philipp Schwärzer
Rocio Schwarzlander
Kerstin Schweiger
Natalie Scoggins
Alyss Scollard

Sarah Scotchie Amanda Scott Christa Scott Debbie Scott Francesca Scott Janet Scott

Laura Scott Lisa Scott Nia Scott Nicki Scott Shawna Scott Toby Scott Meryl Scrivener

Karen Scott

Sally-Anne Scrivener Sue Scrivener Lu Seal Jon Sear

Stefanie Sear
Lucy Searles
Kayla Sebastian
Regula Sedelberger
Tanya Sedlacek
Nora Seegebrecht
Naomi Seeger

Jacob Seemann Michael Seery Chelsey Seevers Gabrielel Segervais Effie Seiberg Miri Seiberg

Mathias Seif Yvonne Seiwell Anisha Sekar Jennifer Seligman Roo Selser

Jaime Seltzer
Tone Sem-Jacobsen
Christi Semmel
Ana Semple
Tracy Semrow

FATIMA SENTANDREU

OLTRA

Deborah Sephton Jay Serafinski Julie Sergeant Sarah Sergeant

Sarah Sergeant
Tim Serkes
Araceli Serrano
Lisa Serrano-Dodd
Vendela Sevenheim
Kenneth Sewell
Dave Sexton

Kathleen Sexton Veronica Sexton Aida sexton Devon Shafer Lindsey Shaffer Elia Shakhnovich Amy Shallcross Ashley Shambaugh

Pam Shank Lindsay Shanks Morgan Shanks Adrianna Shannon Elizabeth Shannon Kathleen Shannon Galia Shapiro Laura Shapiro gary shapiro Michele Sharer Ane Sharma Chelsea Shaw Collette Shaw Kendal Shaw Lauren Shaw Lisa Shaw Mark Shaw Megan Shaw Sharon Shaw chrissie shaw Henry Shawcross

Henry Shawcross
Susan Sheehan
yuval shefi
Nathan Shelley
Morgan Shelor
Jean Shepard
MEGAN SHEPHERD

Justina Shepherd
Todd Shepherd
Sangeeta Shere
Rebecca Sheriff
mark sherin
Raphael Sherriff
William Sherrill
Ava Shervanick

Xi Shi

Tomoko Shida Cath Shiel Vania Shih Leslie Shilling Jennifer Shim Romy Shiner Mieko Shinohra Dharana Shiva Jane Shiyah

Rachel Shiyah-Satullo Elizabeth Shockley Sophie Sholl Mallory Sholtz Eleanor Shopland Deborah Shore Anna Short Ashley Short Suzanne Short Elizabeth Short, MD

Brian Shuell Lesley Shure Suzanne Siaens Hannah Siden Lisa Sidwell

Esther and Gordon Siebert

Gordon Siebert Cindy Siebrecht Alena Sieck Elizabeth Siess

Hjördís Ósk Sigtryggsdóttir

Lisa Sikes Susan Sikes Ali Silva Erika Silva Isabella Silva

Luisa Helena Rocha Silva

Amanda Silver
Aliza Silverman
Carol Silverman
Marni Silverman
sydney silverman
Elyse Silverman Jack

Rachel Sim
Sharon Simas
Katie Simmonds
Dominique Simmons
Jen Simmons
Rachel Simmons
José Francisco Simó
Heather Simon
Jade Simon
Marc Simon
Jeanne Simonet
Rachel Simons

Ditte Cecilie Simonsen Charlotte Simpliciano

John Simpson Susan Simpson BOB SIMS
Hazel Sims
Kelle Sims
Madelyn Sinclair
Sian Sinclair
Tara Sinclair
Adelle Singer
Ben Singer
Sandra Singh
Pedro Siniscalchi
Melanie Sirotkin

Sharoldine Sisneros Andrea Siu

Johanne Sivertsen Bjørn Ivar Sjåfjell Linn Sjåfjell Mia Sol Sjåfjell Martina Sjöberg Ilse Sjouke Ilse Sjouke markus sjouke

Maria Skauge Tønseth Elizabeth Skeates Louise Skelley Andy Skiffington Mallory Skinner Anne Skirde Ella Skogland Maria Skoglund Cecilie Skogvold Siri Skorgen Jessica Skorupski Agnete Skrede Sandra Slacer Thomas Slagmolen Lottie Slater Brown Amanda Slaughter Michael Slaughter Roxy Slauson Mario Slavik Ben Slaver Samantha Slee Synnøve Sletvold

Lisa Slinkard Thomas Slowikowski Allison Sly Lene Smaadal Elizabeth Smart

Isabel Smart Taylor Smiley Lisa Smit Karin Smit - vriend Adrienne Smith Alexandra Smith Alison Smith Cassidy Smith Catherine Smith Chloë Smith Connolly Smith Constance F Smith Debbie Smith Dorothy Smith

Dorothy Smith
Heidi Smith
Helen Smith
Helen Smith
Jacquelyn Smith
Joanne Smith
Kathleen Smith
Kathryn Smith
Ken Smith
Kyleigh Smith
Laura Smith
Mary Anne Smith

Myra Smith

Patricia Smith Patrick Smith Red Smith Regina Smith Rhiannon Smith Rosemary Smith Ruth Smith Saku Smith Steve Smith Storm Smith Therese Smith Thomas Smith Timothy Smith Laura smith nikolai smith Kelsey Smolen Lindsay Smyth Helen Snepp Kim Snow

Philip Snowdon

Alison B Snyder Carole Snyder

Cherie Snyder

David Snyder

Nicole Snuffer-Kelly

Final Version: 8/16/21 Page 83

Rebecca Snyman
Orjan Soderberg
Lydia Söderberg
Sylvia Söderlind
Anna Sofranko
Felicia Solano
Linda-Kristin Solheim

Heidi Solibakke Aurora Solla Bee Solomon Rivka Solomon Tom Arild Solvang Chantal Somm Emily Sommer

Candace Sommer-Van

Auken

Patricia Somozas David Song Kai Song

Marian Sonnenfeld Inakuma Sonoko Gunder Sønsteby Mona Söreke Steven Sorensen Monica Sørensen Stine Wiig Sørensen Stine Wiig Sørensen

Julia Sotelo Liam Sotelo

Nichole Sotiropoulos

Ai Souma
Douglas South
Mary Southwell
Megan Southworth
Anne-Lise Souza
Rita Søvik

Lillith Spade
Chris Spalding
Madison Sparacello
Christine Spargo
Simonida spasojevic

Ben Spatz Caridwen Spatz Sabine Specker Adam Spector Irina Spector-Marks

Ineke Spek Sarah SPENCE Amy Spencer Caitlyn Spencer Jeremy Spencer Jessica Spencer

Natacha Spencer Martins Maia Spencer-Bunch

Julia Sperhac

Christopher Sperling Stefan Sperling Sarah Spevacek Charles Spiegel Joke Spies

Franceschina Spingola

Rowena Spinks Kimberly Spiva Astrid Spoor Ronald Spoor Jennifer Spotila Jessica Spotts Denise Spreag Jordan Springs Sarah Sprouse Mischa Spruijt Mira Spurgeon Billy Squier

Aishwarya Srinidhi Richard Stables Julia Stach Petra Stafberg Gigliola Staffilani Leah Stagnone Samuel Stairmand Vegard Stålamd

Ineke Stam Bohdana Stanclova Dominic Stanculescu Chester Stander Helen Stangret **Emily Stanley** Sally Stanley Daniel Stanton Julia Stanton Rachel Stanton Sarah Stanton Michele Staples Katharine Star Alina Starkov **Heather Starnes** Roxanne Stasik Damien Staszkow Vince Stauble

Elisabeth Stearns

April Stechschulte

Ruth Stearns

Adam Steel
Jillian Steelberg
Sarah Steele
Strummer Steele
Tricia Steele
judith steele
Carine Steels
Maggie Steffen
Andrea Steffens
Emily Steffensmeier
Katylyn Stefiuk-Sandy

Alexander Stein Sofia Stein natalie stein anne steinberg Anna Steiner **Beverly Steiner** Regine Steiner Laura Steinert Nina E. Steinkopf Elvse Stelford Tinne Stender Beate Stenklov Abigail Stenner TAIBI Stéphan Adrian Stephen Amanda Stephen Shelly Stephen Jennifer Stephens Lois Stephens Marie Stephens Sharyn Stephens Stephanie Stephens Marty Stephenson Robert Stephenson Tom Stephenson

Chani Sterling
Miranda Sterling
Rich Stern
Skylar Sternke
Dylan Stetson
Tina Stetson
Sam Stettiner
Kaitlynne Stetz
Amy Stevely
Amanda Stevens
Carol Stevens
Cat Stevens
Cynthia Stevens
Karla Stewart
Kaylee Stewart

Lane Stewart
Lauren Stewart
Phil Stewart
Selene Stewart
Sherry Stewart
Tamera Lynn Stewart

Vickie Stewart Markus Stierberger

Janet Still
Lauren Stine
lan Stirling
Linda Stirling
David Stiver
K Stivers

Christopher Stockdale

Sarah Stockton
Lauren Stoddard
Nancy Stoehlker
Kristin Stoelen
Tamara Stojanov
Julia Stokes
Laila Stokke
Torunn Stølen
Julie Stoltz
Carmen Stone
Cherise Stone
Daniel Stone
Halina Stone
J Stone

Stone Stone
Stone Stone
Carol Stoneburner
Adam Stopford
Kelley Stopnik
Lisa Storc

Anne R Størdal Brenda Storey Kathrin Storheil Einar Storlien

Michele Stormer Holly Beth Storms

Kelly Storr Samantha Storz

William Storz Sebastian Stössel Romany Stott Stephanie Stott Jutta Stottinger Sherry Stouth

Marcy Stowe Frauke Straatman Mary Ellen Strand Jonna Strandén Michelle Stratford Rachel Straub Charlie Straus Jana Straus Linda Straus john straus

Michelle Strausbaugh

Styx Strauss
Michael Street
Taylor Streeter
Marika Streiber
Thomas Streifeneder
Jennifer Strickland

Yvette Stringer
Mikell Stringham
andrea strohriegl
Cheryl Stromberg
Christine Stromberg
Teresa Strous
Jim Strsus
O. Stryker
vince stuart

Holly Stubbs Astiana Stults Sara Sturk Maryann Stutchman

Jennifer Styzens Anibal Suarez Anne Suddaby Alisa Sukhina Isabel Sukkar

Adrian Sullivan Angela Sullivan Keith Sullivan Erika Sumi

Toshimi Sumi Sarah Summers Winston Summerville

Sissel Sunde

Elizabeth Sundquist

Britt Sundqvist

Dee Sunyata
Mari Supersano
Christiane Suppan
Timothy Susko
Moselle Sussman
Rebecca Sutcliffe
Marion suter

Tegan sutherland James Sutter Connie Sutton
Eden Sutton
Teresa Suurs
Niko Suvisto
Kjersti Svalland
Emilia Svedberg
Ingvild Svendsen
Johan Svensson
Karin Svensson
Lotta Svensson
Ksenia Sverdlova
Hege Marie Sverdrup

James Sutter

Isabella Swadzba
Gail Swain
Sydney Swan
Lynlee Swartz
Dixie Swearengin
Christine Sweeney
Eileen Sweeney
Katherine Sweney
Susan Swenson
Kaitlyn Swift
Nikki Swift
renee swope

Janet Sylvester Trousson Sylvie Nikolaus Syrovatka Miriam Szabo-Wexler Agnes Szarvas

Agnes Szarvas Eva Szoboszlay Thomas Szymczak A T

Sumi T Linda Tabris

Gaëlle Tacher Metifeu Camden Tadhg

Rachel Tag Hatice Tagay Françoise

Taillyfrancoise@gmail.com

Tailly

Sheila Taipale
Sabine Taise
Yuko Takeuchi
Candice Tal
Elizabeth Talbot
Concetta Taliercio

Loes Talma Martin Talvi

Dr. Bartus Tamás

Victoria Tambo Jackie Tamboer Alysia Tamminga Yuki Tamura Martina Tan Myra Tan Yoshiro Tanaka Cout Tania Raffini Tania Yuko Tanimura Randi Tannenbaum Melissa Tanner John Tannon Dulcinnea Tapia Georgia Tarquinio Adam Tarshis Sam Tarvin Marco Tascini warren tate Kate Tatlow Anamaria Taylor Anna Taylor Arianna Taylor Brenda Taylor **Bridget Taylor Christy Taylor Daisy Taylor Danielle Taylor** Elena Taylor Jamie Taylor Jesse Taylor Karen Taylor Katherine Taylor Laura Taylor Mim Taylor

Sue Taylor Tatiana Taylor William Taylor William Taylor Willow Taylor

Philippa Taylor

Susan Taylor-Brown, PhD

Jen Temm

Ramses Temmerman Deborah Temple Hania Templeton Tam ten Hove Kim Tener L Tennyson

Cecilie Marie Teppen YUKO TERAUCHI Deepijan Terence Gannon Terry Vania Terzopoulou Davis Teshome Sylvie Testard Kimberly Tetrault Marion Tewes-Lange

Victoria Thain
Juanita Thatcher
Eva Themar
Myrofora Themistocleous

France Thibodeau
Caitlin Thiele
Yannik Thiem
Line Thieren
Carole Thivierge
Frederik Thoma
Angelique Thomas
Ben Thomas
Elizabeth Thomas

Judith Thomas

Sanjana Thomas
Sean Thomas
Shirley Thomas
Winifred Thomas
aislinn thomas
Lori Thomassen
Alexander Thompson
Alicia Thompson
Jessica Thompson
Jill Thompson
Lidia Thompson

Melanie Thompson Morette Thompson Nick Thompson Nicole Thompson Robert Thompson Steve Thompson Victoria Thompson

Victoria Thompson
Anette Thomsen
Elizabeth Thomson
Judith Thomson
Rachel Thomson
Kevin Thonhofer
Anna-Carin Thorén
Ida Thorkilgaard
Jacob Thorn

Jeremiah Thornton
John Thornton Thornton

Lisa Thornton Stephanie Thornton Jeremy Thorp K Thorpe Tom Thorpe S.G. Thorup

Sylvie THOUVENIN
Maria Thunberg
Annwen Thurlow
Melissa Tiarks
Marc Tiemann
Sarah Tier
Valeska Tietze
Valeska Tietze
Andi Tiffany
Chris Tiffin
Dana Tigani
Lieselotte Tigges
Lisa Tigges
Reese Tilbury

Adriane Tillman
Gary Tillman
Dianne Timbers
Susan Timewell-Jeffs
Amy Timoszyk
Tord Tingvatn
Charity Tinnin
Paul Tippetts
alan tipping
Beth Titchiner
Rose Titchiner

Evelien Tjebbes Madeléne Tjernqvist Tracy Tobiczyk Pat Tobin Stephanie Todd Sarah Tofteland Grete Toftesund

Paula Titterton

Angelica Tollefors Bristam

Alisann Tolosa
Andrea Tomasek
Alida Tomaszewski
Nina Tomei, MD
MARIE TOMKO
Adam Tomlinson
Brian Tomlinson
Kate Tomlinson
Mary Jane Toms
Pati Tomsits
Stephanie Tong
Romain Tonnelier

Mary Tonningsen

Page 86

Lorraine Toone
Elizabeth Torbert
Carmen Torija
Maria Torija
Mariano Torija
Ida Torjussen
Destiny Toro
Albert Torres
Amanda Torres
Camille Torres
Eva Torres
Marissa Torres

Marissa Torres
Eva-Linnea
Torstenssoneva
Charles Tosh
Linda Tosney
Jennifer Tosolini
Carol Tossell
Irene Tostrup
Edit Toth
Stefania Tottolo
Cheryl Tourigny

Clément Tournier
Raiana Towne
Renée Townsend
Stephanie Townsend
Sharon Tracey

Jordan Tracey
Jordan Trader
Nicole Trahan
Bruce Train
Miana Tran
Anne Trandum
Emily Traylor
Pam Traynor
Sophie Traynor
Elizabeth Trebotich
Rowan Treder

Danielle Tremblay Curry Trice

Rosalinde Trijssenaar

DM Trinder chance tripathi Linda Tripp Gunnel Troberg Kaouthar trojette Kyle Trombley Bernadette Tromp

Iris Tropp Aoife Troxel Allister Trudel Gwenyth TRUE Kali Trueblood Leslie Trujillo

Mark Truscio

Nina Tsang Jun Tsutsumi Laura Tubb Glenn Tucker Heather Tucker

Justina Tucker Liza Tugendsam Christine Tully Kali Tulsi

Pavaman Tumkur Tiffany Tupper Julie Turcotte Abby Turner Annie Turner

Kent Turner Laura Turner Sarah Turner clare turner

Debra Turner

Karen Tuthill
Betty Tutman
Rebecca Tutton
Gregg Twentyman

Jude Twesme Lynn Twohey Alice Tyack David Tyrer Fodowo Tyus

AU

Lorraine Udell Harriet Uff Marcia Ulrich Ulrike Ulrike Iris Underwood Betsy Unger Mitzi Unger Mary Unsworth Alice Urbino

Milagros Ureña Martin

Lynne Urman Kelly Urguhart

Inge V
Julie V
Loes v Dijk
Imke V Schijndel
Anne Vaag

Jeanne-Marie Vaidie

Charo fibromialgia

Valbuena

Christopher Valdemarsson

Meli Valdes
Melisande Valdes
Stine Valen
Louise Valentine

Hayley Valentine-Howard

Brittany Valera Tanja Valeri

Cristina Valero Nuñez

Richard Vallee
Salla Valtonen
Esther van Ass
Dascha Van beurden
Luc Van de Velden
Yvette Van De Walle
Evelien Van Den Brink
Windy Van den Hooff
Annemiek van der

Doe-Janse

Manon Van der hoek Richard van der Laak Jacobine van der List

JC van der Lit

Kelly Van Der Meiren
Danielle van der Molen
Jenny van der Palen
Kim van der Ploeg
Karin van der Velde

Willeke Van der Voet-hoek Linda Van der Weijden

Anil van der Zee
Nora van der Ziel
Ingrid Van dongen
Louise Van Doorninck
Marilène van Dorst
Petra van Driel
Gj Van Duren
Karen van Dyck
Toni van Eeden
Irene van Exel

Femke Van Hellenberg

Hubar

Gina Van Helvoirt
Bruno Van Hemelrijck
Eveline van Herwaarden
Nancy Van Hoylandt
Thijs Van Iersel

Laura Van Impe J. van lamoen

Caroline Van Leiien Laura van Loo Maartje Van Meijel Sofie van Nierop Imko Van Os

Tiny van Pouderoyen Inge van Putten Lea Van Regemorter Jeanneke Van roeyen Daniel van Rooijen Hannah Van Ruitenbeek

M van Schijndel Lorraine van t Veer Jan van Tiel

Mariska van Westen-Langhorst Sanne van Wijk Rita Van Woensel Lyria Van Wormer Derrie van Zand Wouter Vanaerschot Peggy Vandenbord

Marina Vanderslagmolen

Els Vandewiele Tim VanDrunen Sage Vangen Els Vanhoucke Monique Vanier asphodel vanitas Lise Varan

Liz Vasilkovs

Bonnie & Harold Vastag

Brian Vastag Solen Vaudry Carolyn Vaughan Victoria Vaughan Elaine Vaughn Esther Vd kamp Renske Veldhoff Astrid Velten

Marjolijn Velthuizen Mel Venegas Laura Venizelos Andy venneman Charlene Venner Lois Ventura Chelsea Vercoe Yvonne Verhaar

Sonja Verhulst Michael Veris

Valerie Verloo

Kathleen Vermeulen

Enya Vermeyen Claire Verryt Maria

Versonnen-Hoeykens Alice Vertommen Celine Verweij Lene Vester

CATHERINE VEYRET Sandy Viall Richard Vialls Sebastian Vibe

Meritxell Viciano Rivero Rachael Vickers

Caroline Vickrey Vickrey

Shawn Viduranga Paula Vieira Hayley Vierkant Jose Marie Vignau Randi S. Vik Marit Villmo Eden Vincent Carolyn Vinci

Vibeke Vind Maren Else T Vinther

Fred Vintner Melanie Violette Anna Virgilio Liabeuf Virginie

Raquel Vírseda Gallego Rosemary Viste

Nikolai Vitcovschi Hannah Vitu Margaret Viviers Retha Viviers Leigh Vladyka Avery Vocke George Vocke **EW Voets** Pat Vogel Sorava Voqels Claudia Vogt Toby Vokal Tove Voldseth Fionn Volkov Eilen Vollan Ida Vollmers Nunziatina Volpe

Halben

Makaiya von Stentzsch

Ann-Kathrin von der

Line Monica Voreland

Beryl Voss Veronika Voss Kamila Vostrá Milo Votava Patricia Voydanoff Brenda Vreeswijk

Carin Vriend Bart Vriesema Alex Vryens Martin Vuckovic

A W Emma W S W Valerie W

Brendan W-Robinson Tobias Wabulat

Adrienne Wade Laura Wade Megan Wadsworth Jayne Wagner Kerstin Wagner

Nadine Wahl Stine Wahl Timothy Wahl Pam Waines Casey Wait Tonie Waitz Alex Wake John Wakefield Mary Wakefield

Zachary Wakefield Margaret Wakeley Tim Wakeman Liana Walcak Emily Waldal Amy Waldron Vivienne Waldron Curtis Walker Ellen Walker Javne Walker Jonathan Walker Lisa Walker Ann Wall

Caitlin Wall **Beverly Wallace** Cameron Wallace Hugh Wallace James Wallace Marjory Wallace Mary Wallace

Meg Wallace Collette wallace **Shelley Waller** Linda Walley Jade Wallin Nikki Walling Madeleine Wallner Tabja Walser Kelly Walsh Stephanie Walsh Virginia Walsh Andrea walsh Isabel Walter Kim Walter Alex Walters Wade Walters euphemia walters Thijs Waltjen Francesca Walton Janet Walton Petra Walton Cato Wang Tim Wang Amy Ward Chris Ward Samantha Ward Sarah Ward Sarah Ward Sue Ward Kieran Warden K Waring Marilyn Warlow Judy Warner Maria Warner Victoria Warner Beth Warnick Linnie Warnick Jane Warren Kimberly Warren Megan Warrick Johan Wasell Louise Wasell Travis Washburn Rebecca Wasilewski Heike Waskow Sasha Wasserman Katherine Watford **Emma Watkins Jack Watkins Lewis Watkins**

GRAHAM WATSON

Gillian Watson Julie Watson Megan Watson Sally Watson **Andrew Watts** Jewel Watts Alison Waxman William Waxman Sarah Waycott Abbie Wayne Bellahna Weathers Elizabeth Weaver Joi Weaver Annabelle Webb Lucie Webb Bianca Weber Jenny Weber John Weber Mackenzie Weber Alison Webster Colin Webster Melanie Weckert Gill Wedding Cheryl Weedon Rebecca Weger Phillip Wehlitz Michael Wei James Weida Gertien Weiiers Anna Weinand Rachel Weiner Deborah Weinrauch Susanne Weirich Elizabeth Weisblatt Aimee Weiss **Beverly Weiss** Carla Weiss Jacqueline WEITE Angela Welch **Eleanor Wellings** Gemma Wells Kadem Wells Thandi Welman Jennifer Welsh Natasha Welson Carly Welton Deborah Welton Philip Welton bregie werkhoven Mary Werner-Minges Nina Werring

Ann West Elizabeth West Nell West Astrid Westad Violet Westelaken-Jules Jodi Westenhofer Susanne P Westerberg Lynne Westphal Peggy Wettig chase weynand Maddie WH Ann Whale Tiger-Anne Wheatley Jane Wheatley-Crosbie Katherine Whedon Laura Wheeler Samantha Wheeler Adam Wheland Gabriel Whetstine Maximilienne Whitby Josephine Whitchurch Anne White Carol White **Emily White** Jennifer White Lisa White Primavera White R White Scott White Thomas White gillian Whitehouse Patricia Whiteleather Sharon Whiteman Julie Whitham Julia Whitmore Wendi Whitmore Jerusha Whitney Megan Whitt Margaret Whittaker Mary Beth Whittam Nitzie Whittam Laura Whittington Jeff Whyte Wayne Wichern **THOMAS** WICKENHAUSER Margareta Widell Cheri Widman Katva Wieber Theresa Wiegert Aiden Wiekhart

lisette wiemes John Wigner Annette Wiig robert wijbenga Lorna Wilburn Debbie Wilcock Rowan Wild Anna Wilder Java Wilder Alexandra Wilding Pippa Wildwood

Alexandra Wiley Kira Wilfort Angela Wilhelm Chris Wilkewitz Grace Wilkie **Emily Wilkinson** Garrett Wilkinson ML Wilkinson

Nikoline Willadssen Sanneke Willemsen

kate willett

Daniella Willett-Rabin Amanda Williams Amanda L Williams **David Williams** Ellen Williams **Ember Williams Emma Williams Emma Williams Fave Williams** Freya Williams Glenn Williams

Hannah Williams Jenny Williams Kaitlin Williams Kristen Williams Kristine Williams

Lynda Williams Malia Williams

Michael Williams Reagan Williams Rhid Williams Robyn Williams Siobhan Williams Suzanne Williams

Tara Williams Tash Williams **Taylor Williams** Teresa Williams Virginia Williams Yvette Williams Jean Williamson Micah Williamson Claire Willis

Rosie Wills Sharon Wilmot Aguim Wilson Barbara Wilson Claire Wilson Elisabeth Wilson Erika Wilson

Jacqueline Wilson Jenny Wilson Justin Wilson Kayla Wilson

Heather Wilson

Maverick Wilson

Pat Wilson Patricia Wilson Sharon Wilson Tracy Wilson Victoria E Wilson Chad Wiltsey Audrey Wiltsie Kathryn Wilusz John Winckowski Alexandra Winder Katie Windham Louise Windia

Willem Windig Agatha Windig-Meekel Charlotte Winger Jane Wingfield Nils Winkler Brandon Winrich Kelsey Winsor Jo Winspear

Saskia Windig

Robert Winstone

Al Winter Francesca Winter Ingrid Winter PJ Winters

Tangerine Winters Kade Winterton Angela "Sam" Wise Damian Wise mika wisnefsky

Naradia Wissmar Katie Witham Caroline Withers

Megan Witsaman Bozena Wittke Susanne Wittmer Amanda Woerner Laura Wofford Sigrid Wohlers Janell Wohlgemuth

Marit Wøhni Wendy Wojtas Soibhan Wolcott Biørg Edith Wolden Patricia Wolfbauer Abbey Wolfe Saskia Wolff Lilv Wolford Anna Wolfson

Alison Rose Wonderland

Gar Wong Li Wong Marcia Wong Mau Wong Serena Wong Kristel Wood Marie Wood Matilda Wood Miriam Wood Nicola Wood Tom Wood Beth Woodburn Ketra Wooding Eric Woodley

Leif Woodney Alyssa Woodruff Julie Woodruff Craig Woods Meredith Woods amy woods Julianne Woodside

Alice Woolf Ian Woolf Sam Woolmer Marjon Wormgoor Sue Worrall

Aaron Wright Alfie Wriaht **Edward Wright** Gillian Wright Hannah Wright Jennifer Wright Jessica Wright Kelly Wright

Lea Wright Morny Wright

Natalie Wright Nicky Wright Penny Wright Rachel Wright **Shaney Wright** Sheila Wright May Wyeth

Dan Wyke Rebecca Wyles

Kat Yuen Henry Wyman Lauren Yumibe Adelle Wynkoop Yuko Yuyama Caroline Wynn Ulrika Zaar Kaycee Wysaski Patricia Zabiega kathy wyse Belinda Zadow Spinnaker Wyss Dalia Zaldivar Mark Wyzenbeek **Brett Zamir** gerda zanders

Helen Young

Jay Young

Kolby Young Leanne Young

Nick Young

Lee Ann Young

Samantha Young

Sylvia Youngblut

Teresa Youngblut

Helena Young Young

Bethany Yagci Denise Zandomeneghi Emiko Yamashita Melanie Zanitzee Barbara Yanes Alissa Zapiecki Carlos Yañez Michael Zaret Olivia Zarit Paul Yang

Xiangyan Yang Anne-Carole Zbinden Kala Yasha Anne-Carole Zbinden Aine Yates Marta Zdasiewicz Kirsten Yatsko Liza Zdorova Md Zedek Marisa Yeaman Anna Yearous Kiki Zeldes Michael Yearous hera zendova Christina Yesenofski Isabelle Zezima Stephanie Yesenofski Lisa Ziazan Denise Yesenofsku Craig Ziegler Sara Ziegler Rewsen Yildirim-Nevay Rivînî Yildirim-Nevay Miranda Zigler Maria Yngman Hanneke Zijlmans

Courgeault Yoann Sarah Zion Kazuki Yokokawa Joris Zip

Miho Yokokawa Heinrich-Gregor Zirnstein,

Chifuvu Yoneshige PhD

Yuki Yoneshige Stephanie Zoida Janet York Anke Zoontjens Tina Yorke Farimah Zorriasatein **Brooke Young** Corinne Zuhlke

Charly Young Christopher Zuiderhof

Colin Young Kirsten Zuidert Colleen Young Nicola Zussman Dawn Young veronica zuurmond Donna Young Dianne Zwanepol **Grace Young Gerard Zwartjes**

Cecilia Zwick Nash

まきよ さかき 松島 洋子

Final Version: 8/16/21 Page 91